The Role of Ventral Tegmental Area Estrogen Receptors in Neuronal Responses to

Dopamine and Ethanol

BY

BERTHA VANDEGRIFT

B.S., Illinois Institute of Technology, 2011

THESIS

Submitted as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Physiology & Biophysics in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Chicago, 2019

Chicago, IL

Defense Committee: Mark Brodie, Advisor Amy Lasek, Advisor, Psychiatry Sergey Popov, Chair Carlos Stocco Amynah Pradhan, Psychiatry

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supportive advisors, Amy Lasek and Mark Brodie. I feel incredibly lucky and privileged to have two amazing mentors. They are very exceptional scientists, and I have learned (and am still learning) so much from them. They have both always been there to help with every step of the way. Not only have they taught me the techniques and practices of being a scientist, but they have been great examples of how to collaborate. The conversations during our meetings are always so inspiring and fun. They both have been so accommodating with my work-life balance and starting a family. Mark, thank you for spending so much time in the lab to teach me electrophysiology. I don't think I could have learned such a challenging technique from anyone else. Amy, thank you for your patience and help as I learned (and at first struggled with) the surgical and molecular techniques. It is also such an honor to be working with two scientists that are so well known and cherished by the scientific community. Finally, I want to thank both of them for supporting me and giving me amazing advice.

I would also like to thank my committee members who are all exceptional role models. Their support and input throughout my dissertation work has been so helpful. Sergey Popov has been an outstanding chair, and I am so thankful that he agreed to this role even with his schedule. It is wonderful to have his support, and I'm thankful for him checking in on me to make sure I was doing okay. Chacho? Thank you to Carlos Stocco for always having your door open for me to pop in for random questions and help. Thank you for welcoming my son into your office and helping me when I brought my baby in to visit. He also was very instrumental in helping me at the beginning to understanding the female reproductive system for my project. Finally, I would like to thank Amynah Pradhan. She has been an inspirational role model. I am so happy that I was able to continue working with her after my rotation in her laboratory, and I'm very thankful that I had the opportunity to participate in her very exciting work during my rotation with her. I would also like to thank all of them for being a great source of ideas and input during the development of my dissertation.

I would also like to thank Chang You for all of her help in the lab and for all of the advice and guidance on how to be a working mom. I am so happy that we became friends, and I'm so proud of your success and how wonderful your kids are. I know you are going to accomplish great things in your life, and I cherish our friendship. I would also like to thank everyone in Amy's lab (past and present): Elisa, Rosalba, Rex, Briana, Hu, Donna, Cassandre, Kana, Jeremy, Antonia

Thank you to Candice Choo Kang. You have been the best friend a girl could ever dream of. You are so supportive and proud I wouldn't be surprised if you read this entire thing.

Lastly, thank you to my family. My parents for supporting me from childhood when I first decided to become a scientist. Thank you to my three sisters (Eva, Elena, and Natalia) for all their generosity and support. And thank you to the most amazing, supportive, and hard-working husband who constantly tells me I can do anything I want. Thank you for giving me everything that I have ever wanted! And thank you to little Wyatt for coming into my life and being a constant source of hugs and kisses. I love you. <3

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Portions of the published work "Estradiol increases the sensitivity of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons to dopamine and ethanol" (Plos One, 2017) have been included in this dissertation. The experiments/figures that I have included in this dissertation are (1) the representative images of vaginal smears from mice in estrus and diestrus, (2) the increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to inhibition by DA during diestrus, (3) the enhanced inhibition by quinpirole in VTA DA neurons in diestrus mice, (4) the increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol excitation during diestrus, (5) the E2 enhances DA inhibition and ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons, (6) the GABA antagonists do not alter the ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of DAneurons in OVX mice treated with E2, and (7) the ERs in the VTA acutely regulate the sensitivity of DA neurons to ethanol but not DA. I conducted the experiments and data analysis from (1), (3), (5), (6), and (7) in their entirety, under the guidance of my advisors, Mark Brodie and Amy Lasek, the senior authors of the paper. Dr. Chang You contributed to half of the data collection from (2) and (4). The other contributing author, Dr. Rosalba Satta, trained me and assisted in the initial ovariectomy surgeries and vaginal smears. Dr. Satta also performed an experiment that was published in the original manuscript that I did not include in this thesis (Supplemental Figure 1 of the *Plos One* paper).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>CF</u> 1	HAPTER INTRODUCTION	PAGE
1.	1.1 Addiction	1 1
	1.1.1 Sex differences in addiction	1
	1.2 Ventral tegmental area	5
	1.2.1 Sex differences of the ventral tegmental area	
	1.3 Donaminergic neurotransmission	11
	1.3.1 Sex differences in donaminergic neurotransmission	11 14
	1.4 Female reproductive cycle	14
	1.4.1 Menstrual and estrous cycles	14
	1.4.2. The influence of ovarian hormones on drug abuse	16
	1.5 Mechanisms of estrogen action	18
	1.6 Effects of estroyen on ventral tegmental area and donamine	22
	1.7 Summary and project overview	24
2.	ESTRADIOL INCREASES THE SENSITIVITY OF VENTRAL TEGME	NTAL
_•	AREA DOPAMINERGIC NEURONS TO DOPAMINE AND ETHANOL	
	2.1. Introduction	
	2.2. Methods	
	2.2.1. Animals	
	2.2.2. Vaginal cytology	29
	2.2.3. Ovariectomy and estradiol treatments	
	2.2.4 Preparation of brain slices	30
	2.2.5. Cell identification for electrophysiology.	
	2.2.6 Drug administration	32
	2.2.0. Extracellular recording	32
	2.2.8 Statistical Analysis	32
	2.2.6. Substear mary sistering and set of the set of th	35
	2.3.1 VTA neuron characteristics	35
	2.3.2 Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to inhibition by DA in die	estrus 35
	2.3.2. Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol excitation in di	estrus 38
	2.3.4 Estradiol enhances responses of VTA DA neurons to DA and ethan	$a_1 \qquad 40$
	2.3.4. Estradior emances responses of VTA DA neurons to DA and eman 2.3.5. Estragen recentors in the VTA acutely regulate the sensitivity of DA	A
	2.5.5. Estrogen receptors in the $\sqrt{174}$ activity regulate the sensitivity of D^{T}	11
	2.4 Discussion	
	2.5. Acknowledgements	52
3.	ESTRADIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPAMIN NEURON SENSITIVITY TO ETHANOL THROUGH AN ERα AND MG DEPENDENT MECHANISM	ERGIC LUR1-

3.2. Meth 3.2.1	anda	55
3.2.1	10us	
	Animals	55
3.2.2.	Vaginal Cytology	55
3.2.3	Ovariectomy and drug treatments	56
3.2.4	Extracellular recording and drug administration	56
3.2.5	Statistical analysis	57
3.3. Resu	ılts	57
3.3.1	VTA neuron characteristics	57
3.3.2	Activation of estrogen receptor α enhances sensitivity of VTA DA neur	ons to
	ethanol in ovariectomized mice	58
3.3.3	Estrogen receptor α in the VTA acutely regulates ethanol sensitivity in	
	freely cycling female mice	58
3.3.4	Metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 is required for the estradiol-induced	
	enhancement of ethanol excitation	63
3.4. Disc 4. ESTRAI NEURO AND ER	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF 18	67 GIC Rα 71
3.4. Disc4. ESTRAI NEURO	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF	67 GIC Rα
 3.4. Disc 4. ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β	GIC Rα 71
 3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2 Meth 	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β duction	GIC Rα 71 71 73
 3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β duction duction	GIC Rα 71 71 73 73
 3.4. Disc 3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2 	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β duction ods Animals Ovariectomy and <i>in vivo</i> drug treatments	GIC Rα 71 71 73 73 73
3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β	GIC Rα 71 71 73 73 73 73 73
3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β duction	GIC Rα 71 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73
3.4. Disc I. ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.3 Resu	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β duction	GIC Rα 71 71 73 73 73 73 74 74
3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.3. Resu 4.3.1	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β	GIC Rα 71 73 73 73 73 74 74 74 74 74
3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.3. Resu 4.3.1. 4.3.2	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β	GIC Rα 71 73 73 73 73 73 74 74 74 74 74 74
3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.3. Resu 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.3.3	 ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EF β duction nods Animals Ovariectomy and <i>in vivo</i> drug treatments Brain slice preparation and extracellular recording Statistical analysis ilts VTA neuron characteristics DPN and PPT alone do not affect DA inhibition of VTA DA neurons Combined treatment with DPN and PPT enhance DA inhibition of VTA 	GIC Rα 71 71 73 73 73 73 74 74 74 74 74 DA
 3.4. Disc ESTRAI NEURO AND ER 4.1. Intro 4.2. Meth 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.3. Resu 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.3.3. 	ussion DIOL ENHANCES VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPMAINER N SENSTIVITY TO DOPAMINE THROUGH ACTIVATION OF EI β duction	GIC Rα 71 73 73 73 73 73 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 74 75

	5.2.4.	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)	84
	5.2.5.	Statistical analysis	85
	5.3. Resul	ts	85
	5.3.1.	VTA neuron characteristics	85
	5.3.2.	Ovariectomy disrupts dopamine inhibition reversal and supplementation	
		with estradiol restores dopamine inhibition reversal	85
	5.3.3.	Increased expression of <i>Alk</i> in the VTA of ovariectomized mice treated	
		with estradiol compared to vehicle	88
	5.4. Discu	ssion	90
6.	CONCLU	JSIONS	93
	6.1. Introd	luction	93
	6.2. Estrad	liol increases the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol and DA	94
	6.3. Estrad	liol enhances ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons through activation of	
	estrog	zen receptor α and metabotropic glutamate receptor 1	98
	6.4. Estra	liol increases the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to DA through co-activat	ion
	of est	rogen receptor α and estrogen receptor β	101
	6.5. Estrad	liol promotes the desensitization of DA D2 receptor in VTA DA	
	neuro	ns	102
	6.6. No ho	ormone-dependent changes in basal firing rates of VTA DAergic	
	neuro	ns	104
	6.7. Sumn	nary	105
	6.8. Futur	e directions	107
	6.9. Overa	Ill conclusions	109
RI	EFERENC	ES	110
AI	PPENDICE	ES	132
VI	ТА		135

LIST OF TABLES

T	ABLE	PAGE		
1.	List of estrogen receptor modulators	21		

LIST OF FIGURES

		10
1.	Regulation of VIA DA neuron firing	10
2.	Representative images of vaginal smears from mice in estrus and diestrus	34
3.	Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to inhibition by DA during diestrus	37
4.	Enhanced inhibition by quinpirole in VTA DA neurons in diestrus mice	37
5.	Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol excitation during diestrus	39
6.	E2 enhances DA inhibition and ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons	39
7.	Ethanol excitation in VTA DA neurons in proestrus is similar to neurons in	
	diestrus	42
8.	GABA antagonists do not alter the ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of DA	
	neurons in OVX mice treated with E2	43
9.	ERs in the VTA acutely regulate the sensitivity of DA neurons to ethanol but	
	not DA	46
10	The ERg-specific agonist PPT enhances ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons	
11	$ER\alpha$ antagonist in the VTA acutely reduces the sensitivity of DA neurons to	
	ethanol from mice in diestrus	62
12	An mGluR1 antagonist blocks enhancement of ethanol excitation of VTA	
12.	DA neurons from mice in diestrus	65
12	An mCluP1 antegonist blocks onbencoment of athenol excitation of VTA	05
15.	DA neurong in E2 treated OVY mice	66
14	DDN and DDT along do not affect DA inhibition of VTA DA neurons from	00
14.	OVV wise	77
1.5		//
15.	. Combined treatment with DPN and PPT enhance DA inhibition of VTA DA	-
	neurons from OVX mice	78
16.	. OVX prevents DIR and supplementation with E2 restores DIR	87
17.	. Increased expression of <i>Alk</i> in the VTA in OVX mice treated	
	with E2 compared to VEH	89
18.	. Summary of findings on E2 regulation of VTA DA neurons in female mice	.106

FIGURE

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALK	Anaplastic lymphoma kinase
AMPA	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
BEC	Blood ethanol concentration
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CLi	Caudal linear
COMT	Catechol-O-methyl transferase
СРР	Conditioned place preference
CREB	cAMP response element binding protein
D1R	Dopamine D1 receptor
D2L	Dopamine D2 receptor long isoform
D2R	Dopamine D2 receptor
D2S	Dopamine D2 receptor short isoform
D3R	Dopamine D3 receptor
DA	Dopamine
DAergic	Dopaminergic
DAT	Dopamine transporter
DBD	DNA-binding domain
DIR	Dopamine inhibition reversal
E2	17β-estradiol
ER	Estrogen receptor
ERα	Estrogen receptor alpha
ERβ	Estrogen receptor beta

ERE	Estrogen response elements
FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
GIRK	G protein-regulated inwardly rectifying potassium
GnRH	Gonadotropin releasing hormone
GPER	G-protein coupled estrogen receptor
HCN	Hyperpolarization-activated cyclic nucleotide-gated
HVA	Homovanillic acid
I _h	Hyperpolarization-activated inward current
IF	Interfasicular
IP3	1,4,5-triphosphate
L-DOPA	L-dihydroxyphenylalanine
LH	Lutenizing hormone
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptor
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NTD	N-terminal domain
OVX	Ovariectomy
PBP	Parabrachial pigmented area
PIP2	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
PN	Paranigral nucleus

RLi	Rostral linear nucleus of raphe
RMTG	Rostromedial tegmental nucleus
TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
THIK	Tandem-pore halothane-inhibited potassium
VTA	Ventral tegmental area

SUMMARY

There are considerable gender differences throughout all of the stages of drug addiction, including differences in amount of drug use, age of initiation, reasons for abuse, development of dependence, severity of health problems, and comorbidities (Becker 2016; Becker and Chartoff 2019; Becker and Hu 2008). Women escalate from initial alcohol use to addiction more rapidly compared to men (Moran-Santa Maria, Flanagan, and Brady 2014; Bobzean, DeNobrega, and Perrotti 2014) and sex differences in the midbrain dopaminergic (DAergic) system may partially drive women's vulnerability to drug abuse and relapse. Understanding the biological causes of these gender differences has been limited as the majority of research on drug abuse and the ventral tegmental area (VTA), a brain region responsible for the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse (Koob and Volkow 2010), has been performed with male subjects.

Sex differences in ethanol reward and consumption has been well established in rodents. Female mice drink more than males (Becker and Koob 2016; Hwa et al. 2011; Jury et al. 2017; Middaugh et al. 1999; Priddy et al. 2017; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018) and are more sensitive to the rewarding effects of ethanol (Torres et al. 2014). Many studies in rodents have demonstrated enhancing effects of 17β -estradiol (E2), the main form of estrogen in adult premenopausal females, on drinking behaviors (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2004; Rajasingh et al. 2007; Reid, Hubbell, and Reid 2003; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002a; Marinelli, Quirion, and Gianoulakis 2003; Quirarte et al. 2007; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018), which may partially mediate sex differences in drinking behaviors.

E2 has profound effects on midbrain dopamine (DA) systems including the VTA. E2 actions on DAergic pathways regulates reproductive behavior (Foreman and Hall 1987; Balthazart, Baillien, and Ball 2002) and drug abuse (Carroll et al. 2004). E2 effects on drinking behaviors

xii

may be partially due to E2 acting on VTA DAergic neurons because of the critical role of the VTA in behavioral responses to ethanol. The mechanisms of action of E2 on VTA neurons with regard to ethanol were not known prior to the studies conducted in this dissertation project. Therefore, the purpose of this dissertation was to examine the role of E2 in modulating VTA physiology in female mice. I determined the effects of E2 on the inhibition by DA and excitation by ethanol on the VTA DAergic neurons in female mice. I began the work of elucidating the mechanisms through which E2 acts in the VTA by determining which estrogen receptors (ERs) and their related actions are responsible for E2 effects on responses to DA and ethanol.

My primary hypothesis is that E2 regulates excitation by ethanol and inhibition by DA of VTA DA neurons in female mice through activation of ERs. The aims of this dissertation are therefore to (1) characterize the effects of high E2 states in the responses of VTA DA neurons to ethanol and DA, (2) determine which ERs mediate E2 effects on the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol and DA, (3) investigate possible downstream pathways which may mediate E2 effects on the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol and DA, (d) determine the effects of E2 on the desensitization of dopamine D2 receptor (D2R) in the VTA of female mice.

I have found that ethanol excitation and DA inhibition of VTA DAergic neurons is enhanced in high E2 states. E2-mediated enhancement of ethanol excitation is through activation of ER α and metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 (mGluR1), and this may be through rapid signaling mechanisms. E2-mediated enhancement of DA inhibition, on the other hand, is through activation of both ER α and ER β and does not appear to be acutely regulated in VTA neurons. E2 also enhances the desensitization of D2R in the VTA.

This body of work is the first to comprehensively explore the role of ERs in regulating the physiology of VTA DAergic neurons, particularly how ERs regulate the sensitivity of VTA

xiii

DAergic neurons to DA and ethanol. These changes in VTA functioning may have significant behavioral effects to drive binge drinking and ethanol reward in female and have implications for biased incidence of DA-dependent psychiatric diseases.

1. INTRODUCITON

1.1 Addiction

According to the 2018 World Drug Report, approximately 31 million people suffer from substance abuse or dependence (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime.). As a result, this places enormous economic and sociological consequences on the health systems and communities burdened by drug abuse. In 2010, alcohol abuse cost the United States \$223.5 billion (Sacks et al. 2015). Drug addiction is a disorder in which there is a persistent urge to acquire and use a drug to an uncontrollable degree such that one experiences anxious, irritable, and uneasy emotional affects in the absence of the drug (Koob and Le Moal 1997). Addiction can be conceptualized as a cycle with three stages which interact with each other as a patient spirals from drug use to addiction: "binge/intoxication", "withdrawal/negative affect", and "preoccupation/anticipation" (Koob and Volkow 2010). Positive reinforcement, which is the process of a positive stimulus or state increasing behavior resulting in drug seeking and drug taking, is associated with the "binge/intoxication" phase while negative reinforcement, which is the process of removing the aversive withdrawal state to reinforce drug taking, plays a role in the "withdrawal/negative affect" phase (Edwards 2016). The conditioning of both positive and negative reinforcement contributes to the preoccupation/anticipation phase, which is characterized by craving and seeking the drug. This leads to the next binge/intoxication stage as a patient spirals to the pathophysiological state of addiction (Wise and Koob 2014).

Each stage of the addiction cycle is associated with distinct adaptations in neurocircuitry. Corticotropin-releasing factor, norepinephrine, and dynorphin signaling in the extended amygdala are thought to play a central role during the "withdrawal/negative affect" stage and glutamatergic signaling in brain regions such as the prefrontal cortex and the basolateral

amygdala is thought to play a central role in the "preoccupation/anticipation" stage of addiction (Koob 2008; Koob and Kreek 2007; Koob and Volkow 2010). DAergic systems in the brain are critically involved in the reinforcement of drugs of abuse during the "binge/intoxication stage" (Koob and Volkow 2010).

The mesocorticolimbic DAergic system, in particular, plays a central role in the rewarding and aversive properties of drugs (Wise 1987; Volman et al. 2013). This system includes VTA DAergic neurons and their projections to other brain areas such as the nucleus accumbens, amygdala, and prefrontal cortex (Oades and Halliday 1987; Koob 2003; Swanson 1982). These projection sites are respectively involved in the reward/reinforcement, emotional response, and craving/drug-seeking of drug addiction (Koob 2003). The physiological function of the VTA is to assess the salience of incoming stimuli for the organism. VTA DAergic neurons are activated and release DA to their projection sites in response to stimuli that are rewarding or novel (Berridge 2007; Koob and Volkow 2010). The hijacking of this system during drug addiction is thought to be responsible for the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse (Koob and Volkow 2010; Jones and Bonci 2005). DAergic neurotransmission is also modulated during withdrawal from drugs such as ethanol and nicotine with a decrease in activity of VTA DAergic neurons, as demonstrated by a decrease in the number of spontaneously active neurons or basal firing rate (Liu and Jin 2004; Shen 2003; Diana et al. 1992), and an associated reduction in DA release during ethanol withdrawal which may also contribute to the negative affective state and the craving and relapse that may occur during abstinence (Hunt and Majchrowicz 1974; Darden and Hunt 1977; Diana et al. 1993; Weiss et al. 1996).

1.1.1 Sex differences in addiction

There are considerable gender differences in addiction throughout all the stages of drug addiction, including differences in amount of drug use, age of initiation, reasons for abuse, development of dependence, severity of health problems, and comorbidities (Becker 2016; Becker and Chartoff 2019; Becker and Hu 2008). 'Telescoping', which is a term for the escalation from initial drug use to addiction, is much more rapid in women compared to men (Moran-Santa Maria, Flanagan, and Brady 2014; Bobzean, DeNobrega, and Perrotti 2014). The severity of negative withdrawal symptoms differs between the sexes depending on the drug of abuse. Women report more severe withdrawal symptoms during the abstinence of cocaine, amphetamine, and nicotine use (Kosten et al. 1993; Hudson and Stamp 2011; Hogle and Curtin 2006). However, men report more severe withdrawal symptoms from alcohol (Devaud, Alele, and Ritu 2003).

Although more men drink alcohol than women, recent investigations have concluded that the difference in the incidence of alcohol abuse is narrowing between genders in the United States (White et al. 2015; Grant et al. 2017; Cheng, Cantave, and Anthony 2016). Even though women have in the past drank less alcohol for shorter periods of time, women are more susceptible to devastating health effects associated with alcohol abuse such as liver damage, cardiovascular disease, and cancer (Eagon 2010; Szabo 2018; Agabio et al. 2017; Rehm et al. 2010; Agabio et al. 2016). Women who binge-drink, which is defined as consuming enough alcohol to reach a blood ethanol concentration (BEC) of at least 80 mg/dL (NIAAA Council, 2014), reported having more days described as physically and mentally poor (Wen et al. 2012). Similar to other drugs of abuse such as cocaine, women also exhibit a greater escalation of alcohol use than men and are more likely to relapse in response to stress and anxiety (Becker and

Koob 2016). Understanding of these gender differences has been limited due to the majority of research having been performed on males.

There are species-specific sex differences in alcohol consumption. In nonhuman primates, males drink more than females (Vivian et al. 2001). Sex differences in ethanol consumption have also been well established in rodents. In general, female rodents drink more than males and reach higher BECs compared to males across various drinking paradigms (Becker and Koob 2016; Hwa et al. 2011; Jury et al. 2017; Middaugh et al. 1999; Priddy et al. 2017; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). However, the increase in drinking observed in female rodents only occurs in adults, and male rats drink more during a brief early postpubertal period suggesting that gonadal hormones may drive sex differences in drinking (Lancaster et al. 1996). Female mice drink more than males during the drinking in the dark (DID) test, which is a model for binge-like drinking in which mice are given limited access to ethanol for 2 to 4 hours during their dark cycle; in this model, females achieved higher BECs than males (Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018).

Female rodents are also more sensitive to the rewarding effects of ethanol as measured by the conditioned place preference (CPP) test (Torres et al. 2014). CPP is a model for the rewarding effects of drugs such as ethanol (Prus, James, and Rosecrans 2009). During the CPP protocol, animals are injected with a drug in a specific context, while a neutral substance (such as saline) is injected in a different context, during the conditioning phase. After conditioning, the animal is allowed to move freely between the two distinct contexts in the absence of the drug. Preference for the drug is measured by the time the animal spends in the environment associated with the drug (Huston et al. 2013). Female rats exhibit CPP at doses of ethanol that do not produce CPP in males (Torres et al. 2014), however another group found no sex differences in

ethanol CPP in mice (Cunningham and Shields 2018). Because the VTA plays a critical role in the acquisition of ethanol CPP (Bechtholt and Cunningham 2005), sex differences in VTA physiology may be driving the sex differences in ethanol reward and consumption.

1.2 Ventral tegmental area

The VTA plays an important role in the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse and natural rewards such as food (Ranaldi 2014; Lammel, Lim, and Malenka 2014). The VTA can be subdivided into subregions or nuclei, including paranigral nucleus (PN), parabrachial pigmented area (PBP), caudal linear (CLi), interfasicular (IF) nuclei, and the rostral linear nucleus of raphe (RLi); however, the classification and delineation of VTA subregions varies between different studies (Swanson 1982; Oades and Halliday 1987; McRitchie, Hardman, and Halliday 1996; Ikemoto 2007). These VTA subregions differ in their cellular composition and projections (Ikemoto 2007). The VTA is a heterogeneous structure composed of DAergic, gamma-aminobutyric acid-producing (GABAergic), and glutamatergic neurons. The most abundant type of neuronal cell in the VTA is the DAergic neuron that project to many other brain regions. The regulation of VTA DA neuron firing is summarized in Figure 1. The regulation of DAergic neuronal activity in the VTA is regulated, in part, by inhibitory GABAergic interneurons in the VTA. In addition to the projecting DAergic neurons, the VTA has projecting GABAergic (Van Bockstaele and Pickel 1995), glutamatergic (Yamaguchi, Sheen, and Morales 2007; Yamaguchi et al. 2011; Kawano et al. 2006), and combination neurons that co-release multiple neurotransmitters (Zhang et al. 2015; Root et al. 2014; Berrios et al. 2016). The PN and PBP are highly rich in DA neurons, as measured by tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) expression (Ikemoto 2007).

VTA DAergic neurons can be identified based on anatomical location, molecular, and electrophysiological properties that distinguish them from the other neuronal cell types residing in the VTA. However, because of the heterogeneity in the expression of these characteristics throughout the DAergic neuronal populations in the VTA, using a limited set of criteria to identify neuronal populations may result in the mislabeling of neurons. The biphasic action potentials of VTA neurons are broad with a duration of >2.2 ms (Grace and Bunney 1983). VTA DAergic neurons are also characterized by a hyperpolarization-activated inward current (I_h), however some neurons that have I_h are non-DAergic (Zhang, Placzek, and Dani 2010). Administering DA D2 receptor (D2R) agonists inhibits the firing of VTA DAergic neurons (Chiodo et al. 1984; Lammel et al. 2008), however, some non-DAergic neurons in the VTA are also inhibited by D2R agonists (Margolis et al. 2006). A distinguishing feature of VTA DAergic neurons is inhibition by baclofen, a GABA-B receptor agonist. Baclofen inhibits VTA DAergic neurons but not GABA neurons in the VTA (Margolis et al. 2012).

VTA DAergic neurons have spontaneously occurring action potentials with slow firing rates of < 10 Hz as well as burst firing which are bursts of a series of spikes (2-10) that have decreasing amplitudes and increasing durations. Burst firing is associated with increases in the basal firing rate of DA neurons (Grace and Bunney 1984, 1980). In contrast to the tonic and burst firing patterns of DAergic neurons *in vivo*, DAergic neurons *in vitro* have 'pacemaker'-like firing, (Grace and Bunney 1984; Hyland et al. 2002; Overton and Clark 1997). *In vitro* measurements of VTA DAergic neurons from brain slice preparations may lack burst firing because of severing the glutamatergic afferents from the laterodorsal tegmentum which may be responsible for burst firing during slice preparation (Lodge and Grace 2006). Appetitive and rewarding stimuli will switch the tonic firing of DAergic neurons to transient bursts in certain

neuronal populations of the VTA (Grenhoff, Aston-Jones, and Svensson 1986; Schultz, Apicella, and Ljungberg 1993; Romo and Schultz 1990). Burst firing induces a large release of DA in target regions (Gonon 1988; Chergui, Suaud-Chagny, and Gonon 1994), and this is thought to mediate the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse (Schultz 2002; Phillips et al. 2003).

Acute treatment with ethanol in rodent brains dose-dependently enhances the basal firing rate of VTA DAergic neurons both *in vitro* (Brodie, Shefner, and Dunwiddie 1990) and *in vivo* (Gessa et al. 1985). However, while ethanol increases the basal firing of VTA DAergic neurons in the posterior VTA, DAergic neurons in the anterior VTA are inhibited (Guan et al. 2012). Female rats will self-administer ethanol directly into the posterior VTA, but not the anterior VTA (Rodd-Henricks et al. 2000). These studies indicate that the VTA is functionally heterogeneous, and the posterior VTA may primarily be driving the reinforcing and rewarding effects of alcohol.

The exact mechanism by which ethanol excites VTA DAergic neurons is unclear; however, ethanol may be directly altering a variety of ionic currents or synaptic activity. Ethanol can still excite dissociated VTA neurons isolated from synaptic inputs (Brodie, Pesold, and Appel 1999), indicating that ethanol directly acts on VTA DAergic neurons. A very promising potential target for the actions of ethanol on VTA DAergic neurons are the tandem-pore halothane-inhibited potassium (THIK) channels (You et al. 2019). A reduction of the m-current (I_M) (Koyama, Brodie, and Appel 2007) and an increase in I_h (Brodie and Appel 1998; Okamoto, Harnett, and Morikawa 2006) may also contribute to ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons. Ethanol may also act on G protein-regulated inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels (Herman et al. 2015). GIRK mediates the inhibition by D2R and GABA-B receptors (Labouebe

et al. 2007; Lacey, Mercuri, and North 1987). Ethanol can bind to and directly activate GIRK channels, which would lead to an inhibitory effect on neurons (Lewohl et al. 1999; Kobayashi et al. 1999; Aryal et al. 2009). The balance between excitatory and inhibitory effects of ethanol may play an important role in regulating the aversive and rewarding effects of ethanol and the adaptations that occur as acute ethanol exposure transitions to chronic exposure (Pignatelli and Bonci 2015).

Ethanol can also modulate the synaptic input onto the VTA DAergic neurons. The VTA receives glutamatergic inputs from various brain regions including the prelimbic cortex, lateral hypothalamus, periaqueductal and central gray, and the dorsal raphe (Geisler, Derst, Veh, Zahm, 2007). Ethanol can increase the glutamatergic excitatory transmission onto VTA DAergic neurons by indirectly activating presynaptic dopamine D1 receptors (D1R) (Xiao et al. 2009). While ethanol generally increases the firing of VTA DAergic neurons, the activity of GABAergic neurons is inhibited (Xiao et al. 2007; Gallegos et al. 1999; Stobbs et al. 2004). Ethanol can decrease the release of GABA from neurons in the VTA or GABAergic inputs from the rostromedial tegmental nucleus (RMTG) and nucleus accumbens, and this may then disinhibit VTA DAergic neurons (Gallegos et al. 1999). Interestingly, GABAergic input on DAergic neurons is differentially regulated in the anterior and posterior VTA. Ethanol inhibits GABA release in the posterior VTA and increases GABA release in the anterior VTA. This is consistent with the opposite effects of ethanol on DAergic neurons in the posterior and anterior VTA (Guan et al. 2012). In addition to GABA and glutamate, many neurotransmitters such as glycine (Ye et al. 2001; Jiang and Ye 2003; Tao and Ye 2002), serotonin (Brodie, Trifunovic, and Shefner 1995; Trifunovic and Brodie 1996; Theile et al. 2009), acetylcholine (Blomqvist et al. 1993; Tizabi et al. 2002), opioids (Margolis, Fields, et al. 2008), and cannabinoids (Perra et

al. 2005) have been suggested to be involved in the actions of ethanol in the VTA. However, note that ethanol still activates dissociated VTA DAergic neurons (Brodie, Pesold, and Appel 1999), and the effects of ethanol on VTA DAergic neurons are not blocked in the presence of combinations of antagonists for a variety of receptors including GABA, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), metabotropic glutamate, and cholinergic receptors in males (Nimitvilai et al. 2016). These observations indicate that while synaptic inputs may play a role in modulating the effects of ethanol on the VTA DAergic neurons, these are not the primary targets of ethanol action in the VTA.

VTA DAergic neurons have dopamine autoreceptors (D2R) on their soma and dendrites that mediate inhibitory regulation of their excitability (Adell 2004; Aghajanian 1977). In addition to releasing DA onto their projection sites, DAergic neurons are also locally regulated by DA (Kita et al. 2009). This D2R-mediated autoregulation has an inhibitory effect on the activity of VTA DAergic neurons (Ackerman et al. 1993; Brodie and Dunwiddie 1990), and may decrease the release and synthesis of DA (Benoit-Marand, Borrelli, and Gonon 2001; Wolf and Roth 1990; Phillips, Hancock, and Stamford 2002).



Figure 1: Regulation of VTA neuron firing.

VTA DAergic neuron firing is regulated by many neurotransmitters and drugs, including ethanol, DA, glutamate, and GABA. Ethanol excites (lightning bolt) VTA DAergic neurons, which leads to the release of DA in target regions and is thought to mediate the rewarding effects of ethanol. DA is also locally released and inhibits the firing of DAergic neurons through the autoinhibitory D2R. It has been well established in male rodents that prolonged exposures to DA which may occur during drug abuse causes D2R desensitization. Glutamate and GABA increase and reduce VTA DA neuron firing, respectively.

1.2.1 Sex differences in the ventral tegmental area

Sex differences in reward-seeking behaviors may partially be due to sex differences in the structure and cellular composition of the VTA and projecting neurons. In females, the VTA is a larger volume and contains a larger number of DAergic neurons (McArthur, McHale, and Gillies 2007). In addition to sex differences in the overall shape of the VTA, the distribution of neurons throughout the VTA are sex specific. In females, DAergic neurons are more concentrated in specific regions of the VTA whereas in males there is a comparatively more even distribution of DAergic neurons throughout the VTA (McArthur, McHale, and Gillies 2007). The ratio of DAergic neurons to non-DAergic neurons projecting to the prefrontal cortex is higher in females than in males (Kritzer and Creutz 2008).

1.3 Dopaminergic neurotransmission

DA synthesis, which occurs in several brain regions including the VTA and the substantia nigra, depends on the rate-limiting enzyme TH to convert tyrosine to L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA) which is then converted to DA by the DOPA decarboxylase enzyme (Blaschko 1942; Meiser, Weindl, and Hiller 2013). DA is also a precursor for norepinephrine and epinephrine (Goldstein, Fuxe, and Hokfelt 1972; Blaschko 1942). DA is stored in synaptic vesicles and released upon excitation of DAergic neurons through exocytosis, and DA can subsequently act on postsynaptic or presynaptic DA receptors (Zhang and Sulzer 2012; Werkman et al. 2006).

Termination of the DA signal initiated by DA release can be achieved by reuptake of DA into the neurons by the dopamine transporter (DAT). Cocaine and amphetamine block reuptake of DA by DAT and increases synaptic DA concentrations (Kuhar, Ritz, and Boja 1991). DA is degraded to 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) through the enzyme monoamine oxidase (MOA) and eventually from DOPAC to homovanillic acid (HVA) through the enzyme catechol-

O-methyl transferase (COMT) (Meiser, Weindl, and Hiller 2013). Alternatively, DA can be recycled for reuse into vesicles through vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2) (Hoffman, Hansson, Mezey, Palkotis, 1998).

DA receptors are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) and are divided into five subtypes which are further classified according to biochemical and pharmacological properties into D₁like (D1 and D5) and D₂-like (D2, D3, and D4) receptors (Missale et al. 1998). D₁-like DA receptors activate adenylyl cyclase and couple to the G protein G₈. D₂-like DA receptors, on the other hand, are coupled to G₁, inhibit adenylyl cyclase, and through an action of the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit of the G protein can also activate K⁺ channels (Beaulieu and Gainetdinov 2011). Both D₁- and D₂-like DA receptors in the VTA play a role in drug seeking and relapse. Injecting antagonists for D₁- and D₂-like DA receptors systemically and directly into the VTA decreases relapse to morphine and heroin in rats (Farahimanesh et al. 2018; Shaham and Stewart 1996).

VTA DAergic neurons express two isoforms of D2R which result from alternative splicing of the sixth exon of the same gene. The long isoform (D2L) is 29 amino acids longer than the short isoform (D2S) (Dal Toso et al. 1989; Giros et al. 1989). This results in differences in an intracellular region which functions in the regulation of G_i coupling (Senogles 1994; Guiramand et al. 1995). The ratio of D2S to D2L varies by brain region (Mack, Todd, and O'Malley 1991; Neve et al. 1991; Montmayeur et al. 1991), and changes in the D2S/D2L ratio are associated with alterations in drug-related behaviors in mice (Radl et al. 2018; Bulwa et al. 2011). For example, knockdown of D2L increases ethanol intake in both sexes, which is thought to be due to a compensatory increase in the D2S isoform (Bulwa et al. 2011).

During drug addiction D2R levels and activity are decreased (Volkow et al. 1990; Martinez et al. 2004; Volkow et al. 1997; Hietala et al. 1994). Trafficking, endocytosis, and

desensitization play important roles in the regulation of D2R. G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs) and protein kinase C (PKC) phosphorylate D2R, and D2R is internalized in a clathrinmediated mechanism through β -arrestin and dynamin (Namkung and Sibley 2004; Namkung et al. 2009; Paspalas, Rakic, and Goldman-Rakic 2006). A prolonged activation of the D2-like receptors by DA results in the decreased responsiveness to DA inhibition in a time- and concentration-dependent manner through a mechanism involving PLC and PKC (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012) This process is termed DA inhibition reversal (DIR) (Nimitvilai and Brodie 2010). Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK), a receptor tyrosine kinase, regulates DIR in VTA DAergic neurons. Inhibiting ALK reduces DIR without affecting acute responses to DA (Dutton et al. 2017).

DAergic neurotransmission plays an important role in alcohol drinking. Blocking D2R in the nucleus accumbens either reduces (Myers and Robinson 1999; Rassnick, Pulvirenti, and Koob 1992; Samson et al. 1993) or increases (Levy et al. 1991) ethanol intake. These discrepancies may be due to strain, drinking protocol, or treatment differences. Injecting a D2R antagonist in the nucleus accumbens of female alcohol preferring (P) rats with access to ethanol for 60 minutes a day increased drinking (Levy et al. 1991). Additionally, inhibition of VTA DA neurons by injecting the D2R agonist quinpirole into the VTA decreases ethanol consumption (Hodge et al. 1993). Infusion of baclofen, which inhibits VTA DA neurons, decreases ethanol CPP in mice (Bechtholt and Cunningham 2005). Rodents will also self-administer ethanol into the VTA, and this is blocked by D2R agonists (Gatto et al. 1994; Rodd et al. 2005; Rodd et al. 2004).

1.3.1 Sex differences in dopaminergic neurotransmission

Previous studies have demonstrated sex differences in DAergic systems which may drive sex differences in drug abuse (Becker 1999). Clinical studies have identified sex differences in DAergic systems of the brain. In the putamen, women have higher DOPAC/DA ratios compared to males, which suggests women have higher turnover rates for DA (Konradi et al. 1992). Striatal DA synthesis is higher in females compared to men (Laakso et al. 2002). Women also have higher levels of cortical D2R (Kaasinen et al. 2001) and DAT in the striatum, diencephalon, and brainstem compared to men (Staley et al. 2001; Lavalaye et al. 2000). Additionally, women exhibit increased cortical and striatal amphetamine-induced DA release (Riccardi et al. 2006).

There are sex differences in D2R ligand binding, with decreased D2R binding in the rostral lateral striatum in castrated males compared to OVX females, and there is differential regulation of D2R binding in a brain region-, sex-, and time-specific manner after E2 treatment in rats (Bazzett and Becker 1994). E2 increases D2R in the striatum and nucleus accumbens of female rats through activation of ER β (Le Saux, Morissette, and Di Paolo 2006). These studies show that E2 can modulate the density and ligand binding of D2R in a sex specific manner.

1.4 Female reproductive cycle

1.4.1 Menstrual and estrous cycles

In a mature female adult, the menstrual cycle lasts for about 28 days and is divided into the follicular/proliferative (prior to ovulation) and luteal/secretory (after ovulation) phases (Treloar et al. 1967). A high frequency pulsatile release of gonadotropin releasing hormone (GNRH) from the hypothalamus stimulates the release of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and lutenizing hormone (LH) from the anterior pituitary (Maeda et al. 2010). FSH and LH then act on the ovaries to stimulate the release of estrogen. Follicles in the ovary develop as a single

oocyte is prepared for ovulation. A critical level of estrogen then stimulates a surge of GnRH release and subsequent LH and FSH secretion by a positive feedback mechanism (Karsch et al. 1973). Ovulation then occurs in response to this surge, and an egg is released to the uterus by way of the fallopian tube. The remaining follicular cells form the corpus luteum which secretes progesterone. Estrogen levels also rise again during the luteal phase (Reed and Carr 2000). If fertilization fails to occur, then menstruation and the resumption of the cycle occur. Regulation of hormone secretion throughout the menstrual cycle is complex and involves positive and negative feedback mechanisms as well as autocrine and paracrine factors (Hawkins and Matzuk 2008).

The female hormonal cycle of rodents, the estrous cycle, differs remarkably from humans. Mice do not have a luteal phase and the estrous cycle of mice is around four to five days, which are divided into proestrus, estrus, metestrus, and diestrus (Byers et al. 2012; Nelson et al. 1982). E2 begins to be released from the ovaries during metestrus and diestrus phases, which are equivalent to the follicular phase in humans. E2 levels peak during the proestrus phase which induces a LH surge and the secretion of progesterone. Ovulation occurs during the estrus phase. If fertilization does not occur, the cycle continues through metestrus and so forth (Becker 2016). Nilsson et al. used gas chromatography in tandem with mass spectrometry to measure circulating levels of hormones produced by the ovaries in freely cycling female mice. Using their sensitive approach, E2 levels were found to be highest in diestrus and proestrus (around 6 pg/ml and 8 pg/ml, respectively) and lowest during estrus and metestrus (<0.3 pg/ml) (Nilsson et al. 2015).

In females, estrogen can be synthesized in gonadal tissues including the ovaries and placenta (Robic et al. 2016; Knight 1994). Additionally, estrogen can be synthesized in other

organs including the brain, skin, fat, and liver (Robic et al. 2016; Berkovitz, Brown, and Fujimoto 1987; Roselli and Resko 2001; Cleland, Mendelson, and Simpson 1983). The main forms of estrogens are estrone, estriol, and E2, which is the major form of estrogen in premenopausal women (Cui, Shen, and Li 2013). The final step in estrogen synthesis is mediated by the cytochrome P450 enzyme, aromatase (Simpson et al. 1997). The brain is a major site for estrogen synthesis, and aromatase is expressed in many brain regions including the hypothalamus, hippocampus, cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and the limbic system (Naftolin, Ryan, and Petro 1971b, 1971a; Azcoitia, Yague, and Garcia-Segura 2011). Aromatase activity is detected in the rodent midbrain of from birth to adulthood (MacLusky et al. 1994), and aromatase protein as measured by immunofluorescence is present in the VTA of adult male mice (MacLusky et al. 1994).

1.4.2 The influence of ovarian hormones on drug abuse

Hormones, including E2, may play a key role in the gender differences of addiction and alcoholism. The rewarding effects of psychostimulants such as cocaine and amphetamine vary along the human menstrual cycle with increased effects during the follicular phase (Evans, Haney, and Foltin 2002; White, Justice, and de Wit 2002), when estrogen levels are high and progesterone levels are low (Vollman 1977). The role of ovarian hormones on the effects of psychostimulants has also been established in rodents. Cocaine self-administration is highest during estrus (Hecht, Spear, and Spear 1999). Ovariectomized (OVX) rats exhibit a decrease in self-administration of cocaine, and supplementation with E2 increases cocaine intake (Lynch et al. 2001). Treatment with progesterone and E2 reverses the enhancing effects of E2 on cocaine administration in OVX rats (Jackson, Robinson, and Becker 2006). This suggests opposing effects of progesterone and estrogen on the reinforcing effects of cocaine.

Studies investigating differences in alcohol consumption during the normal human menstrual cycle are conflicting and indeterminate; thus, the precise role that the hormonal cycle has on alcohol intake in females is unknown (Becker and Koob 2016). While one study reported the anxiolytic effects of alcohol occurring only during the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle (Logue et al. 1981), another found anxiolytic effects only during the luteal phase (Sutker et al. 1987). Studies on the effects of the menstrual cycle on the subjective effects of alcohol are also conflicting and have been reported to either not differ across the menstrual cycle (Evans and Levin 2011) or were greater in the luteal phase (Holdstock and de Wit 2000). Studies measuring alcohol consumption along the menstrual cycle have either reported no changes (Charette, Tate, and Wilson 1990; Christensen, Oei, and Callan 1989; Griffin et al. 1987; Pomerleau et al. 1994; Tate and Charette 1991) or mixed differences by cycle phase (Harvey and Beckman 1985; Marks et al. 1994; McLeod et al. 1994; Mello, Mendelson, and Lex 1990; Svikis et al. 2006). However, there is a positive correlation between blood E2 levels and alcohol consumption in women, and women who drink were found to have higher blood E2 levels, suggesting that high E2 may be a risk factor or a marker for increased alcohol intake in women (Muti et al. 1998).

There are several studies in rats that have not found any effects of the estrous cycle on ethanol consumption (Priddy et al. 2017; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002b; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). However, one study found that while there was no estrous cycle effect on selfadministration of ethanol in freely-cycling female rats, rats with synchronized estrous cycles exhibited decreased administration of ethanol in estrus and proestrus (Roberts et al. 1998). Another group found decreased ethanol intake during proestrus (Forger and Morin 1982), when circulating E2 serum levels are the highest (Nilsson et al. 2015). These discrepancies in both clinical and preclinical studies may be due to methodological differences and ultimately

highlights the importance of a more thorough investigation on the mechanisms of hormones in alcohol abuse.

Female rodents generally drink more ethanol than males (Priddy et al. 2017; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). Because E2-treated and gonadally intact female mice drink more than OVX and male mice, increased drinking by females may be due, in part, to the actions of E2 (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2004, 2002a). Work in Dr. Amy Lasek's lab has shown that E2 augments binge-drinking in C57BL/6J mice. OVX mice treated with E2 showed increased amounts of ethanol consumption when compared to those treated with vehicle. The increase in binge-like drinking was complimented with an increase in BEC in the OVX mice treated with E2 (Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). Additionally, E2 injections in OVX female mice also increase preference for ethanol in a CPP experiment (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). Because E2 affects ethanol CPP and binge drinking, E2 may play a role in the rewarding and reinforcing properties of alcohol.

1.5 Mechanisms of estrogen action

The effects of estrogen are mediated by binding to estrogen receptors (ER), and estrogen can signal through ER α , ER β , and G protein-coupled ER (GPER). ERs can signal through genomic or non-genomic (rapid) signaling mechanisms (Vrtacnik et al. 2014). ER α and ER β are receptors that are a part of the steroid hormone superfamily (Osz et al. 2012). Upon ligand binding, ER α and ER β can form homo- and heterodimers which regulate gene transcription in the nucleus (Cowley et al. 1997; Paulmurugan et al. 2011; Kuntz and Shapiro 1997). ER α and ER β are composed of functional domains which include the N-terminal domain (NTD), DNA-binding domain (DBD), hinge region, and ligand-binding domain (Beato, Herrlich, and Schutz 1995). There are also two activation function (AF) domains, AF1 and AF2, which respectively

mediate the hormone-independent and -dependent transcriptional activities (Beato 1989). The DBD domain forms a complex with estrogen response elements (ERE) on promoter or enhancer regions in the DNA in order to regulate transcription of target genes through the recruitment of co-activators or co-repressors (Tsai and O'Malley 1994). It is thought that the genomic actions of ERs take hours for the transcriptional and translational effects to manifest (O'Lone et al. 2004).

GPER, which was originally classified as the orphan receptor GPR30 due to the unknown ligand (Carmeci et al. 1997), is coupled to G_s and stimulates the cAMP synthesis through activation of adenylyl cyclase (Thomas et al. 2005). The G $\beta\gamma$ subunit coupled to GPER activates a signaling pathway that releases intracellular calcium and activates epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (Thomas et al. 2005). In addition to the GPER, membrane associated ER α and ER β can also signal from the membrane and activate many rapid signaling pathways including calcium, adenylate cyclase, phosphoinositol kinase, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), tyrosine kinase signaling, and cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) (Wu, Chen, and Brinton 2011; Titolo et al. 2008; Qiu et al. 2003; Cavalcanti et al. 2015). The non-genomic signaling pathways of membrane-bound ERs can also converge with genomic signaling to alter transcription (Marino, Galluzzo, and Ascenzi 2006).

Estrogen receptors can also transactivate GPCRs, such as mGluRs, on the membrane in a GPCR ligand-independent manner (Seredynski et al. 2015; Boulware, Heisler, and Frick 2013). mGluRs are activated by E2 in hippocampal (Huang and Woolley 2012) and striatal neurons (Grove-Strawser, Boulware, and Mermelstein 2010). ER/mGluR signaling has sex-specific and brain region-specific effects on CREB phosphorylation, L-type calcium channel currents, and MAPK signaling (Boulware et al. 2005; Grove-Strawser, Boulware, and Mermelstein 2010). In the hippocampus of female rats, ER α /mGluR1 activation suppresses the inhibition of CA1

pyramidal neurons by GABA, through retrograde endocannabinoid action through cannabinoid 1 receptor (CB1R) on inhibitory inputs (Huang and Woolley 2012).

ER/mGluR signaling mechanisms play distinct roles in natural and drug rewards in male and female animals (Dewing et al. 2007; Tonn Eisinger et al. 2018). Interactions between ER α and mGluR1 in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus enhances sexual receptivity in female rodents (Dewing et al. 2007), and interactions between ER β and mGluR1 enhance sexual behaviors in male Japanese quail (Seredynski et al. 2015). In rodents, E2-induced enhancement of cocaine intake in OVX females is through mGluR5 activation because an antagonist of mGluR5 reverses the E2 enhancement of cocaine self-administration (Martinez et al. 2016). E2induced enhancement of cocaine stimulated DA release in the nucleus accumbens is through ER β activation (Yoest, Cummings, and Becker 2018). Amphetamine-induced DA release in the striatum is also enhanced by E2, and mGluR5 is required for this effect (Song et al. 2019).

mGluRs play important roles in alcohol abuse, for example mGluR5 antagonists reduce alcohol consumption and relapse (Backstrom et al. 2004; Schroeder, Overstreet, and Hodge 2005; Schroeder et al. 2008). The type I mGluRs, mGluR1 and mGluR5, are coupled to G_{q/11}. mGluR1 activation leads to increased phospholipase C (PLC) activity (Niswender and Conn 2010). Acamprosate, which is clinically effective in treating patients with alcohol dependence (Mason 2001), may decrease alcohol relapse partially through its action on mGluR5 (Harris et al. 2002). Treatment with mGluR1 and mGluR5 antagonists decreases ethanol reward and consumption in male rodents (Backstrom et al. 2004; Lominac et al. 2006), but it is not known if ER/mGluR signaling is involved in these effects.

The actions of ERs can be investigated using ER modulators. The ER agonists and antagonists used in this dissertation project are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1: List of Estrogen Receptor Modulators			
Compound Name	ERa Action	ERβ Action	GPER Action
7α,17β-[9-[(4,4,5,5,5-	Antagonist	Antagonist	Agonist
Pentafluoropentyl)sulfinyl]nonyl]estra-			
1,3,5(10)-triene-3,17-diol (ICI			
182,780)			
4,4',4"-(4-Propyl-[1H]-pyrazole-1,3,5-	Agonist (410-	-	-
triyl)trisphenol (PPT)	fold selectivity		
	over ERβ)		
2,3-bis(4-Hydroxyphenyl)-	-	Agonist (70-fold	-
propionitrile (DPN)		selectivity over	
		ERa)	
1,3-Bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4-methyl-5-	Antagonist	-	-
[4-(2-piperidinylethoxy)phenol]-1H-	(200-fold		
pyrazole dihydrochloride (MPP)	selectivity over		
	ERβ)		
4-[2-Phenyl-5,7-	-	Antagonist (36-	-
bis(trifluoromethyl)pyrazolo[1,5-		fold selectivity	
a]pyrimidin-3-yl]phenol (PHTPP)		over ERa)	

1.6 Effects of estrogen on ventral tegmental area and dopamine

E2 actions on DAergic pathways regulates reproductive behavior (Foreman and Hall 1987; Balthazart, Baillien, and Ball 2002) and drug abuse (Carroll et al. 2004). Unpublished work by the Lasek lab has shown that ER α and ER β are both expressed in the VTA, but it is not yet known what the role these receptors have in the VTA. Various groups have identified nuclear ER β in VTA neurons using a specific antibody (Mitra et al. 2003) and in a transgenic mouse line which expresses the fluorescent protein GFP driven from the ER β promoter (Milner et al. 2010). Although some groups were not able to identify ER α or GPER in VTA neurons (Milner et al. 2010). Although some groups were not able to identified sparse expression of ER α in a subpopulation of DA VTA neurons (Kritzer 1997). E2 may affect the function of the VTA in both physiological conditions as well as in diseased states such as addiction and alcoholism.

E2 increases the density of D2R on the plasma membrane in the nucleus accumbens and striatum (Chavez et al. 2010; Roy, Buyer, and Licari 1990). However, E2 either decreases or has no change on the expression of the D2R gene in the striatum (Lammers et al. 1999; Le Saux, Morissette, and Di Paolo 2006). Activation of ER has been shown to have cellular effects in the VTA of female rodents. For instance, twenty-seven days of E2 treatment via implant resulted in changes in increased expression of the D3R gene in the VTA (Zhou, Cunningham, and Thomas 2002).

Striatal DA concentrations and DA release are regulated by E2 (Xiao and Becker 1994; Becker 1990; Dazzi et al. 2007), and E2 may be driving some of the sex differences in DA neurotransmission and ultimately drug abuse. E2 increases the synthesis and release of DA (Pasqualini et al. 1995, 1996; Xiao and Becker 1998) and decreases the re-uptake of DA (Watson et al. 2006; Disshon, Boja, and Dluzen 1998). In rats, females will acquire cocaine self-
administration and CPP more rapidly and readily than males (Lynch and Carroll 1999; Carroll et al. 2002; Russo et al. 2003; Hu et al. 2004; Zakharova, Wade, and Izenwasser 2009). E2 supplementation in OVX rats increases cocaine- and amphetamine-stimulated DA release in the nucleus accumbens, cocaine self-administration, and cocaine CPP (Lynch et al. 2001; Hu et al. 2004; Segarra et al. 2010; Segarra et al. 2014; Tobiansky et al. 2016; Thompson and Moss 1994). E2 administration directly into the medial preoptic area enhances cocaine-induced DA release in the nucleus accumbens (Tobiansky et al. 2016). Administration of E2 enhances amphetaminestimulated DA release in OVX females but not in castrated or intact male mice (Becker 1990) , and this is dependent upon ERs and mGluR5 in the striatum (Song et al. 2019). Treatment with ER α and ER β agonists in OVX rats enhanced the activation of the VTA by amphetamines (Sarvari 2014).

E2 effects on drinking behaviors may be partially due to E2 acting on VTA DAergic neuron excitation. Many studies in rodents have demonstrated enhancing effects of E2 on drinking behaviors (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2004; Rajasingh et al. 2007; Reid, Hubbell, and Reid 2003; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002a; Marinelli, Quirion, and Gianoulakis 2003; Quirarte et al. 2007; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018), and E2 injections in female mice increases preference for ethanol in a CPP experiment through activation of ER α and ER β (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). Ethanol-induced DA release in the prefrontal cortex is prevented in OVX rats and is recovered by E2 supplementation (Dazzi et al. 2007).

Because E2 has been shown to upregulate the rewarding and reinforcing properties of alcohol and other drugs of abuse and the release of DA, E2 may modulate the excitability of the VTA. E2 modulates the excitability of other neuronal cell types, such as visceral ganglion

neurons, which also express the channel responsible for I_h currents, HCN. In female rats, OVX reduced HCN expression and I_h currents and was recovered by E2 (He et al. 2014).

1.7 <u>Summary and project overview</u>

In summary, previous work suggests that E2 plays a role in regulating ethanol reward and DAergic neurotransmission in female mice. The VTA is a brain region critical for the rewarding and reinforcing effects of alcohol and other rewards (Ranaldi 2014; Lammel, Lim, and Malenka 2014), yet few studies have directly investigated the actions of E2 in the VTA in females. This is increasingly important to examine since the incidence of alcohol abuse in women is rising (White et al. 2015; Grant et al. 2017; Cheng, Cantave, and Anthony 2016). The ethanol-induced increase in firing rate of VTA DAergic neurons is thought to mediate the rewarding and reinforcing effects of ethanol, and autoinhibition of VTA DAergic neurons by DA is an important regulatory mechanism for inhibiting the firing of these cells (Ackerman et al. 1993; Brodie and Dunwiddie 1990). Because of this, the responses of VTA DA neurons to ethanol and DA are important to investigate in females and specifically determine whether hormones such as E2 are involved in responses in females. Both ER α and ER β are expressed in the VTA and activation of these receptors may alter the response of VTA DA neurons to ethanol and DA. Determining the effects of ER activation in VTA DA neurons could provide insight into the molecular mechanisms of drug and ethanol reward in women.

This dissertation focuses on the role of ERs in modulating the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA in female mice. The primary hypothesis is that E2 regulates the excitation by ethanol and inhibition by DA of VTA DAergic neurons in female mice through activation of ERs. The aims of this dissertation are therefore to (1) characterize the effects of high E2 states in the responses of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA, (2) determine which

ERs mediate the E2 effects on the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA, (3) investigate possible downstream pathways which may mediate the E2 effects on the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA, and (4) determine the effects of E2 on the desensitization of D2R in the VTA of female mice. The second chapter will therefore focus on the effects of high E2 states in regulating the inhibition by DA and excitation by ethanol of VTA DAergic neurons from female mice. The extracellular electrophysiological responses of brain slices containing VTA DAergic neurons from female mice in high E2 states, both from OVX mice supplemented with E2 and gonadally-intact mice, were used to initially characterize the effects of high E2 states on the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA. Then, VTA DA neurons from freely-cycling female mice were acutely treated with an ER α /ER β antagonist to further investigate the role of ERs in ethanol and DA sensitivity. The third chapter then investigates which ER and downstream pathways mediate the enhanced sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol. Specific agonists and antagonists for ER α and ER β were used to determine whether ER α or ER β mediates the increased sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol in female mice. Then, mGluR1 antagonists were used to determine if the enhanced sensitivity to ethanol in high E2 states is dependent upon mGluR1 activity. In the fourth chapter, specific agonists for ER α and ER β were used alone and in combination to determine whether ER α and ER β mediate the enhancement of DA sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons in high E2 states. Finally, the fifth chapter will characterize the effects of E2-supplementation in OVX mice on the desensitization of D2R and gene expression analyses.

2. ESTRADIOL INCREASES THE SENSITIVITY OF VTA NEURONS TO DA AND ETHANOL

(ADAPTED FROM VANDEGRIFT ET AL, PLOS ONE 2017)

2.1 Introduction

Dysfunctions of DAergic neurotransmission contribute to many psychiatric disorders including mood disorders, schizophrenia, Parkinson's disease, Tourette's syndrome, and addiction (Russo and Nestler 2013; Beaulieu and Gainetdinov 2011; Polter and Kauer 2014; Dichter, Damiano, and Allen 2012). The role of the DAergic system in psychiatric disorders has been established in animal models of these conditions and using human brain imaging and postmortem tissue analysis (Russo and Nestler 2013; Dichter, Damiano, and Allen 2012). Interestingly, several psychiatric disorders also exhibit a gender bias in prevalence and severity (Gobinath, Choleris, and Galea 2017). Gender differences in the age of onset, prevalence, progression, and severity of symptoms associated with psychiatric disorders may be due to inherent sex differences in the organization of the DAergic system and/or modulated by hormones (Riccardi et al. 2011; Zagni, Simoni, and Colombo 2016; Gogos et al. 2015). It is therefore important to understand the biological factors that underlie sex differences in DAergic neurotransmission to help guide the development of future treatments for psychiatric disorders that will be effective in both sexes.

The mesocorticolimbic DAergic system is critically involved in the development of addiction. This system encompasses the VTA DAergic neurons and their projections to the nucleus accumbens, amygdala, and prefrontal cortex (Oades and Halliday 1987; Koob 2003; Oliva and Wanat 2016). VTA neurons are activated and release DA in their target areas in response to stimuli that are rewarding or novel (Berridge 2007), and release of DA by VTA DA neurons underlies the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse (Koob and Volkow 2010; Jones and Bonci 2005). The VTA is important for promoting alcohol consumption and reward (Bechtholt and Cunningham 2005; Rodd et al. 2004). Rodents will self-administer ethanol directly into the VTA, suggesting that at least some of the reinforcing effects of ethanol are mediated through the VTA (Rodd et al. 2004; Gatto et al. 1994; Ding et al. 2015). Acute administration of ethanol dose-dependently enhances the basal firing rate of rodent VTA DAergic neurons both *in vitro* (Brodie, Shefner, and Dunwiddie 1990; Brodie and Appel 1998) and *in vivo* (Gessa et al. 1985).

There are considerable gender differences in addiction, including differences in the amount of use, age of initiation, reasons for abuse, development of comorbidities, and severity of health problems (Becker, Perry, and Westenbroek 2012). Although more men abuse alcohol than women, the difference in the incidence of alcohol abuse is narrowing between genders (Cheng, Cantave, and Anthony 2016; Keyes, Grant, and Hasin 2008). Women are more susceptible to the devastating health effects associated with alcohol abuse such as liver disease and neurotoxicity (Eagon 2010; Mann et al. 1992). Similar to other drugs of abuse such as cocaine, women also exhibit a greater escalation of alcohol use and are more likely to relapse in response to stress and anxiety (Becker and Koob 2016). Studies investigating differences in alcohol consumption during the normal human menstrual cycle are conflicting and indeterminate; thus, the precise role that the hormonal cycle has on alcohol intake in women is unknown (Becker and Koob 2016). However, steroid hormones, including estrogen, may play a role in sex differences in addiction and alcoholism (Becker, Perry, and Westenbroek 2012; Carroll et al. 2004; Carroll and Anker 2010; Anker and Carroll 2011).

Estrogen, specifically E2, may affect the normal physiology of the VTA and the pathophysiology of disease states such as addiction. E2 modulates DAergic responses to psychostimulants (Segarra et al. 2010; Zhou, Cunningham, and Thomas 2002; Madularu et al. 2015; Madularu et al. 2016) and increases the rewarding and reinforcing properties of cocaine and amphetamine (Bobzean, Dennis, and Perrotti 2014; Galankin, Shekunova, and Zvartau 2010; Segarra et al. 2010; Silverman and Koenig 2007; Chen et al. 2003; Lynch et al. 2001; Hu et al. 2004; Hu and Becker 2008). E2 alters mesolimbic DAergic transmission pre- and postsynaptically by increasing DA synthesis, reuptake, and release and changing receptor expression and activity (Febo et al. 2003; Gordon and Fields 1989; Joyce, Smith, and van Hartesveldt 1982; Thompson, Bridges, and Weirs 2001; Thompson and Moss 1994). Although much is known regarding the effects of E2 on behavioral and neurochemical responses to psychostimulants, the potential effects of E2 on behaviors related to alcohol abuse and the physiological responses of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol are less well studied. In premenopausal women, alcohol consumption is positively correlated with serum E2 levels (Muti et al. 1998) and E2 supplementation in OVX mice increases ethanol-stimulated DA release in the prefrontal cortex (Dazzi et al. 2007). ERs are expressed in VTA neurons (Milner et al. 2010; Creutz and Kritzer 2002). However, the effects of E2 specifically on the DA- and ethanolregulated responses of VTA neurons have not been examined. Here, gonadally intact female mice at different stages of the estrous cycle characterized by different circulating hormone levels and OVX mice supplemented with E2 were examined for the effects of these different E2 states on the firing of DAergic neurons in response to DA and ethanol. We demonstrate that E2 increases the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to both ethanol and DA, indicating that sex

differences in the DA system may be, in part, regulated hormonally. These results have implications for alcohol use disorder and other psychiatric diseases in women.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Animals

Female C57BL/6J mice were used for all experiments. Mice were 8 weeks old when purchased from The Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME, USA) and were tested between 10-14 weeks of age. Mice were group-housed under a 12 hour light-dark cycle in a temperature-andhumidity-controlled facility. Mice were treated in accordance with the National Institutes of Health *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals*. All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Illinois at Chicago.

2.2.2 <u>Vaginal cytology</u>

Vaginal cytology was performed for at least two weeks in freely cycling females prior to performing experiments. A cotton swab was moistened with sterile water and gently inserted less than 1 mm into the vaginal opening and rotated. Immediately after removal from the vaginal opening, the swab was wiped on a microscope slide and the smear analyzed by bright field microscopy using an EVOS® FL inverted microscope (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Estrous phase was determined based on vaginal cellular composition. For freely cycling mice, estrus vaginal composition was identified by an abundance of cornified epithelial cells, while diestrus II (herein referred to diestrus) was identified by the predominance of leukocytes in the smears (Nelson et al. 1982) (Figure 2). These two phases show large differences in circulating estrogen levels in mice, and are of substantially longer duration than either proestrus or metestrus/diestrus I (Nilsson et al. 2015). For electrophysiology, the final smears were obtained 1-2 hours prior to euthanasia.

2.2.3 Ovariectomy and estradiol treatments

Mice were anesthetized with an intraperitoneal injection of ketamine (100 mg/kg) and xylazine (8 mg/kg). After shaving the hair on the back of the mouse, a small incision was made on the dorsal side, the uterine horn was pulled out of the abdominal cavity, and the ovary and associated fat pad were dissected away from the uterine horn with a cauterizer. The uterine horn was pushed back into the abdominal cavity. The incisions were closed with sterile sutures and wound clips. This procedure was performed bilaterally. Mice received an injection of meloxicam (2 mg/kg, subcutaneous) for analgesia immediately after surgery and 24 hours later. To confirm ovary removal, vaginal smears were taken daily from mice for 4-5 days and analyzed using bright field microscopy as described above. All OVX mice used in these experiments were no longer cycling through estrous, demonstrating successful ovary removal. After 10 days of recovery from surgery, the mice were treated for three days with 0.05 mL of sesame oil plus 10% ethanol vehicle (VEH) or E2 benzoate in VEH subcutaneously. For the first two days of treatment, mice were injected once daily with 0.2 μ g E2 or VEH, which resulted in serum E2 levels 4 hours after injection that were comparable to E2 levels in proestrus (Vandegrift et al. 2017). On the final day of treatment, the mice were injected with $1 \mu g E2$ or VEH one hour before sacrifice, which resulted in serum E2 levels 30 min after injection that were comparable to E2 levels in proestrus (Vandegrift et al. 2017).

2.2.4 <u>Preparation of brain slices</u>

Brain slices containing the VTA were prepared for electrophysiology as previously described (Brodie, Pesold, and Appel 1999; Dutton et al. 2016). Mice were briefly anesthetized

with isoflurane prior to rapid removal of the brain. Using a vibratome and cold cutting solution, a tissue block containing the VTA and substantia nigra was cut into coronal sections of 400-µm thickness. Slices containing the VTA were placed in a chamber containing artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) flowing at a rate of 2 ml/min at 35°C. A small chamber (~0.5 ml) was used in these studies to allow the rapid application and washout of drug solutions in the bath. The slices were incubated for one hour in the aCSF before experiments were conducted. The composition of the aCSF was (in mM): NaCl 126, KCl 2.5, NaH2PO4 1.24, CaCl2 2.4, MgSO4 1.3, NaHCO3 26, glucose 11. The cutting solution composition was (in mM): KCl 2.5, CaCl2 2.4, MgSO4 1.3, NaHCO3 26, glucose 11, and sucrose 220. Both solutions were saturated with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂ (pH=7.4).

2.2.5 Cell identification for electrophysiology

Putative DA cells (herein referred to as VTA DA neurons) were identified by anatomical location and electrophysiological characteristics. The VTA was visible in the slices as a grey area medial to the substantia nigra. White matter separated the VTA from the substanta nigra. DA neurons have been shown to have distinctive electrophysiological characteristics including broad action potentials (at least 2.5 msec), slow spontaneous firing rate (0.5 - 5 Hz), and a regular inter-spike interval. Only neurons located within the lateral VTA that conformed to previously established criteria for DA neurons were included (Mueller and Brodie 1989). The criteria used for the recorded VTA neurons are associated with DA-containing neurons projecting to the nucleus accumbens (Margolis, Mitchell, et al. 2008), although it should be noted that there is some controversy regarding the neurotransmitter identity of neurons with this electrophysiological profile (Margolis, Mitchell, et al. 2008; Margolis et al. 2010; Chieng et al. 2011; Margolis et al. 2006). We also tested baclofen on each of the neurons for the quinpirole

studies, and 100% of them were inhibited by 1 μ M baclofen. Baclofen has been shown to inhibit VTA DA neurons and not GABA neurons in the VTA (Margolis et al. 2012).

2.2.6 Drug administration

With the exception of the E2 and VEH treatment of OVX mice, all drugs were administered during electrophysiological experiments. When ethanol and DA were added to the aCSF, a calibrated infusion pump from stock solutions was used. The final concentrations were calculated from the flow rate and stock solution concentrations (100 to 1000 times the desired final concentrations). The addition of the concentrated drugs to the flowing aCSF using the pumps was performed in such a way as to allow the drug solution to mix completely and reach the final desired concentration in the aCSF before reaching the slice. In some experiments, 10 μ M ICI 182,780 was added to the microelectrode filling solution for pipette delivery, a technique that has been used in the past by our lab and others (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012; Nimitvilai et al. 2013).

2.2.7 *Extracellular recording*

Spontaneous spike frequency of the putative DA neurons was measured using extracellular recordings; spike frequency (firing rate) was recorded and averaged over oneminute intervals. Recordings were made using micropipettes filled with 0.9% NaCl with tip resistances of 2 to 4 M Ω . Changes in firing rate were determined as peak percentage change relative to the baseline prior to drug administration.

2.2.8 <u>Statistical analysis</u>

Averaged numerical values are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons were made using two-way ANOVA or two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Sidak's

multiple comparisons tests as appropriate (Origin, Originlab, Northampton, MA or Prism, Graphpad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA). A P value of < 0.05 was considered significant.



Figure 2. Representative images of vaginal smears from mice in estrus and diestrus.

(A) Image showing a predominance of leukocytes in diestrus. (B) Image showing a predominance of anucleated epithelial cells in estrus.

2.3 <u>Results</u>

2.3.1 VTA neuron characteristics

A total of 121 VTA neurons from 67 mice were recorded in this study. Their initial basal firing rates ranged from 0.55 to 3.92 Hz. The mean firing rate was 2.00 ± 0.80 Hz. There were no significant differences in basal firing rate between estrus and diestrus of freely cycling mice (Estrus: 2.05 ± 0.15 Hz, Diestrus: 1.89 ± 0.16 Hz, $t_{53} = 0.72$, P = 0.48) or between E2- and vehicle-treated OVX mice (E2-treated: 1.95 ± 0.19 Hz, VEH-treated: 2.18 ± 0.13 Hz, $t_{50} = 1.00$, P = 0.09). All neurons conformed to the rate and patterns of DA VTA neurons as established in the literature and in this laboratory.

2.3.2 Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to inhibition by DA in diestrus

In addition to releasing DA onto their projection sites, DAergic neurons are also locally regulated by DA (Kita et al. 2009). This DA-mediated autoregulation inhibits the firing of DA VTA neurons through actions at the D2R (Ackerman et al. 1993; Brodie and Dunwiddie 1990). In order to determine whether natural fluctuations of hormones affect responses to DA, I tested DA inhibition of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus and estrus. Representative vaginal smears of the estrus and diestrus phases of the cycle are shown in Figure 2. VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus exhibited a significantly enhanced inhibition by DA (0.5-10 μ M) compared with VTA DAergic neurons from mice in estrus (Figure 3, n=9 per group, two-way ANOVA, concentration: F4,79 = 11.05, *P* < 0.0001; phase: F1,79 = 4.75, *P* = 0.032; concentration x phase interaction: F4, 79 = 0.51, *P* = 0.73). For example, 5 μ M DA decreased the firing rate by 48.0 ± 12.7% in neurons from mice in diestrus, while that same concentration of DA decreased the firing rate of neurons from mice in estrus by 29.6 ± 5.7%. To confirm that the enhanced inhibition observed during diestrus is mediated by D2/D3R stimulation, I tested the effect of

quinpirole, a selective D2/D3R agonist. Quinpirole more potently inhibited DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus compared with estrus, similar to what I observed with DA (Figure 4, n = 7 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, concentration: $F_{3, 36} = 112.2$, P < 0.0001; phase: $F_{1, 12} = 6.39$, P = 0.027; interaction: $F_{3, 36} = 3.94$, P = 0.016). Post-hoc multiple comparisons tests indicated a significant effect of 50 nM quinpirole (P = 0.001). In estrus, 50 nM quinpirole inhibited DA neurons by $36.6 \pm 4.2\%$, while in diestrus, 50 nM quinpirole inhibited DA neurons by $72.9 \pm$ 13.6%. These results indicate that DA autoinhibition of VTA DAergic neurons fluctuates during the estrous cycle and may be modulated by ovarian hormones.



Figure 3. Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to inhibition by DA during diestrus.

Extracellular recordings of VTA DA neurons were obtained from mice in diestrus and estrus. The DA response was measured in putative VTA DA neurons with 0.5, 1, 2, 5, and 10 μ M DA. (A-B) Representative rate meter graphs show the effects of DA during (A) diestrus and (B) estrus. (C) Concentration-response graph showing enhanced inhibition to DA in mice during diestrus (n = 9) compared with estrus (n = 9). **P* < 0.05 by two-way ANOVA.



Figure 4. Enhanced inhibition by quinpirole in VTA DA neurons in diestrus mice.

Extracellular recordings were made from VTA slices from mice in estrus or diestrus. Shown are the concentration-response curves showing quinpirole inhibition of VTA DA neurons (n = 7 per group). There was a significant main effect of concentration ($F_{3, 36} = 112.2$, P < 0.0001), estrous cycle phase ($F_{1, 12} = 6.39$, *P = 0.027), and a significant interaction ($F_{3, 36} = 3.94$, P = 0.016) by two-way RM ANOVA. Post-hoc Sidak's multiple comparisons tests indicated a significant difference between estrus and diestrus at 50 nM quinpirole, indicated by two asterisks (**P < 0.01).

2.3.3 Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol excitation in diestrus

The Brodie lab has established that ethanol directly increases the firing rate of VTA neurons of male rodents (Brodie, Pesold, and Appel 1999). To determine if natural hormonal fluctuations in female mice affect the response of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol, I tested excitation of VTA DA neurons from mice in diestrus and estrus by 40, 80, and 120 mM ethanol. VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus showed significantly greater excitation by ethanol compared with neurons from mice in estrus (Figure 5, n=7-9 per group, two-way ANOVA, concentration: $F_{2,42} = 27.74$, P < 0.0001; phase: $F_{1,42} = 11.76$, P = 0.0014; concentration x phase interaction: $F_{2,42} = 2.15$, P = 0.13). For example, neurons from mice in estrus responded to 80 mM ethanol with a $12.4 \pm 2.6\%$ increase in firing rate, whereas in neurons from mice in diestrus, the same concentration of ethanol produced a $23.7 \pm 4.7\%$ increase in firing rate. These results indicate that ethanol more potently excites VTA DA neurons from female mice during diestrus compared with estrus, demonstrating that different hormonal states affect the response to ethanol.

Because circulating E2 levels are slightly higher during proestrus (~8 pg/mL) than in diestrus (~ 6 pg/mL) (Nilsson et al. 2015), I tested excitation of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in proestrus by 40, 80, and 120 mM ethanol. VTA DA neurons from mice in proestrus showed no significant difference in excitation by ethanol compared with neurons from mice in diestrus (Figure 6, n=6-9 per group, two-way ANOVA, concentration: $F_{2, 20} = 27.39$, P < 0.0001; phase: $F_{1, 13} = 0.032$, P = 0.8613; concentration x phase interaction: $F_{2, 26} = 1.85$, P = 0.17). For example, neurons from mice in proestrus responded to 80 mM ethanol with a 22.5 ± 8.8% increase in firing rate, and in neurons from mice in diestrus, the same concentration of ethanol produced a 23.7 ± 4.7% increase in firing rate. These results indicate that ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons from female mice in diestrus is comparable with proestrus.



Figure 5. Increased sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol excitation during diestrus.

Extracellular recordings of VTA DA neurons were obtained from mice in diestrus and estrus. The ethanol response was measured in VTA DA neurons with 40, 80, and 120 mM ethanol. Representative rate meter graphs show the effects of ethanol during (A) diestrus and (B) estrus. (C) Pooled concentration-response graph showing excitation by ethanol in mice during diestrus (n = 9) compared with estrus (n = 7). **P < 0.01 by two-way ANOVA.



Figure 6. Ethanol excitation in VTA DA neurons in proestrus is similar to neurons in diestrus.

Extracellular recordings were obtained from VTA DA neurons in proestrus and diestrus. The ethanol response was measured in VTA DA neurons with 40, 80, and 120 mM ethanol. Pooled concentration-response graph shows no significant difference in excitation by ethanol in mice during diestrus (n = 9) compared with proestrus (n = 6). The ethanol response from neurons in mice in diestrus is the same data as shown in Figure 5, and is shown here for reference.

2.3.4 Estradiol enhances responses of VTA DA neurons to DA and ethanol

Since E2 levels are higher in diestrus compared with estrus (Nilsson et al. 2015), I hypothesized that the increased responses of VTA neurons to DA and ethanol during diestrus may be due to an effect of elevated E2. To more directly test this hypothesis, mice were OVX to remove circulating hormones produced by the ovaries and treated systemically with daily E2 or VEH injections for three days prior to sacrifice. Brain slices were prepared one hour after the last E2 or VEH injection and VTA neurons tested for electrophysiological responses to DA and ethanol. VTA DAergic neurons in OVX mice treated with E2 demonstrated a significantly increased sensitivity to DA inhibition (0.5-10 μ M) compared with neurons from OVX VEHtreated mice (Figure 7, n = 9 per group, concentration: F_{4, 80} = 19.05, *P* < 0.0001; treatment: F_{1, 80} = 6.41, *P* = 0.013; concentration x treatment interaction: F_{4, 80} = 0.88, *P* = 0.48). For example, 5 μ M DA decreased the firing rate by 65.6 ± 13.4% in neurons from E2-treated mice, while the decrease in firing rate in neurons from VEH-treated mice was 40.2 ± 11.2%. This result indicates that E2 pretreatment increases the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to inhibition by DA.

I next tested for the effect of E2 treatment on the excitation of VTA DAergic neurons by ethanol. Neurons from OVX mice treated with E2 showed a significantly enhanced ethanolinduced (40-120 mM) excitation compared with neurons from OVX VEH-treated mice (Figure 7, n = 12-13, two-way ANOVA, concentration: $F_{2, 69} = 24.83$, P < 0.0001; treatment: $F_{1, 69} =$ 7.81, P = 0.0067; concentration x treatment interaction: $F_{2, 69} = 0.71$, P = 0.49). As an example, neurons from E2-treated mice responded to 80 mM ethanol with an increase in firing rate of 26.5 $\pm 4.2\%$, whereas neurons from VEH-treated mice responded to ethanol with an increase in firing rate of 14.5 $\pm 1.6\%$. Because GABAergic neurotransmission in the VTA may regulate the firing of VTA DAergic neurons (Theile et al. 2011), I also tested whether the enhanced ethanol excitation in neurons from E2-treated OVX mice was affected by GABA antagonists (concurrent administration of bicuculline and CGP35348, 10 μ M each). In the presence of GABA antagonists, the response of VTA DA neurons to ethanol in OVX VEH- or E2-treated mice was similar to what I observed in the absence of these antagonists, suggesting that the increase in ethanol excitation elicited by E2 may be independent of GABA neurotransmission in the VTA (Figure 8, n = 4–5, two-way ANOVA, For vehicle treated: ethanol concentration: F_{2, 20} = 10.50, *P*< 0.0001; treatment: F _{1,20} = 0.02, *P* = 0.90; For E2 treated: ethanol concentration: F_{2, 26} = 16.05, *P*< 0.0001; treatment: F _{1,26} = 0.11, *P* = 0.75).



Figure 7. E2 enhances DA inhibition and ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons.

Extracellular recordings were obtained from VTA DA neurons in ovariectomized OVX mice previously treated with E2 or VEH (A-B) Representative rate meter graphs showing response to 0.5-10 μ M DA of a VTA DA neuron from a mouse treated with VEH (A) or E2 (B). (C) DA responses in VTA DA neurons treated with 0.5-10 μ M DA. Concentration-response graph shows enhanced inhibition by DA in OVX mice treated with E2 compared with VEH (n = 9 per group). (D-E) Representative rate meter graphs showing response to 40-120 mM ethanol of a VTA DA neuron from a mouse treated with VEH (D) or E2 (E). (F) Ethanol responses in VTA DA neurons treated with 40, 80, and 120 mM ethanol. Pooled concentration-response graph shows enhanced excitation to ethanol in OVX mice treated with E2 (n = 13) compared with VEH (n = 12). **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01 by two-way ANOVA.



Figure 8. GABA antagonists do not alter the ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of DA neurons in OVX mice treated with E2.

Extracellular recordings were made from VTA slices from OVX mice treated with E2 (n = 5) or VEH (n = 4). The GABA antagonists bicuculline and CGP35348 (10 μ M each) were administered concurrently to the slices. Shown is the ethanol concentration-response graph in the presence or absence of the GABA antagonists. Pooled concentration-response graph shows excitation to ethanol in OVX mice treated with E2 or VEH is unchanged by the presence or absence of GABA antagonists.

2.3.5 <u>Estrogen Receptors in the VTA acutely regulate the sensitivity of DA neurons to</u> ethanol but not DA

ERs are present in the VTA and are expressed in DAergic neurons (Creutz and Kritzer 2002; Milner et al. 2010; Mitra et al. 2003; Shughrue, Lane, and Merchenthaler 1997). To determine if ERs in the VTA regulate the increased sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA, I treated brain slices containing the VTA with the ER (ER α and ER β) antagonist ICI 182,780 and measured the electrophysiological responses to DA and ethanol in neurons from mice in estrus and diestrus. ICI 182,780 was delivered via the recording pipette, a method that the Brodie laboratory has used successfully in the past (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012). ICI 182,780 did not affect inhibition by DA in either estrus or diestrus. However, similar to the effect shown above in Figure 3, there was a significant main effect of estrous cycle phase, indicating enhanced DA inhibition in neurons from mice in diestrus (Figure 9, n = 6 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, treatment: $F_{1,10} = 1.75$, P = 0.22; phase: $F_{1,10} = 6.45$, P = 0.029; treatment x phase interaction: $F_{1,10} = 1.62$, P = 0.23), consistent with the results depicted in Figure 3. The lack of effect of ICI 182,780 on inhibition of VTA DAergic neurons by DA suggests that ERs do not acutely affect DA inhibition, or function in a different brain region to modulate this effect.

In contrast, ethanol excitation of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus was decreased after treatment with ICI 182,780 (Figure 9, n = 6 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, treatment: $F_{1, 10} = 7.29$, P = 0.022; phase: $F_{1, 10} = 1.83$, P = 0.21; treatment x phase interaction: $F_{1, 10} = 8.79$, P = 0.014). Post-hoc multiple comparisons testing demonstrated a significant difference in ethanol-stimulated increase in firing in VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus compared with estrus before treatment with ICI 182,780 (P = 0.018), consistent with results shown in Figure 5. This difference in ethanol-stimulated increase in firing between these two phases of the estrous cycle was abolished after allowing 90 minutes for ICI 182,780 to diffuse from the recording pipette onto the slice. Neurons from mice in the diestrus phase responded to 80 mM ethanol with an $18.8 \pm 7.1\%$ increase in firing rate at the beginning of the experiment, but after the 90 minute of pipette delivery of ICI 182,780, the response to 80 mM ethanol was increased by only $8.4 \pm 1.9\%$. As a control, I also tested if inclusion of DMSO vehicle in the recording pipette would change the response to ethanol of VTA DA neurons from diestrus mice over the same 90-minute period. There was no change in ethanol-stimulated increase in firing over time with DMSO vehicle in the pipette ($t_4 = 0.94$, P = 0.4), indicating that the decrease in ethanol response from mice in diestrus after incubation with ICI 182,780 is not consequence of time, DMSO, or repetition of ethanol administration. In addition, the response to ethanol of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus was not altered by ICI 182,780. At the beginning of the experiment, neurons from mice in the estrus phase responded to 80 mM ethanol with an increase of firing rate of $10.1 \pm 4.2\%$; after 90 minutes of the pipette delivery of ICI 182,780, neurons from the estrus phase responded with an $11.5 \pm 5.6\%$ increase in firing rate. These results demonstrate that ERs in the VTA acutely regulate the enhancement of ethanol stimulation in the diestrus phase, when E2 levels are higher than in estrus.



Figure 9. ERs in the VTA acutely regulate the sensitivity of DA neurons to ethanol but not DA.

(A-B) Representative rate meter graphs showing response to 5 μ M DA of a VTA DA neuron from a mouse in estrus (A) or diestrus (B) recorded before and during treatment with ICI 182,780. (C) Response to 5 μ M DA of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus (n = 6) or diestrus (n = 6) before and after treatment of slices containing the VTA with ICI 182,780. There was no change in DA inhibition with ICI 182,780 treatment, but there was a significant effect of cycle phase (**P* < 0.05). (D-E) Representative rate meter graphs showing response to 80 mM ethanol of a VTA DA neuron from a mouse in estrus (D) or diestrus (E) recorded before and during treatment with ICI 182,780. (F) Response to 80 mM ethanol of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus (n = 6) or diestrus (n = 6) before and after treatment of slices containing the VTA with ICI 182,780. The enhanced VTA DA neuron excitation by ethanol that was observed in mice in diestrus was decreased after treatment with ICI 182,780, whereas the ethanol response of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus was not altered by ICI 182,780. **P* < 0.05 by two-way RM ANOVA. **P* < 0.05 between mice in estrus and diestrus before ICI 182,780 treatment by posthoc Sidak's multiple comparisons test.

2.4 Discussion

These results show that E2 modulates the response of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA. The ethanol and DA responses of VTA neurons were tested in both OVX and gonadally intact female mice. Elevated E2 corresponded with enhanced responses in VTA neurons. This was observed in neurons in OVX mice treated with E2 and in mice in diestrus, where serum E2 levels have been reported to reach ~6 pg/ml (Nilsson et al. 2015) compared with neurons from OVX mice and mice in estrus, where serum E2 levels have been estimated to be less than 0.3 pg/ml (Nilsson et al. 2015). The responses to ethanol and DA of VTA DAergic neurons in mice in estrus (when circulating E2 levels are low) are comparable to responses that the Brodie laboratory has observed previously in male C57BL6/J mice, providing additional evidence that E2 increases the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA (Brodie and Appel 2000; Dutton et al. 2017). I have also demonstrated that the enhanced ethanol excitation, but not the enhanced DA inhibition, observed in VTA neurons from mice in diestrus is reversed after acute treatment with ICI 182,780, an antagonist of ER α and ER β .

DA inhibition was enhanced in VTA neurons from gonadally intact mice in diestrus and in OVX mice treated with E2. Inhibition of firing by D2R activation is mediated by potassium channels activated by the $\beta\gamma$ subunit of G proteins (Kim, Nakajima, and Nakajima 1995). The alterations of responses to DA by E2 that I observed might be due to a change in D2R expression, trafficking, G protein coupling, or other downstream signaling components. Future studies should address which of these possibilities contribute to the E2 enhancement of DA inhibition.

Acute in vitro treatment with the ER antagonist, ICI 182,780, did not alter the inhibitory DA response of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus or estrus. While it is possible that

the increased DA inhibition observed in VTA neurons from mice in diestrus is not due to increased E2 levels, this seems unlikely. I found that treatment of OVX mice with E2 resulted in increased inhibition of VTA DA neurons by DA when compared with VEH-treated mice, similar to differences in DA responses of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus (higher E2 levels) compared with estrus (lower E2 levels); these observations support the argument that E2 is responsible for increasing the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to inhibition by DA in intact females. It seems more likely that the alteration of D2 sensitivity is caused by E2-induced changes in DA responsiveness in the VTA elicited prior to performing the electrophysiology. For instance, acute ICI 182,780 treatment would not be expected to reverse the increased DA sensitivity in high estrogen states if E2 changed the expression of genes that regulate D2R signaling or trafficking prior to slice preparation (i.e. the classical or genomic action of ERs). The timing of E2 injections in our experiments is sufficiently long to permit genomic changes to occur, since I pre-treated the mice for three days prior to performing the experiment. Presumably the rise in E2 levels in mice in diestrus before the slices were prepared is also long enough to elicit genomic changes that could increase the response to DA. Alternatively, the effect of E2 in vivo might indirectly increase the response to DA by employing a polysynaptic mechanism, for example. Finally, it is possible that the lack of effect of acute ICI 182,780 on DA inhibition is merely the result of E2 acting on ERs outside of the VTA to change responses to DA in the VTA. Future experiments need to be performed to distinguish among these possibilities.

Ethanol excitation was enhanced in VTA neurons from gonadally intact mice in diestrus and OVX mice treated with E2. Increased ethanol-induced excitation of DA neurons during elevated E2 states would lead to increased DA release, and is predicted to enhance ethanol reward (Di Chiara and Imperato 1988; Weiss et al. 1993). Ethanol excites VTA neurons *in vivo*

(Gessa et al. 1985) and directly increases the spontaneous firing rate of dissociated VTA DA neurons (Brodie, Pesold, and Appel 1999). Ethanol excitation is retained under conditions that block synaptic transmission in brain slices containing the VTA (Brodie, Shefner, and Dunwiddie 1990) and in dissociated VTA DA neurons (Brodie, Pesold, and Appel 1999). The response to ethanol of VTA neurons in mice in proestrus, when circulating E2 levels are slightly higher (~8 pg/mL) than in diestrus, are comparable to responses in neurons in mice in diestrus. Although I did not measure responses of VTA DA neurons to DA during proestrus, when serum E2 levels in mice are slightly higher than in diestrus, I would expect that VTA DA neurons from mice in proestrus in response to DA.

The increased sensitivity to ethanol of VTA DAergic neurons in mice in diestrus and in OVX mice treated with E2 suggests that behaviors related to the rewarding and reinforcing properties of ethanol will be enhanced when circulating E2 levels are high. Indeed, several studies have demonstrated that OVX mice and rats treated with E2 consume more ethanol compared with vehicle-treated OVX mice (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2004; Quirarte et al. 2007; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002a; Marinelli, Quirion, and Gianoulakis 2003; Rajasingh et al. 2007; Reid et al. 2002; Reid, Hubbell, and Reid 2003). In addition, female rodents tend to consume more ethanol than male rodents (Becker and Koob 2016; Jury et al. 2017; Priddy et al. 2017; Rhodes et al. 2007). By re-examining the Brodie and Lasek laboratories' published studies of the ethanol responses of VTA DA neurons in male C57BL/6J mice (Brodie and Appel 2000; Dutton et al. 2017), I observed that the concentration-response to ethanol is similar between males and estrus females (when serum E2 concentrations are low). This might suggest that mice in diestrus or proestrus would consume more ethanol than male or estrus mice. However, several studies have found that ethanol consumption does not change throughout the estrous cycle in rats

(Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002b; Priddy et al. 2017; Roberts et al. 1998) and the Lasek lab has also not observed differences in ethanol consumption throughout the estrous cycle in freely cycling mice (Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). One reason for this may be that timing is critical when testing for behavioral differences. The estrous cycle in mice and rats is very short (~4 days) and within a specific cycle phase, hormone levels can change rapidly. Indeed, Roberts *et al* did find cycle phase differences in ethanol self-administration in rats when their cycles were synchronized using an agonist to the gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor (Roberts *et al*. 1998). The sex difference in ethanol consumption observed in mice could be due to higher levels of E2 in females contributing to increased sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to excitation by ethanol and perhaps higher levels of drinking. This remains to be determined but is an important area for future investigation.

The ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DAergic neurons was assessed using high concentrations (40 -120 mM). Although the concentrations used here were relatively high, the Lasek laboratory and others have found that 4 hours of access to 20% ethanol in the "drinking in the dark" protocol routinely leads to blood ethanol concentrations of ~35-43 mM, with females at the high end of that range (Dutton et al. 2016; Rhodes et al. 2007; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). In addition, the *in vitro* brain slice preparation may eliminate innervation from other brain regions that may contribute to the VTA response to ethanol, such as the serotonergic innervation from the Raphe nuclei (Brodie, Trifunovic, and Shefner 1995). Without these synaptic inputs, the VTA DA sensitivity to ethanol may be suppressed.

The Brodie laboratory has demonstrated previously that ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DAergic neurons from male mice is unaltered by GABAergic or glutamatergic antagonists (Nimitvilai et al. 2016). In the present study, I also found that the enhancement of ethanol-

stimulated increase in firing of VTA DA neurons by E2 is not altered by GABA receptor antagonists. Although E2 has been shown to inhibit GABA release in the striatum and hippocampus and alter expression of GABA-A receptor subunits (Huang and Woolley 2012; Schultz et al. 2009; Locci et al. 2017), these data suggest that the ability of E2 to increase ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DA neurons is likely not due to changes in GABA neurotransmission elicited by E2.

In addition to finding enhanced ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus compared with estrus, I observed that treatment of slices acutely with ICI 182,780 reduced ethanol excitation during diestrus, but not estrus. This suggests that ongoing signaling by membrane-bound ERs in the VTA is responsible for the enhanced excitation by ethanol, rather than the effects of ERs on transcription. These observations from mice in diestrus are consistent with the finding that treatment of mice with E2 increases excitation of VTA DA neurons by ethanol. ICI 182,780 is considered to be a "pure" ER α/β antagonist (Howell et al. 2000), but was recently found to act as an agonist at the G protein coupled ER, GPER1 (Thomas et al. 2005). I believe that the ability of ICI 182,780 to block ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DAergic neurons during diestrus is likely due to its inhibition of ER α and/or ER β because activation of GPER1 by ICI 182,780 would have an estrogenic action rather than reversal of the estrogen effect on ethanol potency that we observed. The mechanism of action of ICI 182,780 on inhibiting ERa activity has been described on multiple levels including interfering with the formation of ER α dimers, inhibiting nuclear translocation, increasing protein degradation, and blocking rapid signaling by membrane-bound ER α (Howell et al. 2000; Dauvois, White, and Parker 1993; Parker 1993; Wade et al. 2001). ICI 182,780 also blocks ERβ-mediated transcriptional activity (Tremblay et al. 1997) and inhibits E2-mediated changes in

amphetamine-stimulated striatal DA release in female rats (Xiao, Jackson, and Becker 2003). The acute reduction of ethanol excitation by ICI 182,780 observed in VTA neurons from mice in the diestrus phase suggests that the increased sensitivity to ethanol during diestrus may be due to active engagement of ERs by E2 in the slice preparation. The E2-mediated enhancement of ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of VTA DA neurons might therefore be due to rapid signaling effects mediated by membrane-bound ERs in the VTA, rather than genomic or transcriptional actions of these receptors, although there is cross-talk between genomic and membrane E2 action observed in regions such as the hippocampus and hypothalamus that could be responsible for the enhancement of ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons (Roepke 2009; Zhao et al. 2005).

In the next two chapters, I investigated which ER subtypes are involved in modulating DA and ethanol sensitivity of VTA DA neurons. I hypothesized that E2 is acting through ER α or ER β . ER β expression has been investigated using a transgenic reporter mouse (Milner et al. 2010) and specific antibodies (Kritzer and Creutz 2008) and is expressed in VTA DA and non-DA neurons. The Lasek laboratory has also performed fluorescent immunostaining for ER α in mouse VTA and have found that ER α is expressed in both VTA DA and non-DA neurons (R. Satta and A.W. Lasek, unpublished results). It is possible that the ability of E2 to affect responses of VTA DA neurons to ethanol and DA are through actions on either ER α and/or ER β . Overall the data presented here indicate that elevated estrogen states, in both gonadally intact and E2-supplemented OVX mice, enhance ethanol excitation and DA inhibition.

2.5 Acknowledgements

Dr. Chang You performed some of the electrophysiological experiments. Thank you.

3. ESTRADIOL ENHANCES VTA DA SENSITIVITY TO ETHANOL THROUGH AN ER α AND MGLUR1-DEPENDENT MECHANISM

3.1 Introduction

Alcohol abuse places an enormous global economic and social burden on our society, and 5.1% of injury and disease is due to alcohol abuse (World Health Organization. Management of Substance Abuse Team). While less women abuse alcohol and begin drinking at an older age compared to men, this gender difference in the incidence of alcohol abuse is decreasing and women progress to dependence more rapidly (Cheng, Cantave, and Anthony 2016; Keyes, Grant, and Hasin 2008; Diehl et al. 2007; Ehlers et al. 2010). Despite their lower drinking levels compared to men, women are more vulnerable to the development of alcohol-related health problems such as liver damage and neurological dysfunction (Rehm et al. 2010; Flannery et al. 2007; Nixon, Tivis, and Parsons 1995; Eagon 2010). Because of this, women need more targeted sex-specific alcohol abuse prevention and treatments.

The factors underlying the gender differences in alcohol abuse may be sociological or biological. Hormones such as estrogen play a critical role in brain development, mood, cognition, pain sensitivity, and drug abuse (Vigil et al. 2016; Luine 2014; Henry et al. 2014; Wharton et al. 2012; Almey, Milner, and Brake 2015; Moran-Santa Maria, Flanagan, and Brady 2014). Female rodents drink more than males, and removing gonadal hormones by OVX reduces drinking in females, suggesting that hormones produced by the ovaries may drive sex differences in alcohol use (Barker et al. 2010; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002a; Forger and Morin 1982; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). Supplementation with E2 in OVX rodents increases ethanol intake (Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018), while supplementation with progesterone does not (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002a), indicating the important role of E2 in regulating ethanol consumption in females.

The mesolimbic DAergic system, which consists of VTA DAergic neurons and their projections, plays an important role in mediating the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse (Wise 1987; Weiss et al. 1993). Ethanol increases the basal firing rate of VTA DAergic neurons *in vivo* (Gessa et al. 1985) and *in vitro* (Brodie, Shefner, and Dunwiddie 1990) and induces the release of DA from VTA neurons into their target regions such as the nucleus accumbens, which is also involved in alcohol abuse (Weiss et al. 1993). In Chapter 2, I showed that high E2 states in gonadally intact and OVX female mice increase the ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of VTA DAergic neurons. An acute treatment with an ER α /ER β antagonist reverses this enhancement in neurons from females in the diestrus phase, suggesting that E2 actions on ethanol sensitivity in the VTA may be due to rapid signaling mechanisms (Vandegrift et al. 2017).

ERs can signal through genomic or non-genomic (rapid) signaling mechanisms (Vrtacnik et al. 2014). In addition to the GPER, ER α and ER β are also associated with and signal from the membrane. Estrogen binding to membrane-bound ERs activates many rapid signaling pathways including those controlled by calcium, adenylate cyclase, phosphoinositide 3 kinase, mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPK), tyrosine kinase, and CREB (Wu, Chen, and Brinton 2011; Titolo et al. 2008; Qiu et al. 2003; Cavalcanti et al. 2015). Activation of membrane-bound ERs can also converge with genomic (nuclear) ER signaling to alter transcription (Marino, Galluzzo, and Ascenzi 2006). Estrogen receptors can also transactivate GPCRs, such as mGluRs, on the membrane in a glutamate-independent manner (Seredynski et al. 2015; Boulware, Heisler, and Frick 2013). The type I mGluRs, mGluR1 and mGluR5, are coupled to G_{q/11}, and activation of

mGluR1 leads to increased phospholipase C (PLC) activity (Niswender and Conn 2010). Acamprosate, a compound that is clinically effective in decreasing relapse in patients with alcohol dependence (Mason 2001), may mediate these effects partially through its action on mGluR5 (Harris et al. 2002). Treatment with mGluR1 and mGluR5 antagonists decreases ethanol reward and consumption in male rodents (Backstrom et al. 2004; Lominac et al. 2006), but it is not known if this is mediated in part through mGluRs coupled to ER.

ER α and ER β are both expressed in the VTA (Lasek Lab, unpublished), but it is not yet known which of these receptors and downstream signaling pathways might mediate E2 modulation of ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DAergic neurons. To identify which ER is involved, I used specific agonists and antagonists of ER α and ER β in OVX and gonadally intact female mice. In order to determine if mGluR1 is required for the E2 enhancement of VTA DA sensitivity to ethanol, an mGluR1 antagonist was used in either OVX female mice supplemented with E2 or in gonadally-intact female mice in estrus or diestrus. I found that E2 enhances VTA DA sensitivity to ethanol through an ER α and mGluR1-dependent mechanism in female mice.

3.2 <u>Methods</u>

3.2.1 <u>Animals</u>

Female C57BL/6J mice (8 weeks old) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). Mice were 10-14 weeks old at the time of experiments. Animal care adhered to the National Institutes of Health *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* and all procedures were approved by the UIC Animal Care Committee.

3.2.2 Vaginal Cytology

The estrous cycles of gonadally-intact female mice were assessed by vaginal cytology as previously described in Chapter 2. A large quantity of cornified epithelial cells in the smear is

present during estrus, while the cellular composition of smears from mice in diestrus II (herein referred to diestrus) is predominately leukocytes (Nelson et al. 1982). These phases differ in circulating E2 levels and are characterized by a longer duration compared to proestrus and metestrus/diestrus I (Nilsson et al. 2015).

3.2.3 Ovariectomy and drug treatments

The technique for mouse OVX has been described previously in Chapter 2 (Vandegrift et al. 2017; Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). DPN, PPT, and E2-benzoate were prepared in solutions of sesame oil with 10% ethanol (VEH). DPN and PPT were prepared to a final concentration of 0.5 mg/ml, and mice were injected subcutaneously with ~1 mg/kg at volumes of 50 μ L. Mice were treated once per day for three days, and mice were injected one hour prior to euthanization on the final day. For E2-treated mice, 50 μ l of 0.2 μ g E2 was injected subcutaneously on the first two days and 50 μ l of 1 μ g E2 on the third day. This dosage of E2 was chosen because it results in E2 plasma levels similar to proestrus levels (Vandegrift et al. 2017).

3.2.4 Extracellular recording & drug administration

VTA-containing brain slices were prepared for electrophysiology as previously described in Chapter 2 (Dutton et al. 2017; Brodie, Pesold, and Appel 1999). Putative DA VTA neurons were identified both anatomically and based on electrophysiological characteristics that have been well established in the literature and in the Brodie lab (Brodie, Shefner, and Dunwiddie 1990). Spike frequency (firing rate) was recorded and changes in firing rate were determined as previously described. A calibrated infusion pump was used to apply drugs to the aCSF from stock solutions prepared at 100-1000 times final concentration. In some of the experiments, the selective ER β and ER α antagonists, 4-[2-Phenyl-5,7-*bis*(trifluoromethyl)pyrazolo[1,5*a*]pyrimidin-3-yl]phenol (PHTPP) and 1,3-*Bis*(4-hydroxyphenyl)-4-methyl-5-[4-(2-

piperidinylethoxy)phenol]-1*H*-pyrazole dihydrochloride (MPP; Tocris Biosciences, Minneapolis, MN) were administered via the micropipette by adding the drug to the microelectrode filling solution. In these cases, drugs were added to the 0.9% NaCl microelectrode filling solution and time was permitted for the antagonists to diffuse from the recording pipette into the extracellular space around the neuron being recorded.

3.2.5 Statistical analysis

Averaged numerical values are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons were made using one-way ANOVA, two-way ANOVA or two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons tests as appropriate (Origin, Originlab, Northampton, MA or Prism, Graphpad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA). A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.3 <u>Results</u>

3.3.1 VTA neuron characteristics

In this study, a total of 74 VTA neurons from 48 mice were recorded. The initial firing rates of these neurons ranged from 0.54 to 4.66 Hz, and the mean firing rate was 1.92 ± 0.11 Hz. There was a significant difference in baseline firing rate in the freely cycling mice with a mean firing rate of 2.28 ± 0.25 Hz during estrus and 1.71 ± 0.18 Hz during diestrus (t_{33} =1.89, P = 0.0338). There were no significant differences in baseline firing rate between the treated OVX mice with a mean firing rate of 2.34 ± 0.38 Hz in VEH-treated, 1.57 ± 0.23 Hz in PPT-treated, and 1.97 ± 0.33 Hz in DPN-treated OVX mice (one-way ANOVA, $F_{2,25} = 1.452$, P = 0.2532). All of the neurons in this study conformed to the rate and patterns of VTA DAergic neurons as previously described in Chapter 2.

3.3.2 <u>Activation of estrogen receptor α enhances sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to</u> ethanol in ovariectomized mice

I demonstrated in Chapter 2 that E2 enhances the ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DA neuronal firing in OVX female mice (Vandegrift et al. 2017). The Lasek lab has shown that both ER α and ER β are expressed in VTA DAergic neurons (Lasek Lab, unpublished). In order to determine which ER regulates the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol, I tested ethanol-induced excitation (40-120 mM) of VTA DAergic neurons from OVX female mice treated with PPT (an ER α -specific agonist), DPN (an ER β -specific agonist), or VEH. VTA neurons from OVX mice treated with PPT showed significantly higher ethanol-induced excitation compared with neurons from DPN-treated and VEH-treated mice. (Figure 10, n= 10-11 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, concentration: $F_{2,56} = 57.02$, P < 0.0001; treatment: $F_{2,28} =$ 4.05, P = 0.0284; concentration x treatment interaction: $F_{4.56} = 0.0237$, P = 0.0237). In response to bath application of 80 mM ethanol, neurons from PPT-treated mice had an increase in firing rate of $18.5 \pm 6.2\%$ whereas neurons from DPN- and VEH-treated mice had an increase in firing rate $7.7 \pm 5.7\%$ and $11.1 \pm 9.3\%$, respectively. Post-hoc Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons test demonstrated a significant increase in ethanol-stimulated increase in firing in VTA DAergic neurons from mice treated with PPT compared with VEH in response to 80 mM (P < 0.05) and 120 mM (P < 0.05) ethanol. This finding indicates that activation of ER α enhances the response of VTA DA neurons to ethanol in OVX mice. These results suggest that the E2-induced enhancement of ethanol sensitivity I previously reported is likely due to activation of ERa.

3.3.3 <u>Estrogen receptor α in the VTA acutely regulates ethanol sensitivity in freely</u> cycling female mice
In order to determine whether ER α in the VTA acutely regulates ethanol sensitivity in gonadally intact female mice at different estrous cycle phases, I administered MPP, an ERaspecific antagonist, and PHTPP, an ER β -specific antagonist, to neurons using the recording pipette during the recordings. This pipette delivery method has been successfully used by the Brodie lab and was described in Chapter 2 (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012; Vandegrift et al. 2017). In this protocol, 80 mM ethanol was tested initially during the recording and 60 minutes later, which allowed time for the antagonist to diffuse from the recording pipette onto the cell of interest. A 60-minute treatment with MPP had no effect on the excitatory response to 80 mM ethanol of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in estrus, but decreased the excitatory response of ethanol of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus (Figure 11 A-C, n = 5-6 per group, twoway RM ANOVA, treatment: $F_{1,9} = 7.455$, P = 0.0232; phase: $F_{1,9} = 3.504$, P = 0.0940; treatment x phase interaction: $F_{1,9} = 10.50$, P = 0.0102). Post-hoc Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons test demonstrated a significant difference in ethanol-induced excitation in estrus and diestrus before treatment with MPP, consistent with my previous findings (Vandegrift et al. 2017). After allowing 60 min for the diffusion of MPP from the pipette, there was no longer a difference in ethanol-induced excitation in diestrus compared to estrus (P = 0.6014). Neurons from mice in the diestrus phase initially responded to 80 mM ethanol with a $15.9 \pm 0.8\%$ increase in firing rate, but after MPP delivery, the response to 80 mM ethanol was only $9.6 \pm 1.3\%$. In contrast, neurons from mice in the estrus phase initially responded to 80 mM ethanol with a $9.9 \pm 1.4\%$ increase in firing rate, and after MPP delivery, the response to 80 mM ethanol was similar ($10.5 \pm 1.1\%$ increase). These results suggest that ERa acutely regulates ethanol sensitivity in the VTA in an estrous cycle phase-dependent manner.

In contrast, PHTPP did not affect ethanol sensitivity of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus or diestrus. Consistent with my previous results in Chapter 2 (Vandegrift et al. 2017), there was a significant main effect of estrous phase, indicating enhanced ethanol excitation in neurons from mice in diestrus compared to estrus (Figure 11 D-F, n = 5-6 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, treatment: $F_{1,9} = 0.1836$, P = 0.6784; phase: $F_{1,9} = 7.174$, P = 0.0253; treatment x phase interaction: $F_{1,9} = 0.0879$, P = 0.7735). Neurons from mice in diestrus initially responded to 80 mM ethanol with an 18.1 ± 7.5% increase in firing rate, and after 60 minutes PHTPP delivery, the response to 80 mM ethanol was a 17.4 ± 10.0% increase in firing rate. This finding suggests that ER β does not acutely regulate ethanol sensitivity in the VTA. Together, these results indicate that ER α , but not ER β , enhances the ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DA neurons in female mice, but only during a specific phase of the estrous cycle when E2 levels are rising.



Figure 10: The ERa-specific agonist PPT enhances ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons.

Extracellular recordings were obtained from VTA DA neurons in OVX mice previously treated systemically with DPN, PPT, or VEH (A-C) Representative rate meter graphs showing responses to 40-120 mM ethanol of a representative VTA DA neuron from an OVX mouse treated with VEH (A), DPN (B), or PPT (C). (D) Pooled concentration-response graphs shows ethanol (40, 80, and 120 mM) responses in VTA DA neurons. OVX mice treated with PPT (n=10), but not DPN (n=10), show enhanced excitation to ethanol compared with VEH (n=10). *P < 0.05 by post hoc Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons test.



Figure 11: ER α antagonist in the VTA acutely reduces the sensitivity of DA neurons to ethanol from mice in diestrus.

(A-B) Representative rate meter graphs showing response to 80 mM ethanol before and during treatment with MPP in slices containing the VTA from mice in estrus (A) and diestrus (B). (C) Pooled responses to 80 mM ethanol of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus (n=5) and diestrus (n=6) before and after treatment of slices with MPP. The enhanced VTA DA neuron excitation to ethanol that was observed in mice from diestrus was decreased after treatment with MPP, whereas the ethanol responses of DA VTA neurons from mice in estrus are unchanged by MPP. *P < 0.05 by two-way RM ANOVA, #P < 0.05 between mice and estrus and diestrus before MPP treatment by post-hoc Sidak's multiple comparisons test. (D-E) Representative rate meter graphs showing responses to 80 mM ethanol before and during treatment with PHTPP in slices containing the VTA from mice in estrus (D) and diestrus (E). (F) Pooled responses to 80 mM ethanol of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus (n=5) before and after treatment of slices with PHTPP. There was no change in ethanol excitation with PHTPP, but there was a significant effect of cycle phase. *P < 0.05 by two-way ANOVA.

3.3.4 <u>Metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 is required for the estradiol-induced</u> enhancement of ethanol excitation

E2 has been shown to activate mGluRs in hippocampal (Huang and Woolley 2012) and striatal neurons (Grove-Strawser, Boulware, and Mermelstein 2010). In order to determine if a similar mGluR activation occurs in the E2-mediated modulation of ethanol-simulated firing, the response to 40-120 mM ethanol was measured in DA neurons from gonadally-intact females in either diestrus or estrus before and after 45 minutes of bath application of the mGluR1 antagonist, JNJ 16259685 ($0.2 \mu M$) or DMSO vehicle. JNJ16259685 did not have an effect on ethanol-stimulated increase in firing in VTA DAergic neurons from females in estrus (Figure 12 A, C, n = 5 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, treatment: $F_{1,4} = 0.1755$, P = 0.6968; concentration: $F_{2,8} = 60.66$, P < 0.0001; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,8} = 1.512$, P = 0.2773), but did decrease excitation of DA neurons to ethanol from females in diestrus (Figure 12 B, D, n = 6 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, treatment: $F_{1,5} = 7.037$, P = 0.0453; concentration: $F_{2,10} = 7.290$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction: $F_{2,10} = 2.173$, P = 0.0111; treatment x concentration interaction inter 0.1634). As an example, neurons from mice in the diestrus phase initially responded to 80 mM ethanol with an increase in firing rate of $12.9 \pm 1.4\%$, and after 45 minutes of incubation with JNJ16259685, the neurons responded to ethanol with an increase in firing rate of $6.2 \pm 2.4\%$. This finding suggests that mGluR1 is required for the enhancement of ethanol excitation in gonadally-intact females during diestrus.

In order to further investigate the role of E2 in the mGluR1-dependent enhancement of ethanol excitation, OVX female mice were supplemented with E2 or VEH for 3 days prior to electrophysiological experiments. I measured the response to 40-120 mM ethanol in VTA DAergic neurons from OVX mice treated with E2 or VEH before and after 45 minutes of bath

application of the mGluR1 antagonist, JNJ16259685 (0.2 μ M) or DMSO vehicle. Similar to my findings in mice in estrus, mGluR1 inhibition did not have an effect on ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of VTA DAergic neurons from OVX mice treated with VEH (Figure 13 A, C, n = 5 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, treatment: F_{1,4} = 0.5215, P = 0.5102; concentration: F_{2,8} = 21.47, P = 0.0006; treatment x concentration interaction: F_{2,8} = 1.386, P = 0.3401), whereas JNJ16259685 decreased excitation of VTA DAeric neurons to ethanol from OVX mice treated with E2 (Figure 13 B, D, n = 6 per group, two-way RM ANOVA, treatment: F_{1,5} = 10.44, P = 0.0232; concentration: F_{2,10} = 23.51, P = 0.0002; treatment x concentration interaction: F_{2,10} = 2.463, P = 0.1350). For example, neurons from E2-treated OVX mice initially responded to 80 mM ethanol with an increase in firing rate of 18.6 ± 2.8%, and after 45 minutes of JNJ16259685 exposure, the neurons responded to ethanol with an increase in firing rate of 9.9 ± 3.1%. These results suggest that E2-mediated enhancement of excitation by ethanol is through a mGluR1-dependent mechanism.



Figure 12: An mGluR1 antagonist blocks enhancement of ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons from mice in diestrus.

(A-B) Representative rate meter graphs showing response to 40-120 mM ethanol before and after JNJ in slices containing the VTA from mice in estrus (A) and diestrus (B). (C) Pooled responses to 40-120 mM ethanol of VTA DA neurons from mice in estrus (n=5) before and after treatment of slices with JNJ shows no change in ethanol-stimulated increase in firing (D) Pooled responses to 40-120 mM ethanol of VTA DA neurons from mice in diestrus (n=6) before and after treatment of slices with 0.2 μ M JNJ. The ethanol excitation of neurons from females in diestrus was significantly reduced after JNJ. *P < 0.05 by two-way RM ANOVA.



Figure 13: An mGluR1 antagonist blocks enhancement of ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons in E2-treated OVX mice.

(A-B) Representative rate meter graphs showing response to 40-120 mM ethanol before and after JNJ16259685 in slices containing the VTA from OVX mice treated with VEH (A) or E2 (B). (C) Pooled responses to 40-120 mM ethanol of VTA DA neurons from VEH-treated OVX mice (n=5) before and after treatment of slices with JNJ16259685 shows no change in ethanol-stimulated increase in firing. (D) Pooled responses to 40-120 mM ethanol of VTA DA neurons from E2-treated OVX mice (n=6) before and after treatment of slices with 0.2 μ M JNJ16259685. The ethanol excitation of neurons from E2-treated OVX mice was significantly reduced after JNJ16259685. *P < 0.05 by two-way RM ANOVA.

3.4 Discussion

My results show that E2 enhances the ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DAergic neurons through activation of ER α and mGluR1. Here I tested the ethanol responses of VTA DAergic neurons using specific ER agonists in OVX mice and ER antagonists in freely-cycling female mice. I also tested the ethanol responses of VTA DAergic neurons from OVX mice and freely-cycling female mice using a specific antagonist for mGluR1.

Ethanol excitation was enhanced in VTA neurons from OVX mice treated with PPT (ER α agonist) compared to DPN (ER β agonist) and VEH. The concentrations of PPT and DPN were chosen to balance receptor selectivity with occupancy (Sepehr et al. 2012; Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). The increased ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of neurons from OVX mice treated with an ER α agonist predicts that activation of ER α by E2 would lead to increased DA release, which may contribute to increased rewarding and reinforcing effects of ethanol (Di Chiara and Imperato 1988; Weiss et al. 1993).

Consistent with my results with the ER α /ER β antagonist ICI 182780 that I showed in Chapter 2, an acute treatment with MPP, a selective ER α antagonist, reduced ethanol excitation during diestrus, but not estrus. An acute treatment with PHTPP, an ER β antagonist, did not change ethanol excitation in estrus or diestrus. These results indicate that activation of ER α is required to mediate the enhancement of ethanol-stimulated increase in firing during diestrus. Together, the agonist and antagonist experiments indicate that activation of ER α , but not ER β , increases the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol in female mice.

The enhancement of ethanol sensitivity in the VTA by ER α may affect alcohol drinking by females (Di Chiara and Imperato 1988; Weiss et al. 1993). Female rodents generally drink more ethanol than males (Priddy et al. 2017; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). Because E2-

treated and gonadally intact female mice drink more than OVX and male mice, increased drinking by females may be due, in part, to the actions of E2 through activation of ER α in the VTA (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2004, 2002a). Although alcohol consumption does not appear to change along the estrous cycle of rodents, the rapid nature of the 4-day estrous cycle and the timing of drinking protocols may mask E2 effects on alcohol consumption in females (Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002b).

The VTA also plays a critical role in ethanol reward, as measured by the CPP test. ER activity could also could also increase ethanol CPP (Bechtholt and Cunningham 2005). While E2 enhances ethanol CPP in OVX female mice, this requires activation of both ER α and ER β (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). Although my results indicate that activation of only ER α is required for the E2-enhancement of ethanol stimulated firing of VTA neurons, ER β may also play a role in ethanol reward and reinforcement. The exact roles of ER α and ER β on ethanol reward needs to be further investigated.

Treatment of slices with the mGluR1 antagonist JNJ16259685 significantly reduced ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus and in E2-treated OVX mice, but not from mice in estrus and in VEH-treated OVX mice. These results indicate that mGluR1is required for E2-mediated enhancement of ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of VTA DAergic neurons. It is unknown, however, what role mGluR1 plays in enhancing ethanol sensitivity and whether ERα directly or indirectly interacts with mGluR1. Membrane bound ERs co-immunoprecipitate with mGluRs in experiments with cultured cells, and ERs are functionally coupled to mGluRs in the hippocampus, striatum, and preoptic nucleus (Dewing et al. 2007; Grove-Strawser, Boulware, and Mermelstein 2010; Oberlander and Woolley 2016). In addition

to the 'rapid' non-genomic effects, ER/mGluR signaling may also have downstream effects on gene transcription (Meitzen and Mermelstein 2011).

ER α /mGluR1 signaling can affect VTA DA firing through direct or indirect mechanisms. There are sex-specific and brain region-specific effects of ER/mGluR on CREB phosphorylation, L-type calcium channel currents, and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling (Boulware et al. 2005; Grove-Strawser, Boulware, and Mermelstein 2010). In the hippocampus, E2 suppresses the inhibition of CA1 pyramidal neurons by GABA, and this is through ER α /mGluR1 activation and retrograde endocannabinoid action through CB1R on inhibitory inputs (Huang and Woolley 2012). Interestingly, this was observed in females, but not males. A similar mechanism could be occurring in VTA DA neurons where ER α activation of mGluR1 could lead to the suppression of inhibitory inputs through endocannabinoids acting on the CB1Rs of GABAergic neurons. In VTA neurons from male mice, JNJ16259685 induced LTD of inhibitory currents through CB1R and reduced cocaine CPP (Yu et al. 2013). Future studies should investigate the mechanism of E2-mediated enhancement of ethanol sensitivity through mGluR1 activation.

ER/mGluR signaling plays a role in sexual behaviors in both male and female animals. ER α activation of mGluR1 in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus enhances sexual receptivity in female rodents (Dewing et al. 2007). Interactions between ER β and mGluR1 also enhance sexual behaviors in male Japanese quail (Seredynski et al. 2015). In addition to the role in natural rewards, there is evidence for ER/mGluR signaling to play important roles in drug reward (Tonn Eisinger et al. 2018). In rodents, E2-induced enhancement of cocaine intake in OVX females is through mGluR5 activation, and an antagonist of mGluR5 reverse the E2 enhancement of cocaine self-administration (Martinez et al. 2016). Amphetamine-induced DA

release in the striatum is enhanced by E2, and mGluR5 is required for this effect (Song et al. 2019). mGluRs play important roles in alcohol abuse, for example mGlur5 antagonists reduce alcohol consumption and relapse (Backstrom et al. 2004; Schroeder, Overstreet, and Hodge 2005; Schroeder et al. 2008). Future studies should therefore investigate how the interactions between ERs and mGluRs may modulate ethanol reward and abuse in females.

4. ESTRADIOL ENHANCES VTA SENSITIVITY TO DA THROUGH ACTIVATION OF ERα AND ERβ

4.1 Introduction

Hormones such as E2 have been implicated in natural and drug reward processes (Yoest, Cummings, and Becker 2014). The VTA and the mesolimbic DAergic pathway play a central role in motivation and rewarding effects of natural and drug rewards, and E2 actions on DAergic pathways regulates reproductive behavior (Foreman and Hall 1987; Balthazart, Baillien, and Ball 2002) and drug abuse (Calipari et al. 2017; Carroll et al. 2004). More broadly, this interplay between estrogen and DA systems may also play important roles in the influence of gender on the incidence of many psychiatric diseases such as schizophrenia, Alzheimer's, and Parkinson's disease (Watson et al. 2010). Understanding the mechanisms of hormonal effects on DA neurotransmission is important for developing therapeutics that will be effective in both sexes.

Previous studies have demonstrated sex differences in DAergic systems which may drive sex differences in drug abuse (Becker 1999). In humans, females exhibit increased cortical and striatal AMPH-induced DA release (Riccardi et al. 2006) and ratios of DA metabolite DOPAC/DA in the putamen, which suggests females have higher turnover rates for DA (Konradi et al. 1992). Females also have higher levels of cortical D2R (Kaasinen et al. 2001) and DAT in the striatum, diencephalon, and brainstem compared to males (Staley et al. 2001).

Rodent studies have also shown sex differences in DAergic neurotransmission, and hormones may underlie some of these differences (Becker 1999). Striatal DA concentrations vary throughout the estrous cycle of rats, with higher levels in proestrus and estrus compared with diestrus and after OVX. Importantly, decreased DA concentrations after OVX are partially recovered by E2 supplementation (Xiao and Becker 1994). Administration of E2 enhances

amphetamine-stimulated DA release in OVX females but not in castrated or intact male mice (Becker 1990). These studies indicate that striatal DA concentrations and DA release are regulated by E2, and E2 may be driving some of the sex differences in DA neurotransmission and ultimately drug abuse.

There are sex differences in D2R ligand binding, with decreased D2R binding in the rostral lateral striatum in castrated males compared to OVX females, and there is differential regulation of D2R binding in a brain region-specific and sex-specific manner 30 minutes and 4 hours after E2 treatment (Bazzett and Becker 1994). E2 increases D2R in the striatum and nucleus accumbens of female rats through activation of ER β (Le Saux, Morissette, and Di Paolo 2006). These studies show that E2 can modulate the density and ligand binding of D2R in a sex specific manner. Activation of ER has been shown to have cellular effects in the VTA of female rodents. For instance, 27 days of E2 treatment via implant in rats resulted in increased expression of the D3R gene in the VTA (Zhou, Cunningham, and Thomas 2002). The exact mechanisms of E2 effects on DAergic neurotransmission are not fully known, thus investigating these mechanisms may elucidate potential therapeutic targets for dysregulated DAergic systems in conditions such as Parkinson's disease and substance use disorders.

I demonstrated in Chapter 2 that high E2 states in female mice enhance the inhibitory effects of DA on VTA DA neurons in both gonadally-intact and OVX female mice (Vandegrift et al. 2017). It was unknown whether activation of ER α or ER β modulates DA sensitivity in female VTA DAergic neurons. Here I determined whether ER α or ER β mediate the enhanced inhibition of VTA DAergic neurons by DA. I used OVX mice treated with DPN and PPT and performed electrophysiology experiments. I found that activation of ER α or ER β alone does not

modulate DA inhibition, however, activation of both ER α and ER β mimics the enhancement of DA inhibition of VTA DAergic neurons by E2 (Vandegrift et al. 2017).

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Animals

Female C57Bl/6J mice (8 weeks old) were ordered from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA), and electrophysiological experiments were conducted between 10-14 weeks of age. Animal care adhered to the National Institutes of Health *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* and all procedures were approved by the UIC the Animal Care Committee.

4.2.2 Ovariectomy and in vivo drug treatments

OVX and *in vivo* drug treatments were performed as described in Chapter 2 (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018; Vandegrift et al. 2017). Briefly, the ER β agonist (DPN), and the ER α agonist (PPT) were prepared in a sesame oil with 10% ethanol vehicle (VEH). Mice were treated with PPT or DPN SC for three days, and the last injection was done 1 hour prior to sacrifice on the last day of treatment. Mice that were treated with either PPT or DPN, received one 50 µl injection per day of 1 mg/kg DPN or PPT (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018; Sepehr et al. 2012). Mice that were treated with both PPT (1 mg/kg) and DPN (1 mg/kg) received two sequential 50 µl injections per day, and the control mice were treated with two sequential 50 µl VEH injections a day for a total of three days.

4.2.3 Brain slice preparation and extracellular recording

For the electrophysiological studies, mice were sacrificed 1 hour after the last injection. VTA-containing brain slices were prepared as described in Chapter 2 (Brodie et al. 1999). DA was administered during the electrophysiological experiments by adding stock solutions (100 to 1000 times the final concentrations) into the aCSF via a calibrated infusion pump, which allowed the DA to fully mix with the aCSF prior to reaching the chamber. The final concentration was determined according to the flow rate and concentration of the stock solution.

4.2.4 <u>Statistical Analysis</u>

Averaged numerical values are presented as the mean \pm SEM. All other statistical comparisons were made using two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons tests as appropriate (Prism, Graphpad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA). A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 VTA neuron characteristics

A total of 31 neurons from 20 mice were used for electrophysiological recordings. The baseline firing rates ranged from 0.79 to 3.76 Hz with an average firing rate of 1.82 ± 0.13 Hz. There were no significant differences in firing rates between the VEH-, DPN-, and PPT-treated groups (VEH: 1.26 ± 0.31 Hz, DPN: 1.8 ± 0.25 Hz, PPT: 1.55 ± 0.33 Hz, one-way ANOVA, $F_{2,17} = 0.09$, P = 0.9346) or between the VEH+VEH- and DPN+PPT-treated groups (VEH+VEH: 2.12 ± 0.37 Hz, DPN+PPT: 1.39 ± 0.15 Hz, $t_5 = 7.29$, P = 0.077).

4.3.2 DPN and PPT alone do not affect DA inhibition of VTA DA neurons

I have previously shown that high levels of E2, in both gonadally-intact and OVX female mice treated with E2, enhances the inhibitory effects of DA on VTA DAergic neurons (Vandegrift et al. 2017). In order to determine whether activation of ER α or ER β mediates this increase in DA sensitivity, OVX mice were treated subcutaneously for three days with selective agonists prior to electrophysiology experiments. Because our group has shown ER α and ER β are expressed in the VTA (Rosalba Satta, Rex Tai, and Amy Lasek, unpublished), OVX mice were treated with agonists for ER α (PPT; 1 mg/kg), ER β (DPN; 1 mg/kg) or vehicle (VEH). There were no differences in DA inhibition (0.5-10 μ M) among the VEH-, DPN-, and PPT-treated mice (Figure 14, n = 5-8/group, two-way RM ANOVA, concentration: F_{4,68} = 52.89, P < 0.0001; treatment: F_{2,17} = 0.2084, P = 0.8139; concentration x treatment interaction: F_{8,68} = 1.328, P = 0.2446). For example, neurons from OVX mice treated with VEH responded to 5 μ M DA with a -62.0 ± 14.8% decrease in firing rate, and mice treated with DPN or PPT responded to the same concentration of DA with -68.7 ± 11.9% and -57.5 ± 13.0% decreases in firing rates, respectively. These results suggest that activation of ER α or ER β alone does not affect the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to DA.

4.3.3 <u>Combined treatment with DPN and PPT enhance DA inhibition of VTA DA neurons</u> <u>from ovariectomized mice</u>

Because treatment with individual agonists selective for ER α or ER β did not affect the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to DA, I hypothesized that activation of both ER α and ER β may be required to enhance DA sensitivity. To test this hypothesis, OVX mice were treated for three days with 50 µl of 1 mg/kg DPN and 50 µl of 1 mg/kg PPT (DPN+PPT) or two injections of 50 µl VEH (VEH+VEH) each day. Neurons from OVX mice treated with DPN+PPT showed an enhanced sensitivity to DA compared to OVX mice treated with VEH+VEH (Figure 15, n = 5-6/group, two-way RM ANOVA, concentration: F_{4,36} = 55.06, P < 0.0001; treatment: F_{1,9} = 6.352, P = 0.0327; concentration x treatment interaction: F_{4,36} = 5.051, P = 0.0025). Sidak's posthoc multiple comparisons test demonstrated a significant difference between the response to 2 µM (P = 0.0018) and 5 µM (P = 0.0063) DA between DPN+PPT and VEH+VEH treated OVX mice. OVX mice treated with VEH+VEH responded to 5 µM DA with a 55.8 ± 14.0% reduction in firing rate while DPN+PPT treated OVX mice responded to 5 µM DA with a 100 ± 0%

reduction in firing rate. These results suggest that activation of both ER α and ER β are required to enhance the DA sensitivity of VTA DA neurons.



Figure 14: DPN and PPT alone do not affect DA inhibition of VTA DA neurons from OVX mice.

Extracellular recordings were performed in the VTA from OVX mice that were previously treated with DPN, PPT, or VEH for three days. Representative ratemeter graphs showing the effects of (a) VEH (n = 8), (b) DPN (n = 8), and (c) PPT (n = 5) treatment in OVX females on DA inhibition of VTA DA neurons. (d) Pooled DA-concentration response curves, showing that inhibition by DA is unaffected by DPN or PPT treatment alone compared to VEH.



Figure 15: Combined treatment with DPN and PPT enhance DA inhibition of VTA DA neurons from OVX mice.

Extracellular recordings were performed in the VTA from OVX mice that were previously treated with two treatments of VEH per day or with both DPN and PPT for three days. Representative ratemeter graphs showing the effects of (a) VEH+VEH (n = 6) and (b) DPN+PPT (n = 5) treatment. (c) Pooled DA-concentration response curves, showing that DPN+PPT treatment enhances inhibition by DA compared to VEH-VEH treatment in OVX female mice. *P < 0.5 by two-way RM ANOVA; **P < 0.005 by Sidak's post hoc multiple comparisons

4.4 Discussion

I demonstrated in Chapter 2 that high E2 states enhance the inhibition by DA in VTA neurons in female mice (Vandegrift et al. 2017). The goal of the experiments in this chapter were to determine which ERs modulate the DA sensitivity of VTA DA neurons. Here I have shown that activation of both ER α and ER β is required to enhance VTA DA inhibition in OVX female mice. I found that separate treatment with an ER α (PPT, 1 mg/kg) or ER β (DPN, 1 mg/kg) agonists did not alter VTA DA responses. OVX mice treated with both ER α and ER β agonists, however, showed increased sensitivity to DA. These results suggest that the ability of E2 to increase the inhibitory effect of DA on VTA neurons is through activation of both ER α and ER β .

The dosage of DPN+PPT treatments may have a stronger effect on the DA inhibition compared to the E2 dosage from Chapter 2. In Chapter 2 I showed that OVX mice treated with E2 responded to 5 μ M DA with a 65.6 \pm 13.4% reduction in firing rate while DPN+PPT treated OVX mice responded to 5 μ M DA with a 100 \pm 0% reduction in firing rate. This may be due to stronger receptor occupancy at the doses of PPT and DPN that I used. PPT has a higher affinity to full length ER α and a truncated isoform of ER α compared to E2 (Lin et al. 2013; Stauffer et al. 2000).

I demonstrated in Chapter 2 that an acute treatment of VTA slices with an antagonist of ER α and ER β (ICI 182,780) did not alter the DA sensitivity of VTA neurons (Vandegrift et al. 2017), suggesting that the effects of E2 on DA inhibition are not through rapid ER signaling in the VTA DA neurons. My results instead suggest that E2 alters VTA DA sensitivity through a process requiring more time to take effect. This might be due to transcriptional changes induced by E2. Upon ligand binding, ERs can form homo- and heterodimers which regulate gene transcription in the nucleus (Cowley et al. 1997; Paulmurugan et al. 2011; Kuntz and Shapiro

1997). It is unknown if simultaneous activation of ER α /ER α and ER β /ER β homodimers or activation of an ER α /ER β heterodimer is required to modulate DA sensitivity in the VTA. In order to investigate the possible role of heterodimer activation in DA sensitivity of VTA neurons, agonists specific for heterodimers, but not homodimers, could potentially be used. Compounds that specifically promote ER heterodimer formation have been identified and could potentially be used in future experiments (Coriano et al. 2018). Alternatively, activation of ER α and ER β in separate brain regions may also mediate these effects, and further studies will be needed to investigate the mechanism of ER α and ER β activation in DA sensitivity.

The VTA is integral in the development of ethanol reward (Bechtholt and Cunningham 2005). CPP is a test used for the rewarding effects of drugs such as ethanol (Prus, James, and Rosecrans 2009), and the VTA plays a critical role in the acquisition of ethanol CPP (Bechtholt and Cunningham 2005). Interestingly, E2 enhances CPP in OVX mice, and co-activation of both ER α and ER β is required (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). D2R also plays a role in the acquisition of ethanol CPP. Ethanol CPP is decreased in D2R knockout mice (Cunningham et al. 2000). It is possible that the mechanism for E2 enhancement of DA inhibition in the VTA may also play a role in the enhancing effects that E2 has on ethanol CPP. Future studies are required to explore this relationship.

Activation of ERs may modulate the autoinhibitory effects of DA on VTA DA neurons by modulating the expression, trafficking, and activity of proteins involved in DA neurotransmission. In general, E2 strengthens DA transmission by increasing the synthesis and release of DA (Pasqualini et al. 1995, 1996; Xiao and Becker 1998) and decreasing the re-uptake of DA (Watson et al. 2006; Disshon, Boja, and Dluzen 1998). Twenty-seven days of E2 treatment via implant in OVX female rats increased the mRNA expression for D3R in the VTA

(Zhou, Cunningham, and Thomas 2002). Estrogen increases the density of D2R on the plasma membrane in the nucleus accumbens and striatum (Chavez et al. 2010; Roy, Buyer, and Licari 1990). Because studies have either shown a decrease or no change in the mRNA expression of the D2R gene in the striatum in response to E2 supplementation in OVX rodents (Le Saux, Morissette, and Di Paolo 2006; Lammers et al. 1999), it is possible that estrogen increases the density of D2R by increasing the trafficking of D2R to the membrane. Increased plasma membrane-associated D2R on VTA DA neurons would be predicted to augment the autoinhibitory effect of DA.

These studies are limited by the use of one dose of DPN and PPT which were chosen to ensure receptor selectivity while also maintaining high receptor occupancy (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018; Sepehr et al. 2012). Different doses and treatment protocols may reveal that activation of either ER α or ER β alone may alter DA inhibition in VTA DAergic neurons, however, higher doses of these agonists would be non-selective for specific isoforms of ERs. Future studies should therefore focus on other methods such as genetic modification of ER α and ER β expression in the VTA. Future studies will also investigate the mechanisms downstream of ER α and ER β activation.

5. ESTRADIOL ENHANCES DOPAMINE D2 RECEPTOR DESENSITIZATION IN THE VTA

5.1 Introduction

E2 plays an important role in modulating DAergic systems and reward-related behaviors (Yoest, Cummings, and Becker 2014). VTA DAergic neurons express the rate-limiting enzyme involved in DA synthesis, TH (Molinoff and Axelrod 1971), and they have D2R autoreceptors on their soma and dendrites that mediate inhibitory regulation of their excitability (Adell and Artigas 2004; Aghajanian and Bunney 1977). D2R levels and activity are generally decreased in addiction (Volkow et al. 1990; Martinez et al. 2004; Volkow et al. 1997; Hietala et al. 1994), and are regulated in part by trafficking, endocytosis, and desensitization. GRKs and PKC phosphorylate D2R, resulting in clathrin-mediated internalization of D2R through β -arrestin and dynamin and subsequent endosomal sorting (Namkung and Sibley 2004; Namkung et al. 2009; Paspalas, Rakic, and Goldman-Rakic 2006). Prolonged stimulation of the D2-like receptors by DA results in the decreased responsiveness to DA inhibition in a time- and concentrationdependent manner through a mechanism involving PLC and PKC (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012), a process termed DA inhibition reversal (DIR) (Nimitvilai and Brodie 2010). Previous work from the Brodie and Lasek laboratories demonstrated that ALK, a receptor tyrosine kinase, regulates DIR in VTA DAergic neurons, but not acute responses to DA (Dutton et al. 2017). E2 regulates ALK gene expression via ERa (Lasek et al. 2011).

E2 can regulate D2R density, desensitization, and activity. E2 increases the density of D2R without changes in gene expression in the striatum, suggesting that E2 may regulate the trafficking of D2R to or from the plasma membrane or internalization and degradation of the receptor (Le Saux, Morissette, and Di Paolo 2006; Bosse and DiPaolo 1996). In the nucleus

accumbens and caudate nucleus, E2 decreases the density of D2R (Chavez et al. 2010). E2 increases the desensitization of D2R in the anterior pituitary in OVX rats (Pasqualini, Bojda, and Kerdelhue 1986). The role of E2 in modulating the density, desensitization, internalization, and trafficking of D2R in the VTA, however, is unknown.

In this Chapter, I investigated the role of E2 in regulating D2R desensitization in the VTA of female mice. I determined that E2 promotes the desensitization of D2R in the VTA of OVX female mice. Additionally, I measured the expression of genes involved in DA neurotransmission and found that *Alk* expression was increased in E2-treated OVX mice, providing a potential mechanism by which DIR is increased in mice treated with E2.

5.2 <u>Methods</u>

5.2.1 Animals

Female C57Bl/6J mice (8 weeks) were ordered from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). Electrophysiological and molecular experiments were conducted at 10-14 weeks of age. Animal care adhered to the National Institutes of Health *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* and all procedures were approved by the UIC the Animal Care Committee.

5.2.2 Ovariectomy and in vivo drug treatments

OVX and *in vivo* drug treatments were performed as described in Chapter 2 (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018; Vandegrift et al. 2017). Briefly E2 benzoate was prepared in a sesame oil with 10% ethanol vehicle (VEH). Mice were treated SC for three days with 50 μ l of 0.2 μ g E2 on the first two days and 50 μ l of 1 μ g E2 on the third day. This dosage of E2 was chosen because it results in E2 plasma levels similar to proestrus levels (Vandegrift et al. 2017).

5.2.3 Brain slice preparation and extracellular recording

For the electrophysiological studies, mice were sacrificed one hour after the last injection. VTA-containing brain slices were prepared as described in Chapter 2 (Brodie et al. 1999). DA was administered during the electrophysiological experiments by adding stock solutions (100 to 1000 times the final concentrations) into the aCSF via a calibrated infusion pump, which allowed the DA to fully mix with the aCSF prior to reaching the chamber. The final concentration was determined according to the flow rate and concentration of the stock solution.

5.2.4 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)

VTA tissue was collected from OVX mice one hour after the final injection on the third day for qPCR experiments. The total RNA from the VTA tissue was isolated using the GeneJet RNA Purification Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Schaumburg, IL, USA). Following reverse transcription of the RNA to cDNA using the Maxima First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific), Maxima qPCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific) was used to perform qPCR. All procedures were performed according to the manufacturer's protocols. The sequences of primers used were: tyrosine hydroxylase (*Th*) forward primer: 5'-

TCTTGAAGGAACGGACTGGC -3', *Th* reverse primer:5'- GAGTGCATAGGTGAGGAGGC-3'; DA D2 receptor short isoform (*Drd2s*) forward primer: (5'-

CACCACTCAAGGATGCTGCCCG3', Drd2s and Drd2l reverse primer: 5'-

GTTGCTATGTAGACCGTG -3', DA D2 receptor long isoform (*Drd2l*) forward primer: 5'-AACTGTACCCACCCTGAGGA-3'; DA D3 receptor (*Drd3*) forward primer: 5'-

CCTCTGAGCCAGATAAGCAGC-3'; Drd3 reverse primer, 5'-

AGACCGTTGCCAAAGATGATG-3'; and anaplastic lymphoma kinase (*Alk*) forward primer: 5'- TGCCGCTCTCATTGATCCTC -3', *Alk* reverse primer: 5'-

TGCTTCCGACGGTACACAAT - 3'. Relative expression of *Th*, *Drd2s*, *Drd2l*, and *Drd3*, were calculated using the dCq method with *Rpl13a* as a normalization control (*Rpl13a* forward primer: 5'-TACCAGAAAGTTTGCTTCCTGGGG-3'; *Rpl13a* reverse primer: 5'-TGCCTGTTTCCGTAACCTCAAG).

5.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Averaged numerical values are presented as the mean \pm SEM. qPCR data were analyzed by Student's t-test. All other statistical comparisons were made using two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons tests as appropriate (Prism, Graphpad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA). A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

5.3 <u>Results</u>

5.3.1 VTA neuron characteristics

A total of 10 neurons from 10 mice were recorded in electrophysiological experiments. The baseline firing rates ranged from 0.73 to 3.03 Hz with an average firing rate of 2.16 ± 0.28 Hz. There were no significant differences between firing rates between the groups (VEH: 2.42 ± 0.38 Hz, E2: 1.91 ± 0.43 Hz, $t_4 = 1.23$, P = 0.8442).

5.3.2 <u>Ovariectomy disrupts dopamine inhibition reversal and supplementation with</u> <u>estradiol restores dopamine inhibition reversal</u>

Because of the role of E2 in regulating the desensitization of D2R in the anterior pituitary (Pasqualini, Bojda, and Kerdelhue 1986), I investigated if E2 treatment affected DIR in OVX female mice. DIR is a process by which DA inhibition diminishes during prolonged administration of DA, and this phenomenon reflects the desensitization of D2R (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012; Nimitvilai and Brodie 2010; Nimitvilai, McElvain, et al. 2012). I measured the response of VTA DA neurons to a concentration of DA that inhibited each neuron

by at least 50%; this concentration was administered over 40 minutes onto the slices from OVX mice that were treated with E2 or VEH (Figure 16). The concentration of DA used to establish initial inhibition was $6.9 \pm 1.4 \mu$ M and $6.0 \pm 3.5 \mu$ M in slices from OVX mice treated with VEH and E2, respectively. After five minutes of DA administration, the initial inhibition to DA was - $58.8 \pm 6.0\%$ in neurons from OVX mice treated with VEH. Interestingly, after 40 minutes of DA administration, the inhibition to DA was $-73.8\% \pm 16.3\%$, indicating that DIR did not occur in neurons from the VEH-treated OVX mice. In contrast, the initial inhibition to DA in neurons from E2-treated OVX mice was -74.6% \pm 8.6%, and after 40 minutes the inhibition to DA was - $23.7 \pm 7.1\%$ (n = 5/group, two-way RM ANOVA, time: $F_{7.56} = 2.856$, P = 0.0128; treatment: $F_{1,8} = 11.07$, P = 0.0104; time x treatment interaction: $F_{7,56} = 7.285$, P < 0.0001). Sidak's posthoc multiple comparisons test demonstrated a significant reduction in the inhibitory response to DA at the 15 (P = 0.0219), 20 (P = 0.0028), 25 (P = 0.0010), 30 (P = 0.0021) 35 (P < 0.0001) and 40 (P < 0.0001) minute time points compared to the initial 5-minute time point in E2-treated OVX mice. On the other hand, Sidak's post-hoc multiple comparisons test demonstrated a significant increase in the inhibitory response to DA at the 10 (P = 0.0450), 15 (P = 0.0293), 20 (P = 0.0143), 25 (0.0332), 30 (P = 0.0275) and 35 (P = 0.0188) minute time point compared to the initial 5-minute time point in neurons from VEH-treated OVX mice. These results indicate that, similar to what has been established in VTA slices from male mice (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012; Nimitvilai and Brodie 2010; Nimitvilai, McElvain, et al. 2012), OVX mice treated with E2 exhibit DIR in response to prolonged administration of DA. In contrast, OVX mice treated with VEH do not exhibit DIR. This suggests that E2 is required for desensitization of D2R in the VTA of female mice.



Figure 16. OVX prevents DIR and supplementation with E2 restores DIR.

Extracellular recordings were performed in OVX female mice treated with E2 or VEH for three days. Representative ratemeter graphs showing the effects of (a) VEH (n = 5) and (b) E2 (n = 5) on a 40-minute DA application. (c) Pooled DA-concentration response curves, showing inhibition to a concentration of DA that initially decreased the firing rate by at least 50% in each neuron as a function of time. DIR was abolished in VTA DA neurons from the control-treated OVX mice, and was restored in E2-treated OVX mice. *P < 0.05 by two-way RM ANOVA;

5.3.3 <u>Increased expression of Alk in the VTA in ovariectomized mice treated with</u> estradiol compared to vehicle

To test if the expression of key proteins involved in DA synthesis, signaling, and desensitization are altered by E2 in the VTA, we measured gene expression of VTA tissue from OVX mice treated with E2 (0.2 µg on the first 2 days and 1 µg on the final day) or VEH for 3 days. Because ALK regulates desensitization of D2R in the VTA of male mice (Dutton et al. 2017) and the fact that ALK expression in the striatum is regulated by E2 (Lasek et al. 2011), I measured Alk expression in the VTA after E2 treatment. Additionally, in order to investigate if E2 regulates the expression of D2-like receptors and the rate-limiting enzyme for DA synthesis, I measured the expression of tyrosine hydroxylase (Th), DA D2 receptor short isoform (Drd2s), DA D2 receptor long isoform (Drd2l), DA D3 receptor (Drd3), and anaplastic lymphoma kinase (Alk). There were no differences in expression of Th, Drd2s, Drd2l, and Drd3 in OVX mice treated with E2 compared to VEH-treated mice (Figure 17A-D). Interestingly, Alk expression was significantly increased by 111% in the VTA of OVX mice treated with E2 compared to VEH (Figure 17 e, n = 7/group, t_{12} = 2.5, P = 0.0257). ALK has been shown to be involved in the desensitization of D2R in the VTA (Dutton et al. 2017), and the Lasek lab has shown that ALK regulates the internalization of D2R (Donghong He, Hu Chen, Amy W. Lasek, unpublished results). These results suggest that E2 may be modulating desensitization and trafficking of D2R via increased ALK levels.



Figure 17. Increased expression of *Alk* in the VTA in OVX mice treated with E2 compared to VEH.

VTA RNA samples from OVX mice treated with VEH (n = 7) or E2 (n = 7) in the VTA were analyzed by qPCR for expression of (a) *Th*, (b) *Drd2s*, (c) *Drd2l*, (d) *Drd3*, and (e) *Alk*. There was a significant increase in *Alk* expression in VTA samples from OVX mice treated with E2 compared with VEH. *P < 0.05 by student's t-test.

5.4 Discussion

OVX mice treated with E2 exhibit desensitization of D2R in response to prolonged administration of DA. In contrast, OVX mice treated with VEH do not exhibit desensitization. The desensitization by DA in the VTA has been well established in male rodents (Nimitvilai, Arora, et al. 2012; Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012; Nimitvilai and Brodie 2010). I found that similar to what is observed in male mice, OVX female mice supplemented with E2 exhibited DIR, whereas DIR was abolished in VEH-treated OVX mice. I did not fully investigate DIR in freely-cycling female mice in a similar manner, but I would predict that DIR would be enhanced during the higher E2 phases diestrus and proestrus, and DIR would be decreased in the lower E2 phases estrus and metestrus.

Because of the role ALK plays in the desensitization of D2R in the VTA, this led me to investigate the expression of *Alk* in the VTA from OVX mice treated with E2. These results show that while there were no changes in the mRNA expression of several genes involved DA neurotransmission, including *Th*, *Drd2s*, *Drd2l*, and *Drd3*, there was a significant increase in the expression of *Alk* in OVX mice supplemented with E2 compared to VEH-treated. This increase in *Alk* expression is consistent with an E2-mediated increase in *Alk* in the striatum of male and female mice (Lasek et al. 2011). E2 activation of ER α may increase *Alk* expression since ER α binds to the *Alk* promotor in cultured cells (Lasek et al. 2011). Increased ALK expression/activity in OVX mice treated with E2 would be expected to promote desensitization of the D2R upon prolonged agonist stimulation, since ALK inhibition blocks D2R desensitization in male mice (Dutton et al). Future experiments could examine if an ALK inhibitor can block E2-mediated DIR in females, thus linking the increase in ALK to DIR in OVX mice treated with E2. Additionally, future studies should determine if increasing/activating ALK can reproduce the enhancement of DIR in females in a low E2 state.

Inhibiting ALK in the VTA decreases D2R desensitization without changing the initial inhibition or excitation to acute applications of DA or ethanol (Dutton et al. 2017). Prolonged activation of D2R may transactivate ALK, since GPCRs are known to transactivate receptor tyrosine kinases such as ALK (Cattaneo et al. 2014; Delcourt, Bockaert, and Marin 2007) and lead to the internalization and degradation of D2R and ALK. Both ALK and D2R are internalized by agonist stimulation (Mazot et al. 2012; Bartlett et al. 2005). Because D2R desensitization in the VTA is through a PKC-mediated pathway (Nimitvilai, Arora, and Brodie 2012), and ALK can activate PKC signaling through phospholipase C- γ (Bai et al. 1998), ALK may enhance D2R desensitization through increased PKC signaling.

The expression of *Th*, *Drd2s*, *Drd2l*, and *Drd3* was also measured in OVX mice supplemented with E2, and there were no changes. However, other studies have shown that E2 can alter the expression of these genes. Twenty-seven days of E2 treatment via implant resulted in increased expression of the D3R gene in the VTA of female rats (Zhou, Cunningham, and Thomas 2002). The effects of E2 on *Th* expression vary depending on species, brain region, dose, and duration of E2 treatment, and discrepancies remain on the precise role of E2 on changing TH levels (Liaw et al. 1992; Serova et al. 2002; Curran-Rauhut and Petersen 2003; Pau et al. 2000). In a pituitary tumor cell line and in the pituitary of rats, E2 increases D2L expression (Guivarc'h, Vincent, and Vernier 1998; Oomizu, Boyadjieva, and Sarkar 2003), and ER α mRNA expression is positively correlated with D2L in human prolactinomas and gonadotrope tumors. The ratio of D2S and D2L varies by brain region (Mack, Todd, and O'Malley 1991; Neve et al. 1991; Montmayeur et al. 1991). Changes in the ratio of the D2S and D2L have been implicated in altered drug-related behaviors in mice (Radl et al. 2018; Bulwa et al. 2011). Knockdown of D2L increases ethanol intake in both sexes (Bulwa et al. 2011; Wu et al. 2009).

After a 60 minute incubation with a fluorescent agonist in the CHO cell line, a higher percentage of D2S was internalization compared to D2L (Tabor et al. 2017). The two isoforms of D2R result from alternative splicing of the sixth exon of the same gene. The long isoform, D2L, is 29 amino acids longer than the short isoform, D2S (Dal Toso et al. 1989; Giros et al. 1989). This results in differences in an intracellular region which regulates $G_{i\alpha}$ coupling (Senogles 1994; Guiramand et al. 1995), and this region could also be responsible for the differences in internalization (Clayton et al. 2014). Although there were no changes in mRNA expression of D2S and D2L, there may be differences in protein levels or densities of each isoform on the plasma membrane. Future studies should further investigate the mechanisms of E2 enhancement of D2R desensitization.

6. CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Introduction

There are considerable gender differences in alcoholism, including differences in the amount of use, age of initiation, reasons for abuse, development of comorbidities, and severity of health problems (Becker, Perry, and Westenbroek 2012). Although generally more men drink than women, this gender gap is narrowing (Cheng, Cantave, and Anthony 2016; Keyes, Grant, and Hasin 2008). Gender differences may be due to a combination of sociocultural, economic, developmental, and biological factors (Becker and Koob 2016; Holmila and Raitasalo 2005; Kuhn 2015). Hormones may play a key role in gender differences in addiction and alcoholism, and evidence suggests that estrogen might contribute to higher levels of alcohol drinking in females (Becker, Perry, and Westenbroek 2012; Carroll et al. 2004; Carroll and Anker 2010; Anker and Carroll 2011). Studies investigating the differences in alcohol consumption during the normal human menstrual cycle are conflicting and indeterminate; thus, the precise role that the hormonal cycle has on alcohol intake on females is unknown (Becker and Koob 2016). Much of the research on the VTA, a brain region responsible for the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse (Koob and Volkow 2010), has been established in male subjects. Therefore, the purpose of this dissertation was to examine the role of E2 in modulating VTA physiology in female mice. I demonstrated that E2 enhances the ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DA neurons through activation of ERa and mGluR1. I also demonstrated that E2 enhances the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to DA through co-activation of ER α and ER β . Finally, I showed that E2 promotes the desensitization of D2R in VTA DAergic neurons. Together, the results from my work indicate that E2 regulates DAergic neurotransmission in the VTA and increases the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA.

6.2 Estradiol increases the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol and DA

Using both gonadally intact and OVX female mice, I demonstrated that high E2 states increase VTA DAergic neuron sensitivity to ethanol; this alteration in the neurophysiological response to alcohol may affect alcohol drinking in females. Increases in the basal firing rate of DAergic neurons is associated with burst firing (Grace and Bunney 1984, 1980). Burst firing induces a large release of DA in target regions (Gonon 1988; Chergui, Suaud-Chagny, and Gonon 1994), and this is thought to mediate the rewarding and reinforcing effects of drugs of abuse (Schultz 2002; Phillips et al. 2003). Ethanol-induced DA release in the prefrontal cortex is prevented in OVX rats and is recovered by E2 supplementation (Dazzi et al. 2007). The E2 effects on VTA DAergic neuron excitation and DA release may modulate drinking behaviors.

A study by the Lasek lab investigating binge-like drinking throughout the estrous cycle of female mice found no difference in ethanol intake in any of the phases (Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). This finding is consistent with other studies in rats that did not observe any effects of the estrous cycle on ethanol consumption (Priddy et al. 2017; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002b). One study found that while there was no estrous cycle effect on self-administration of ethanol in freely-cycling female rats, rats with synchronized estrous cycles exhibited decreased administration of ethanol in estrus and proestrus (Roberts et al. 1998). Another group found decreased ethanol intake during proestrus (Forger and Morin 1982), when circulating E2 serum levels are the highest (Nilsson et al. 2015). Because of the inconsistencies in the effects of the estrous cycle on drinking, hormonal effects on ethanol consumption during the estrous cycle may be subtle, and the short duration of the phases may make it difficult to experimentally detect changes in drinking behaviors within a group of rodents who are not synchronized depending on the protocol. Furthermore, circulating hormones during the estrous cycle may have opposing
effects on drinking behaviors. For instance, supplementation of OVX rats with progesterone decreased ethanol intake whereas supplementation with E2 enhanced ethanol intake (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002a).

Many studies in rodents have demonstrated enhancing effects of E2 on drinking behaviors (Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2004; Rajasingh et al. 2007; Reid, Hubbell, and Reid 2003; Ford, Eldridge, and Samson 2002a; Marinelli, Quirion, and Gianoulakis 2003; Quirarte et al. 2007; Satta, Hilderbrand, and Lasek 2018). However, some studies have reported that E2 decreases drinking in rodents (Almeida et al. 1998; Sandberg, David, and Stewart 1982). These discrepancies may be due to strain or treatment differences. Additionally, E2 injections in female mice increases preference for ethanol in a CPP experiment through activation of ER α and ER β (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). The role of E2 on drinking behaviors in humans is less clear. Blood E2 levels are positively correlated with alcohol consumption in women (Muti et al. 1998), however ethanol consumption might increase circulating E2 levels. Female rats on a chronic liquid diet containing ethanol have increased serum E2 levels (Emanuele et al. 2001), suggesting that ethanol can affect E2 production and secretion (Rachdaoui and Sarkar 2013).

I have also shown that high E2 states increases the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to DA. Because high E2 states increase the sensitivity of VTA DAergic neurons to ethanol (Chapter 2) and increase the rewarding properties of natural rewards and other drugs (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018; Satta et al. 2018; Oldenburger, Everitt, and de Jonge 1992), the increase in the sensitivity of VTA neurons to inhibition by DA may be compensating for an overall enhanced sensitivity to rewarding and other excitatory stimuli.

D2R activation plays an important role in decreasing the activity of VTA DAergic neurons, DA production, and release (Beckstead et al. 2004; White and Wang 1984; Benoit-

Marand, Borrelli, and Gonon 2001; De Mei et al. 2009), and the expression and activity of D2R is implicated in drug abuse (de Jong et al. 2015; Tacelosky et al. 2015; Ji et al. 2017). The E2induced enhancement in the sensitivity to DA inhibition could also affect responses to psychostimulants such as cocaine and amphetamine, and E2 effects on DAergic neurotransmission may partially mediate sex differences in psychostimulant abuse. Women begin using cocaine at a younger age than men, more rapidly escalate from drug use to dependence, and experience more severe craving (Griffin et al. 1989; Kosten et al. 1993; Robbins et al. 1999). In rats, females will acquire cocaine self-administration and CPP more rapidly and readily than males (Lynch and Carroll 1999; Carroll et al. 2002; Russo et al. 2003; Hu et al. 2004; Zakharova, Wade, and Izenwasser 2009). Supplementation of E2 in OVX rats increases cocaine and amphetamine stimulated DA release in the nucleus accumbens, cocaine self-administration, and CPP (Lynch et al. 2001; Hu et al. 2004; Segarra et al. 2010; Segarra et al. 2014; Tobiansky et al. 2016; Thompson and Moss 1994). However, an E2-mediated increase in the sensitivity of D₂-like DA receptors to DA inhibition may not be consistent with E2 enhancement of cocaine taking behaviors. While the increase in D2R agonist potency may not be relevant to cocaine self-administration, the increase in DIR would reduce the sensitivity to DA, and decrease the action of D2R on cell bodies and terminals. A decrease in the activity of D2R may promote cocaine taking behaviors. Mutant mice that do not express D2R have increased cocaine self-administration (Cunningham et al. 2000).

A difference between E2 regulation of ethanol and DA sensitivity was demonstrated by the acute in vitro treatment with ICI 182,780. An acute treatment with the ER α /ER β antagonist reduced the ethanol excitation of VTA DA regic neurons from mice in the diestrus phase, but it had no effect on the inhibition of VTA DA neurons by DA in neurons from mice. These results

suggest that ERs in the VTA acutely affect ethanol excitation of VTA DAergic neurons, but not inhibition by DA. The reversal of enhanced excitation by ethanol of VTA DAergic neurons from mice in diestrus with an acute treatment of an ER antagonist suggests that signaling by membrane-bound ERs in the VTA may be responsible for the enhanced ethanol excitation and 'classical' genomic signaling may be responsible for the enhanced DA inhibition.

ICI 182,780 actions on ER α include interfering with the dimerization of ER α , blocking nuclear translocation, increasing ER α degradation, and blocking rapid signaling of ER α from the membrane (Howell et al. 2000; Dauvois, White, and Parker 1993; Wade et al. 2001). ICI 182,780 can block the transcriptional effects of ERB (Tremblay et al. 1997), and may also act as an agonist for GPER (Thomas et al. 2005). I believe that the ability of ICI 182,780 to block ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DA neurons during diestrus is likely due to its inhibition of ERα and/or ERβ because activation of GPER1 by ICI 182,780 would have an estrogenic action rather than reversal of the estrogen effect on ethanol potency that we observed. Additionally, GPER was not observed in the VTA using immunohistochemistry in male and female rats (Hazell et al. 2009). Few other studies have investigated the effects of ICI 182,780 on the reward circuitry and behavior. Intracerebroventricular injection of ICI 182,780 in female rats decreases cocaine sensitization and CPP (Segarra et al. 2014). The E2-induced paced mating behavior in female rats is reduced with ICI 182,780 in the striatum (Xiao, Jackson, and Becker 2003). Additionally, the E2-induced increase in striatal DA release in response to amphetamine and KCI is also reduced with ICI 182,780 in female rats (Xiao, Jackson, and Becker 2003; Song et al. 2019). Interestingly, this E2-induced enhancement of DA release in response to amphetamine is also blocked by a mGluR5 antagonist (Song et al. 2019).

To summarize, the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to DA and ethanol is enhanced by E2 in female mice. The differences between DA and ethanol sensitivity in response to acute treatment with $ER\alpha/ER\beta$ antagonist suggests that the E2 effects on ethanol sensitivity may be due to rapid signaling mechanisms, and the E2 effects on DA sensitivity may be due to genomic mechanisms. I next investigated which ER and which downstream signaling pathways might mediate E2 modulation of ethanol and DA sensitivity of VTA DA neurons in female mice.

6.3 <u>Estradiol enhances ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons through activation of</u> estrogen receptor α and metabotropic glutamate receptor 1

Using OVX mice supplemented with agonists specific for ER α and ER β and ER antagonists in freely-cycling female mice, I showed that E2 enhances the ethanol-induced excitation of VTA DA neurons through activation of ER α . The concentrations of PPT and DPN were chosen to balance receptor selectivity with occupancy (Sepehr et al. 2012). Since only one dose of DPN was used in these experiments, it is still possible that ER β may still play a role in modulating the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol. In order to further investigate the role of ER α and ER β in modulating the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to ethanol, future experiments could knockdown/knockout or upregulate expression of *Esr1* and *Esr2* in the VTA. In addition, it would be useful to determine if treatment with an ER α -selective antagonist blocks enhancement of ethanol-stimulated increase in firing of VTA DA neurons in OVX mice supplemented with E2 to more conclusively establish that E2 is acting through ER α to enhance ethanol excitation.

Because treating slices acutely with ICI 182,780 and an ER α -selective antagonist (MPP) reversed the enhanced ethanol sensitivity of VTA DA neurons from mice in diestrus, this suggests that signaling from membrane-bound ER α may mediate the enhanced excitation by

ethanol, rather than 'classical' genomic effects of ER α . ER localized at the plasma membrane in neurons can rapidly signal through PKA, PLC, and MAPK pathways (Nabekura et al. 1986; Minami et al. 1990; Mobbs et al. 1991; Aronica, Kraus, and Katzenellenbogen 1994; Watters et al. 1997). Membrane bound ER α and GPER promote the sexual behavior lordosis in rats (Long et al. 2017; Dewing et al. 2007). In the medial preoptic nucleus, membrane bound ER α promotes sexual receptivity of female rats through activation of mGluR1 (Dewing et al. 2007). The role of rapid ER α signaling should be investigated in future studies by acutely applying E2 or specific ER agonists onto slices containing the VTA. I was unable to keep E2 in solution in the aCSF used in the slice preparation, so future work will be needed to troubleshoot this issue.

Because ER α activates mGluRs in a glutamate-independent manner and can regulate many neuronal functions, signaling pathways, and synaptic function (Boulware et al. 2005; Dewing et al. 2007; Huang and Woolley 2012; Boulware, Kordasiewicz, and Mermelstein 2007), I investigated whether transactivation of mGluR1 plays a role in the E2-induced enhancement of ethanol excitation in VTA DA neurons. The inhibitory effects that the mGluR1 antagonist (JNJ16259685) had on ethanol sensitivity of VTA neurons in high E2 states indicates that E2mediated enhancement of ethanol sensitivity of the VTA DA neurons in females is dependent upon activation of mGluR1. ER α /mGluR1 signaling promotes sexual behaviors in female rodents and ER β /mGluR1 signaling promotes sexual behaviors in male Japanese quail (Dewing et al. 2007) (Seredynski et al. 2015). Most of the published literature investigating the role of ER/mGluR signaling in drug abuse has focused on mGluR5. In rodents, ER/mGluR5 activation promotes cocaine intake, cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization, and amphetamine-induced DA release (Martinez et al. 2014; Martinez et al. 2016; Song et al. 2019).

Future studies should more thoroughly investigate the interaction between ER α and mGluR1 in the VTA. ER α co-immunoprecipitates with mGluRs in experiments with cultured cells and are these receptors are colocalized in the hypothalamus (Dewing et al. 2007), so a future study should investigate if there is a physical interaction between ER α and mGluR1 in the VTA. The mGluR1 antagonist experiments should also be repeated in OVX mice supplemented with an ER α agonist. Additionally, it would be interesting to investigate whether this effect is specific for mGluR1, or if antagonists for mGluR5 would have a similar effect. VTA DA neurons in mice express both mGluR1 and mGluR5 (Merrill et al. 2015). It is unknown what downstream pathways following mGluR1 activation modulate ethanol sensitivity of VTA DA neurons, so future studies should also investigate this.

Based on my results, I hypothesize that endocannabinoid signaling following ER α activation of mGluR1 may regulate ethanol sensitivity of VTA DA neurons. It has been shown in hippocampal neurons from female rats that downstream of ER α activation of mGluR1, endocannabinoids retrogradely act on GABAergic synapses to decrease GABA release, thereby disinhibiting CA1 pyramidal cells (Huang and Woolley 2012). Although GABA antagonists had no effect on ethanol sensitivity of neurons from OVX female mice treated with E2 or VEH, it is possible that an effect was not seen because there is a floor effect, i.e. that there was already reduced GABA release onto VTA DA neurons that could not be driven further by GABA antagonists. An alternative explanation might be through regulation of glutamatergic synapses to increase glutamate release. mGluR7 and endocannabinoids can regulate excitatory synapses onto VTA neurons by reducing presynaptic release of glutamate onto VTA DA neurons (Melis et al. 2004; de Rover, Meye, and Ramakers 2008), however this would have the opposite effect on the ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons. It is possible that ER α /mGluR1 activation may modulate

ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons through decreasing GABA release or increasing glutamate release. A more thorough dissection of synaptic circuits using patch-clamp recordings could begin to elucidate whether these mechanisms play a role in the E2-mediated enhancement of ethanol sensitivity in the VTA.

mGluR1 could also directly regulate the excitability of VTA DA neurons by acting on postsynaptic ion channels such as HCN or GIRK. mGluR1 is a $G_{q/11}$ -linked GPCR which induces the release of Ca^{2+} through PIP₃ signaling. Calcium can regulate HCN and firing of neurons (Schwindt, Spain, and Crill 1992). mGluR1 inhibits I_n and enhances the excitability of retinal ganglion cells and cingulate pyramidal neurons (Li et al. 2017; Gao et al. 2016). However, blocking I_n was found to decrease ethanol excitation in VTA DA neurons in male mice (Okamoto, Harnett, and Morikawa 2006), but did not occur in rat VTA neurons (Appel et al. 2003). GIRK channels are activated by ethanol and are important regulators of the excitability of VTA DAergic neuron (Lewohl et al. 1999; Kobayashi et al. 1999; Aryal et al. 2009). A global knockout of GIRK3 decreases the ethanol excitation of VTA DA neurons and ethanol-stimulated DA release in the nucleus accumbens (Christensen et al. 2011). E2 increases the function and mRNA expression of GIRK channels in primary rat lactotrophs (Christensen et al. 2011). Future projects should investigate downstream signaling of mGluR1 activation by ER α and potential mechanisms for the regulation of ethanol sensitivity in the VTA.

6.4 <u>Estradiol increases the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to DA through co-</u> activation of estrogen receptor α and estrogen receptor β

I have shown that activation of both ER α and ER β is required to enhance VTA DA inhibition in OVX female mice. These results suggest that the ability of E2 to increase the inhibitory effect of DA on VTA neurons is through activation of both of these receptors.

Interestingly, OVX female mice treated with a combination of DPN and PPT, but not treated with DPN or PPT alone, exhibited enhanced ethanol CPP (Hilderbrand and Lasek 2018). Expression of ethanol CPP is dependent upon mechanisms within the VTA including ionotropic glutamate, opioid, and GABA receptors (Bechtholt and Cunningham 2005; Pina and Cunningham 2016). Gonadally-intact females exhibit stronger ethanol CPP compared to males and OVX females (Torres et al. 2014), indicating that gonadal hormones such as E2 play an important role in the sex differences in the rewarding effects of ethanol. These findings may begin to elucidate the physiological changes in the reward circuitry which may be involved in the modulation of ethanol CPP in female mice, however future work will need to further investigate if there is a role for the E2 modulation of DA sensitivity in the acquisition of ethanol CPP.

6.5 Estradiol promotes the desensitization of DA D2 receptor in VTA DA neurons

OVX mice supplemented with E2 exhibit D2R desensitization upon prolonged agonist stimulation, whereas VEH-treated OVX mice do not. E2 also mediates an increase in the desensitization of D2R in the anterior pituitary in OVX rats (Pasqualini, Bojda, and Kerdelhue 1986). OVX decreases D2R and D1R density in the striatum of rats, and E2 supplementation restores D2R, but not D1R, densities (Bosse and DiPaolo 1996). The E2-mediated increase in the density of D2R is through activation of ER β , and there are no changes in gene expression, suggesting that E2 may regulate the trafficking of D2R to the plasma membrane (Le Saux, Morissette, and Di Paolo 2006). In contrast to the enhancing effects of E2 on D2R density in the striatum, E2 decreases D2R density in the caudate nucleus and nucleus accumbens in OVX rats (Chavez et al. 2010). Additionally, E2 induces the internalization of the mu-opioid receptor in the medial preoptic nucleus in females through the neuropeptide Y-Y1 receptor (Mills, Sohn, and Micevych 2004). The mechanisms through which E2 regulates the internalization and trafficking of D2R in the VTA, and other GPCRS such as MORs, require further investigation. It would be useful to know if E2 alters the surface expression of D2Rs in the female mouse VTA.

Phosphorylation sites on D2R regulate the desensitization and trafficking of D2R (Bofill-Cardona et al. 2000; Namkung and Sibley 2004). Desensitization of D2R following agonist activation involves GRKs or second messenger pathways such as PKC (Namkung et al. 2009; Namkung and Sibley 2004; Nimitvilai, McElvain, and Brodie 2013). GRK phosphorylates D2R and increases the affinity for arrestin-binding and subsequent clathrin-mediated receptor internalization (Namkung et al. 2009). PKC also phosphorylates D2R and can also lead to the internalization of D2R through arrestin and dynamin (Namkung and Sibley 2004).

E2-mediated enhancement of D2R desensitization and decreased D2R function may have effects on drug taking behaviors such as cocaine CPP. Cocaine induces a functional loss of D2R in slices containing the VTA, and this loss is critical for the cocaine-induced changes in glutamatergic potentiation in the VTA (Madhavan et al. 2013). Cocaine effects on excitatory synapses in the VTA play a critical role in the acquisition of cocaine CPP (Dong et al. 2004), so E2-mediated enhancement of D2R desensitization may reinforce cocaine effects in the VTA and increase cocaine CPP.

E2 regulation of D2R desensitization may be mediated by the receptor tyrosine kinase ALK. *Alk* expression was increased in E2-treated OVX mice. *Alk* is also increased in the striatum of male and female mice (Lasek et al. 2011). Because inhibiting ALK blocks D2R desensitization in the VTA of male mice (Dutton et al. 2017), an increase in ALK may promote the desensitization of D2R. ALK can activate PKC signaling through phospholipase C- γ (Bai et al. 1998), so ALK may enhance D2R desensitization through increased PKC signaling. In order to link the increase in ALK to DIR in E2-treated OVX mice, future experiments should

investigate whether inhibiting ALK can block the E2-mediated DIR in females and increasing/activating ALK can reproduce the enhancement of DIR in females in a low E2 state.

6.6 No hormone-dependent differences in basal firing rates in VTA DAergic neurons

I did not see significant differences in basal firing rates of VTA neurons between estrus and diestrus from freely cycling female mice, except for in Chapter 3 where the basal firing rates of neurons from estrus were higher than neurons from mice in diestrus. In experiments described in Chapter 2, I did not observe a significant difference in basal firing rates between neurons from mice in diestrus and estrus (P = 0.09). Additionally, when I pool all of the results from recorded neurons (Chapters 2-5), I do not find significant differences in basal firing rates between neurons from mice in the estrus and diestrus phases from Chapters 2 through 5 (n = 49-52 per group, t₉₉=1.69, P = 0.0984). I also did not observe significant baseline rate differences between DPN-, PPT-, E2-, and VEH-treated OVX female mice. These discrepancies may be due to unknown environmental variables affecting the basal firing properties of the neurons from Chapter 3. The basal firing properties of the neurons depend on factors such as the viability of the slice preparation.

Other studies have reported differences in basal firing activity according to the estrus phase of intact rodents with single-unit extracellular *in vivo* measurements. Basal firing rate and bursting were found to be greater in estrus compared with diestrus (Zhang et al. 2008; Calipari et al. 2017). One potential explanation for this discrepancy is that we recorded from *in vitro* brain slices. The ionic, chemical, and synaptic environment of the neurons changes during slice preparation. The axotomy that occurs during slice preparation can alter the membrane properties, excitability of neurons through changes in potassium currents, (Ungless, Gasull, and Walters 2002), and synaptic inputs (Gariano and Groves 1988). The excitatory inputs responsible for

burst firing in the VTA are disrupted (Gariano and Groves 1988). Other hormones besides estrogen may contribute to changes in baseline firing. Progesterone increases the basal firing rate of VTA DAergic neurons in OVX rats (Zhang et al. 2008). Furthermore, these differences may not be due to direct actions of ER activation in the VTA but may be due to changes in inputs to the VTA induced by the effects of ER activation in other brain regions.

6.7 Summary

The results from this dissertation support a role for E2 in the regulation of DIR and sensitivity to DA and ethanol in the VTA. E2 enhances ethanol sensitivity of VTA DA neurons. High E2 states also results in a change in the balance of D2R autoinhibition, with enhanced acute DA inhibition but also enhancement of the desensitization of D2R, as measured by DIR. The ERs that mediate the enhanced sensitivity to ethanol and DA have been identified, and potential downstream pathways mediating these effects have been proposed, although the mechanism for enhanced DA sensitivity is less clear. The work from this dissertation paves the way for a more in-depth investigation into the mechanistic actions downstream of ER and how E2 enhances behavioral responses to ethanol and other drugs of abuse.



Figure 18. Summary of findings on E2 regulation of VTA DA neurons in female mice

In low E2 states (black), ethanol (EtOH) excites (lightning bolt) VTA DAergic neurons, which leads to the release of DA in target regions and is thought to mediate the rewarding effects of EtOH. DA inhibits the firing of DA neurons through the autoinhibitory D2R. In high E2 states (red), EtOH excitation is enhanced, which may lead to an increase in DA release in target regions and enhancement of ethanol reward. Although inhibition by DA is also enhanced under high E2 states, D2R desensitization may also be enhanced by E2. Together, this may cause a change in the balance of DA neurotransmission in the VTA.

6.8 Future Directions

Although many questions were answered in this dissertation, much remains unknown about E2 actions in the VTA. Future work should primarily focus on (1) how all the phases of the estrous cycle affect VTA DA DIR and sensitivity to DA and ethanol, (2) the mechanisms by which ER α /mGluR1 signaling regulate ethanol sensitivity in the VTA, (3) the mechanisms by which ER α /ER β and GPER regulate DA sensitivity in the VTA, and (4) the mechanisms by which E2 regulates VTA DA DIR.

Mice were staged during estrus and diestrus due to the differences in circulating E2 levels and the longer duration of the phases compared to metestrus and proestrus, however E2 levels are highest during proestrus and actions of the other gonadal hormones fluctuating throughout the estrous cycle may interact with the E2 effects (Nelson et al. 1982). Future studies should expand on this work by thoroughly investigating DIR and the sensitivity to DA and ethanol throughout all phases of the estrous cycle. In mice, circulating E2 is lowest during the estrus phase at less than 0.3 pg/ml, and remain low during metestrus. Serum E2 levels increase during diestrus to around ~6 pg/ml, and then peak during proestrus at ~8 pg/ml (Nilsson et al. 2015). Measuring the electrophysiological properties in all the phases will provide more physiological relevant insight into how E2 interacts with the other naturally occurring hormonal changes in a gonadally-intact female mouse.

This dissertation has provided evidence for the regulation of ethanol sensitivity by ER α signaling through mGluR1 in female VTA neurons, but it remains unknown if ER α is directly interacting with mGluR. Immunohistochemistry can be used to determine if ER α and mGluR1 colocalize in VTA DA neurons, and direct physical interactions can be further demonstrated using co-immunoprecipitation experiments. In order to investigate if mGluR5 also plays a role in

the regulation of ethanol sensitivity, these experiments can be repeated using a selective antagonist for mGluR5 such as 2-Methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine (MPEP). Finally, in order to determine if endocannabinoids regulate ethanol sensitivity downstream of ER α /mGluR1 activation, perhaps through a retrograde signaling mechanism, future studies could use agonists and antagonists for CB1Rs and CB2Rs.

The work completed thus far has demonstrated that the E2 enhancement of DA sensitivity is through activation of both ER α and ER β , but there was no change in the expression of *Th*, *Drd2s*, *Drd2l*, or *Drd3*. Although there were no changes in the expression of these genes critically involved in DA neurotransmission, there may be changes at the translational or protein level. Future studies could use immunohistochemistry or western blot in order to measure protein levels. E2 may also regulate the expression of other proteins involved in DA neurotransmission, such as DAT, so it may be beneficial for future studies to conduct gene expression profiling in the VTA from female mice in low and high E2 states. Finally, E2 may be regulating the density of D2R on the plasma membrane without regulating the expression of D2R. In order to investigate this, future studies should use radioligand binding autography to measure the density of D2R. These experiments would help determine how DA sensitivity is enhanced in high E2 states.

Finally, I have established a novel role of E2 in regulating the desensitization of D2R in the VTA DA neurons of female mice, and this may be due to increased levels of ALK since inhibiting ALK blocks D2R desensitization in male mice (Dutton et al. 2017). In order to begin investigating if the increased levels of ALK contribute to the enhanced desensitization of D2R in the VTA, the effects of inhibiting ALK expression and activity on DIR can be determined. Then, studies should determine if overexpression or activation of ALK can reverse the blocked DIR in

low E2 states. Future studies should also investigate D2R desensitization in the VTA throughout the estrous cycle. Changes in the desensitization of D2R may not completely correlate with changes in circulating E2 levels if other gonadal hormones effect D2R desensitization. Progesterone blocks the E2-mediated enhancement of the µ-opioid receptor internalization (Mills, Sohn, and Micevych 2004). Interestingly, DIR also occurs in male mice, without circulating E2, but local synthesis of E2 may be occurring in the VTA. Aromatase activity is detected in the rodent midbrain of from birth to adulthood (MacLusky et al. 1994), and aromatase protein as measured by immunofluorescence is present in the VTA of adult male mice (MacLusky et al. 1994). In order to determine if locally synthesized E2 plays a role in regulating DIR in both sexes, aromatase inhibitors can be administered onto slices containing the VTA to block local synthesis of E2, and DIR can be measured. If there is no evidence of E2 regulating DIR in male mice, this would be a very intriguing finding and would suggest sex-differences in the mechanisms for the desensitization of D2R.

Taken together, these experiments could provide greater insight into how E2 and the estrous cycle regulates the VTA in females, and could be therapeutically useful in treating alcoholism and other psychiatric disorders involving the VTA in women.

6.9 Overall Conclusions

This body of work is the first to comprehensively explore the role of ER in regulating the physiology of VTA DA neurons, particularly how ERs regulate the sensitivity of VTA DA neurons to DA and ethanol. These changes in VTA functioning may have significant behavioral effects to drive binge drinking and ethanol reward in females. Taken together, these data have provided important information about the VTA in females.

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, J. M., P. A. Johansen, D. Clark, and F. J. White. 1993. 'Electrophysiological effects of putative autoreceptor-selective dopamine agonists on A10 dopamine neurons', J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 265: 963-70.
- Adell, A., and F. Artigas. 2004. 'The somatodendritic release of dopamine in the ventral tegmental area and its regulation by afferent transmitter systems', *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 28: 415-31.
- Agabio, R., I. Campesi, C. Pisanu, G. L. Gessa, and F. Franconi. 2016. 'Sex differences in substance use disorders: focus on side effects', *Addict Biol*, 21: 1030-42.
- Agabio, R., C. Pisanu, G. L. Gessa, and F. Franconi. 2017. 'Sex Differences in Alcohol Use Disorder', *Curr Med Chem*, 24: 2661-70.
- Aghajanian, G. K., and B. S. Bunney. 1977. 'Dopamine"autoreceptors": pharmacological characterization by microiontophoretic single cell recording studies', *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, 297: 1-7.
- Almeida, O. F., M. Shoaib, J. Deicke, D. Fischer, M. H. Darwish, and V. K. Patchev. 1998. 'Gender differences in ethanol preference and ingestion in rats. The role of the gonadal steroid environment', *J Clin Invest*, 101: 2677-85.
- Almey, A., E. J. Filardo, T. A. Milner, and W. G. Brake. 2012. 'Estrogen receptors are found in glia and at extranuclear neuronal sites in the dorsal striatum of female rats: evidence for cholinergic but not dopaminergic colocalization', *Endocrinology*, 153: 5373-83.
- Almey, A., T. A. Milner, and W. G. Brake. 2015. 'Estrogen receptors in the central nervous system and their implication for dopamine-dependent cognition in females', *Horm Behav*, 74: 125-38.
- Anker, J. J., and M. E. Carroll. 2011. 'Females are more vulnerable to drug abuse than males: evidence from preclinical studies and the role of ovarian hormones', *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*, 8: 73-96.
- Appel, S. B., Z. Liu, M. A. McElvain, and M. S. Brodie. 2003. 'Ethanol excitation of dopaminergic ventral tegmental area neurons is blocked by quinidine', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 306: 437-46.
- Aronica, S. M., W. L. Kraus, and B. S. Katzenellenbogen. 1994. 'Estrogen action via the cAMP signaling pathway: stimulation of adenylate cyclase and cAMP-regulated gene transcription', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91: 8517-21.
- Aryal, P., H. Dvir, S. Choe, and P. A. Slesinger. 2009. 'A discrete alcohol pocket involved in GIRK channel activation', *Nat Neurosci*, 12: 988-95.
- Azcoitia, I., J. G. Yague, and L. M. Garcia-Segura. 2011. 'Estradiol synthesis within the human brain', *Neuroscience*, 191: 139-47.
- Backstrom, P., D. Bachteler, S. Koch, P. Hyytia, and R. Spanagel. 2004. 'mGluR5 antagonist MPEP reduces ethanol-seeking and relapse behavior', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29: 921-8.
- Bai, R. Y., P. Dieter, C. Peschel, S. W. Morris, and J. Duyster. 1998. 'Nucleophosmin-anaplastic lymphoma kinase of large-cell anaplastic lymphoma is a constitutively active tyrosine kinase that utilizes phospholipase C-gamma to mediate its mitogenicity', *Mol Cell Biol*, 18: 6951-61.
- Balthazart, J., M. Baillien, and G. F. Ball. 2002. 'Interactions between aromatase (estrogen synthase) and dopamine in the control of male sexual behavior in quail', *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol*, 132: 37-55.

- Barker, J. M., M. M. Torregrossa, A. P. Arnold, and J. R. Taylor. 2010. 'Dissociation of genetic and hormonal influences on sex differences in alcoholism-related behaviors', *J Neurosci*, 30: 9140-4.
- Bartlett, S. E., J. Enquist, F. W. Hopf, J. H. Lee, F. Gladher, V. Kharazia, M. Waldhoer, W. S. Mailliard, R. Armstrong, A. Bonci, and J. L. Whistler. 2005. 'Dopamine responsiveness is regulated by targeted sorting of D2 receptors', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102: 11521-6.
- Bazzett, T. J., and J. B. Becker. 1994. 'Sex differences in the rapid and acute effects of estrogen on striatal D2 dopamine receptor binding', *Brain Res*, 637: 163-72.
- Beato, M. 1989. 'Gene regulation by steroid hormones', Cell, 56: 335-44.
- Beato, M., P. Herrlich, and G. Schutz. 1995. 'Steroid hormone receptors: many actors in search of a plot', *Cell*, 83: 851-7.
- Beaulieu, J. M., and R. R. Gainetdinov. 2011. 'The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors', *Pharmacol Rev*, 63: 182-217.
- Bechtholt, A. J., and C. L. Cunningham. 2005. 'Ethanol-induced conditioned place preference is expressed through a ventral tegmental area dependent mechanism', *Behav Neurosci*, 119: 213-23.
- Becker, J. B. 1990. 'Direct effect of 17 beta-estradiol on striatum: sex differences in dopamine release', *Synapse*, 5: 157-64.
- ———. 1999. 'Gender differences in dopaminergic function in striatum and nucleus accumbens', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 64: 803-12.
 - ——. 2016. 'Sex differences in addiction', *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 18: 395-402.
- Becker, J. B., and E. Chartoff. 2019. 'Sex differences in neural mechanisms mediating reward and addiction', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 44: 166-83.
- Becker, J. B., and M. Hu. 2008. 'Sex differences in drug abuse', *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 29: 36-47.
- Becker, J. B., and G. F. Koob. 2016. 'Sex Differences in Animal Models: Focus on Addiction', *Pharmacol Rev*, 68: 242-63.
- Becker, J. B., A. N. Perry, and C. Westenbroek. 2012. 'Sex differences in the neural mechanisms mediating addiction: a new synthesis and hypothesis', *Biol Sex Differ*, 3: 14.
- Beckstead, M. J., D. K. Grandy, K. Wickman, and J. T. Williams. 2004. 'Vesicular dopamine release elicits an inhibitory postsynaptic current in midbrain dopamine neurons', *Neuron*, 42: 939-46.
- Benoit-Marand, M., E. Borrelli, and F. Gonon. 2001. 'Inhibition of dopamine release via presynaptic D2 receptors: time course and functional characteristics in vivo', *J Neurosci*, 21: 9134-41.
- Berkovitz, G. D., T. R. Brown, and M. Fujimoto. 1987. 'Aromatase activity in human skin fibroblasts grown in cell culture', *Steroids*, 50: 281-95.
- Berridge, K. C. 2007. 'The debate over dopamine's role in reward: the case for incentive salience', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 191: 391-431.
- Berrios, J., A. M. Stamatakis, P. A. Kantak, Z. A. McElligott, M. C. Judson, M. Aita, M. Rougie, G. D. Stuber, and B. D. Philpot. 2016. 'Loss of UBE3A from TH-expressing neurons suppresses GABA co-release and enhances VTA-NAc optical self-stimulation', *Nat Commun*, 7: 10702.
- Blaschko, H. 1942. 'The activity of l(-)-dopa decarboxylase', J Physiol, 101: 337-49.

- Blomqvist, O., J. A. Engel, H. Nissbrandt, and B. Soderpalm. 1993. 'The mesolimbic dopamineactivating properties of ethanol are antagonized by mecamylamine', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 249: 207-13.
- Bobzean, S. A., T. S. Dennis, and L. I. Perrotti. 2014. 'Acute estradiol treatment affects the expression of cocaine-induced conditioned place preference in ovariectomized female rats', *Brain Res Bull*, 103: 49-53.
- Bobzean, S. A., A. K. DeNobrega, and L. I. Perrotti. 2014. 'Sex differences in the neurobiology of drug addiction', *Exp Neurol*, 259: 64-74.
- Bofill-Cardona, E., O. Kudlacek, Q. Yang, H. Ahorn, M. Freissmuth, and C. Nanoff. 2000. 'Binding of calmodulin to the D2-dopamine receptor reduces receptor signaling by arresting the G protein activation switch', *J Biol Chem*, 275: 32672-80.
- Bosse, R., and T. DiPaolo. 1996. 'The modulation of brain dopamine and GABAA receptors by estradiol: a clue for CNS changes occurring at menopause', *Cell Mol Neurobiol*, 16: 199-212.
- Boulware, M. I., J. D. Heisler, and K. M. Frick. 2013. 'The memory-enhancing effects of hippocampal estrogen receptor activation involve metabotropic glutamate receptor signaling', *J Neurosci*, 33: 15184-94.
- Boulware, M. I., H. Kordasiewicz, and P. G. Mermelstein. 2007. 'Caveolin proteins are essential for distinct effects of membrane estrogen receptors in neurons', *J Neurosci*, 27: 9941-50.
- Boulware, M. I., J. P. Weick, B. R. Becklund, S. P. Kuo, R. D. Groth, and P. G. Mermelstein. 2005. 'Estradiol activates group I and II metabotropic glutamate receptor signaling, leading to opposing influences on cAMP response element-binding protein', *J Neurosci*, 25: 5066-78.
- Brodie, M. S., and S. B. Appel. 1998. 'The effects of ethanol on dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area studied with intracellular recording in brain slices', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 22: 236-44.

——. 2000. 'Dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area of C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice differ in sensitivity to ethanol excitation', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 24: 1120-4.

- Brodie, M. S., and T. V. Dunwiddie. 1990. 'Cocaine effects in the ventral tegmental area: evidence for an indirect dopaminergic mechanism of action', *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, 342: 660-5.
- Brodie, M. S., M. A. McElvain, E. B. Bunney, and S. B. Appel. 1999. 'Pharmacological reduction of small conductance calcium-activated potassium current (SK) potentiates the excitatory effect of ethanol on ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 290: 325-33.
- Brodie, M. S., C. Pesold, and S. B. Appel. 1999. 'Ethanol directly excites dopaminergic ventral tegmental area reward neurons', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 23: 1848-52.
- Brodie, M. S., S. A. Shefner, and T. V. Dunwiddie. 1990. 'Ethanol increases the firing rate of dopamine neurons of the rat ventral tegmental area in vitro', *Brain Res*, 508: 65-9.
- Brodie, M. S., R. D. Trifunovic, and S. A. Shefner. 1995. 'Serotonin potentiates ethanol-induced excitation of ventral tegmental area neurons in brain slices from three different rat strains', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 273: 1139-46.
- Bulwa, Z. B., J. A. Sharlin, P. J. Clark, T. K. Bhattacharya, C. N. Kilby, Y. Wang, and J. S. Rhodes. 2011. 'Increased consumption of ethanol and sugar water in mice lacking the dopamine D2 long receptor', *Alcohol*, 45: 631-9.

- Byers, S. L., M. V. Wiles, S. L. Dunn, and R. A. Taft. 2012. 'Mouse estrous cycle identification tool and images', *PLoS One*, 7: e35538.
- Calipari, E. S., B. Juarez, C. Morel, D. M. Walker, M. E. Cahill, E. Ribeiro, C. Roman-Ortiz, C. Ramakrishnan, K. Deisseroth, M. H. Han, and E. J. Nestler. 2017. 'Dopaminergic dynamics underlying sex-specific cocaine reward', *Nat Commun*, 8: 13877.
- Carmeci, C., D. A. Thompson, H. Z. Ring, U. Francke, and R. J. Weigel. 1997. 'Identification of a gene (GPR30) with homology to the G-protein-coupled receptor superfamily associated with estrogen receptor expression in breast cancer', *Genomics*, 45: 607-17.
- Carroll, M. E., and J. J. Anker. 2010. 'Sex differences and ovarian hormones in animal models of drug dependence', *Horm Behav*, 58: 44-56.
- Carroll, M. E., W. J. Lynch, M. E. Roth, A. D. Morgan, and K. P. Cosgrove. 2004. 'Sex and estrogen influence drug abuse', *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 25: 273-9.
- Carroll, M. E., A. D. Morgan, W. J. Lynch, U. C. Campbell, and N. K. Dess. 2002. 'Intravenous cocaine and heroin self-administration in rats selectively bred for differential saccharin intake: phenotype and sex differences', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 161: 304-13.
- Cattaneo, F., G. Guerra, M. Parisi, M. De Marinis, D. Tafuri, M. Cinelli, and R. Ammendola. 2014. 'Cell-surface receptors transactivation mediated by g protein-coupled receptors', *Int J Mol Sci*, 15: 19700-28.
- Cavalcanti, F. N., T. F. Lucas, M. F. Lazari, and C. S. Porto. 2015. 'Estrogen receptor ESR1 mediates activation of ERK1/2, CREB, and ELK1 in the corpus of the epididymis', *J Mol Endocrinol*, 54: 339-49.
- Charette, L., D. L. Tate, and A. Wilson. 1990. 'Alcohol consumption and menstrual distress in women at higher and lower risk for alcoholism', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 14: 152-7.
- Chavez, C., M. Hollaus, E. Scarr, G. Pavey, A. Gogos, and M. van den Buuse. 2010. 'The effect of estrogen on dopamine and serotonin receptor and transporter levels in the brain: an autoradiography study', *Brain Res*, 1321: 51-9.
- Chen, H. H., Y. K. Yang, T. L. Yeh, C. F. Cherng, H. C. Hsu, S. Y. Hsiao, and L. Yu. 2003. 'Methamphetamine-induced conditioned place preference is facilitated by estradiol pretreatment in female mice', *Chin J Physiol*, 46: 169-74.
- Cheng, H. G., M. D. Cantave, and J. C. Anthony. 2016. 'Taking the First Full Drink: Epidemiological Evidence on Male-Female Differences in the United States', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 40: 816-25.
- Chergui, K., M. F. Suaud-Chagny, and F. Gonon. 1994. 'Nonlinear relationship between impulse flow, dopamine release and dopamine elimination in the rat brain in vivo', *Neuroscience*, 62: 641-5.
- Chieng, B., Y. Azriel, S. Mohammadi, and M. J. Christie. 2011. 'Distinct cellular properties of identified dopaminergic and GABAergic neurons in the mouse ventral tegmental area', *J Physiol*, 589: 3775-87.
- Chiodo, L. A., M. J. Bannon, A. A. Grace, R. H. Roth, and B. S. Bunney. 1984. 'Evidence for the absence of impulse-regulating somatodendritic and synthesis-modulating nerve terminal autoreceptors on subpopulations of mesocortical dopamine neurons', *Neuroscience*, 12: 1-16.
- Christensen, A. P., T. P. Oei, and V. J. Callan. 1989. 'The relationship between premenstrual dysphoria and daily ratings dimensions', *J Affect Disord*, 16: 127-32.
- Christensen, H. R., Q. Zeng, M. K. Murawsky, and K. A. Gregerson. 2011. 'Estrogen regulation of the dopamine-activated GIRK channel in pituitary lactotrophs: implications for

regulation of prolactin release during the estrous cycle', *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 301: R746-56.

- Clayton, C. C., P. Donthamsetti, N. A. Lambert, J. A. Javitch, and K. A. Neve. 2014. 'Mutation of three residues in the third intracellular loop of the dopamine D2 receptor creates an internalization-defective receptor', *J Biol Chem*, 289: 33663-75.
- Cleland, W. H., C. R. Mendelson, and E. R. Simpson. 1983. 'Aromatase activity of membrane fractions of human adipose tissue stromal cells and adipocytes', *Endocrinology*, 113: 2155-60.
- Coriano, C. G., F. Liu, C. K. Sievers, M. Liang, Y. Wang, Y. Lim, M. Yu, and W. Xu. 2018. 'A Computational-Based Approach to Identify Estrogen Receptor alpha/beta Heterodimer Selective Ligands', *Mol Pharmacol*, 93: 197-207.
- Cowley, S. M., S. Hoare, S. Mosselman, and M. G. Parker. 1997. 'Estrogen receptors alpha and beta form heterodimers on DNA', *J Biol Chem*, 272: 19858-62.
- Creutz, L. M., and M. F. Kritzer. 2002. 'Estrogen receptor-beta immunoreactivity in the midbrain of adult rats: regional, subregional, and cellular localization in the A10, A9, and A8 dopamine cell groups', *J Comp Neurol*, 446: 288-300.
- Cui, J., Y. Shen, and R. Li. 2013. 'Estrogen synthesis and signaling pathways during aging: from periphery to brain', *Trends Mol Med*, 19: 197-209.
- Cunningham, C. L., M. A. Howard, S. J. Gill, M. Rubinstein, M. J. Low, and D. K. Grandy. 2000. 'Ethanol-conditioned place preference is reduced in dopamine D2 receptor-deficient mice', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 67: 693-9.
- Cunningham, C. L., and C. N. Shields. 2018. 'Effects of sex on ethanol conditioned place preference, activity and variability in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 173: 84-89.
- Curran-Rauhut, M. A., and S. L. Petersen. 2003. 'Oestradiol-dependent and -independent modulation of tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA levels in subpopulations of A1 and A2 neurones with oestrogen receptor (ER)alpha and ER beta gene expression', *J Neuroendocrinol*, 15: 296-303.
- Dal Toso, R., B. Sommer, M. Ewert, A. Herb, D. B. Pritchett, A. Bach, B. D. Shivers, and P. H. Seeburg. 1989. 'The dopamine D2 receptor: two molecular forms generated by alternative splicing', *EMBO J*, 8: 4025-34.
- Darden, J. H., and W. A. Hunt. 1977. 'Reduction of striatal dopamine release during an ethanol withdrawal syndrome', *J Neurochem*, 29: 1143-5.
- Dauvois, S., R. White, and M. G. Parker. 1993. 'The antiestrogen ICI 182780 disrupts estrogen receptor nucleocytoplasmic shuttling', *J Cell Sci*, 106 (Pt 4): 1377-88.
- Dazzi, L., E. Seu, G. Cherchi, P. P. Barbieri, A. Matzeu, and G. Biggio. 2007. 'Estrous cycledependent changes in basal and ethanol-induced activity of cortical dopaminergic neurons in the rat', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32: 892-901.
- de Jong, J. W., T. J. Roelofs, F. M. Mol, A. E. Hillen, K. E. Meijboom, M. C. Luijendijk, H. A. van der Eerden, K. M. Garner, L. J. Vanderschuren, and R. A. Adan. 2015. 'Reducing Ventral Tegmental Dopamine D2 Receptor Expression Selectively Boosts Incentive Motivation', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40: 2085-95.
- De Mei, C., M. Ramos, C. Iitaka, and E. Borrelli. 2009. 'Getting specialized: presynaptic and postsynaptic dopamine D2 receptors', *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 9: 53-8.

- de Rover, M., F. J. Meye, and G. M. Ramakers. 2008. 'Presynaptic metabotropic glutamate receptors regulate glutamatergic input to dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area', *Neuroscience*, 154: 1318-23.
- Delcourt, N., J. Bockaert, and P. Marin. 2007. 'GPCR-jacking: from a new route in RTK signalling to a new concept in GPCR activation', *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 28: 602-7.
- Devaud, L. L., P. Alele, and C. Ritu. 2003. 'Sex differences in the central nervous system actions of ethanol', *Crit Rev Neurobiol*, 15: 41-59.
- Dewing, P., M. I. Boulware, K. Sinchak, A. Christensen, P. G. Mermelstein, and P. Micevych. 2007. 'Membrane estrogen receptor-alpha interactions with metabotropic glutamate receptor 1a modulate female sexual receptivity in rats', *J Neurosci*, 27: 9294-300.
- Di Chiara, G., and A. Imperato. 1988. 'Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 85: 5274-8.
- Diana, M., M. Pistis, S. Carboni, G. L. Gessa, and Z. L. Rossetti. 1993. 'Profound decrement of mesolimbic dopaminergic neuronal activity during ethanol withdrawal syndrome in rats: electrophysiological and biochemical evidence', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90: 7966-9.
- Diana, M., M. Pistis, A. Muntoni, Z. L. Rossetti, and G. Gessa. 1992. 'Marked decrease of A10 dopamine neuronal firing during ethanol withdrawal syndrome in rats', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 221: 403-4.
- Dichter, G. S., C. A. Damiano, and J. A. Allen. 2012. 'Reward circuitry dysfunction in psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders and genetic syndromes: animal models and clinical findings', *J Neurodev Disord*, 4: 19.
- Diehl, A., B. Croissant, A. Batra, G. Mundle, H. Nakovics, and K. Mann. 2007. 'Alcoholism in women: is it different in onset and outcome compared to men?', *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 257: 344-51.
- Ding, Z. M., C. M. Ingraham, Z. A. Rodd, and W. J. McBride. 2015. 'The reinforcing effects of ethanol within the posterior ventral tegmental area depend on dopamine neurotransmission to forebrain cortico-limbic systems', *Addict Biol*, 20: 458-68.
- Disshon, K. A., J. W. Boja, and D. E. Dluzen. 1998. 'Inhibition of striatal dopamine transporter activity by 17beta-estradiol', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 345: 207-11.
- Dong, Y., D. Saal, M. Thomas, R. Faust, A. Bonci, T. Robinson, and R. C. Malenka. 2004. 'Cocaine-induced potentiation of synaptic strength in dopamine neurons: behavioral correlates in GluRA(-/-) mice', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101: 14282-7.
- Dutton, J. W., 3rd, H. Chen, C. You, M. S. Brodie, and A. W. Lasek. 2016. 'Anaplastic lymphoma kinase regulates binge-like drinking and dopamine receptor sensitivity in the ventral tegmental area', *Addict Biol*.
- ———. 2017. 'Anaplastic lymphoma kinase regulates binge-like drinking and dopamine receptor sensitivity in the ventral tegmental area', *Addict Biol*, 22: 665-78.
- Eagon, P. K. 2010. 'Alcoholic liver injury: influence of gender and hormones', World J Gastroenterol, 16: 1377-84.
- Edwards, S. 2016. 'Reinforcement principles for addiction medicine; from recreational drug use to psychiatric disorder', *Prog Brain Res*, 223: 63-76.
- Ehlers, C. L., I. R. Gizer, C. Vieten, A. Gilder, D. A. Gilder, G. M. Stouffer, P. Lau, and K. C. Wilhelmsen. 2010. 'Age at regular drinking, clinical course, and heritability of alcohol dependence in the San Francisco family study: a gender analysis', *Am J Addict*, 19: 101-10.

- Emanuele, N. V., N. LaPaglia, J. Steiner, L. Kirsteins, and M. A. Emanuele. 2001. 'Effect of chronic ethanol exposure on female rat reproductive cyclicity and hormone secretion', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 25: 1025-9.
- Evans, S. M., M. Haney, and R. W. Foltin. 2002. 'The effects of smoked cocaine during the follicular and luteal phases of the menstrual cycle in women', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 159: 397-406.
- Evans, S. M., and F. R. Levin. 2011. 'Response to alcohol in women: role of the menstrual cycle and a family history of alcoholism', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 114: 18-30.
- Farahimanesh, S., M. Moradi, F. Nazari-Serenjeh, S. Zarrabian, and A. Haghparast. 2018. 'Role of D1-like and D2-like dopamine receptors within the ventral tegmental area in stress-induced and drug priming-induced reinstatement of morphine seeking in rats', *Behav Pharmacol*, 29: 426-36.
- Febo, M., L. A. Gonzalez-Rodriguez, D. E. Capo-Ramos, N. Y. Gonzalez-Segarra, and A. C. Segarra. 2003. 'Estrogen-dependent alterations in D2/D3-induced G protein activation in cocaine-sensitized female rats', *J Neurochem*, 86: 405-12.
- Flannery, B., D. Fishbein, E. Krupitsky, D. Langevin, E. Verbitskaya, C. Bland, K. Bolla, V. Egorova, N. Bushara, M. Tsoy, and E. Zvartau. 2007. 'Gender differences in neurocognitive functioning among alcohol-dependent Russian patients', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 31: 745-54.
- Ford, M. M., J. C. Eldridge, and H. H. Samson. 2002a. 'Ethanol consumption in the female Long-Evans rat: a modulatory role of estradiol', *Alcohol*, 26: 103-13.
- ———. 2002b. 'Microanalysis of ethanol self-administration: estrous cycle phase-related changes in consumption patterns', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 26: 635-43.
- ———. 2004. 'Determination of an estradiol dose-response relationship in the modulation of ethanol intake', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 28: 20-8.
- Foreman, M. M., and J. L. Hall. 1987. 'Effects of D2-dopaminergic receptor stimulation on the lordotic response of female rats', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 91: 96-100.
- Forger, N. G., and L. P. Morin. 1982. 'Reproductive state modulates ethanol intake in rats: effects of ovariectomy, ethanol concentration, estrous cycle and pregnancy', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 17: 323-31.
- Galankin, T., E. Shekunova, and E. Zvartau. 2010. 'Estradiol lowers intracranial self-stimulation thresholds and enhances cocaine facilitation of intracranial self-stimulation in rats', *Horm Behav*, 58: 827-34.
- Gallegos, R. A., R. S. Lee, J. R. Criado, S. J. Henriksen, and S. C. Steffensen. 1999. 'Adaptive responses of gamma-aminobutyric acid neurons in the ventral tegmental area to chronic ethanol', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 291: 1045-53.
- Gao, S. H., H. Z. Wen, L. L. Shen, Y. D. Zhao, and H. Z. Ruan. 2016. 'Activation of mGluR1 contributes to neuronal hyperexcitability in the rat anterior cingulate cortex via inhibition of HCN channels', *Neuropharmacology*, 105: 361-77.
- Gariano, R. F., and P. M. Groves. 1988. 'Burst firing induced in midbrain dopamine neurons by stimulation of the medial prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortices', *Brain Res*, 462: 194-8.
- Gatto, G. J., W. J. McBride, J. M. Murphy, L. Lumeng, and T. K. Li. 1994. 'Ethanol self-infusion into the ventral tegmental area by alcohol-preferring rats', *Alcohol*, 11: 557-64.
- Gessa, G. L., F. Muntoni, M. Collu, L. Vargiu, and G. Mereu. 1985. 'Low doses of ethanol activate dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area', *Brain Res*, 348: 201-3.

- Giros, B., P. Sokoloff, M. P. Martres, J. F. Riou, L. J. Emorine, and J. C. Schwartz. 1989. 'Alternative splicing directs the expression of two D2 dopamine receptor isoforms', *Nature*, 342: 923-6.
- Gobinath, A. R., E. Choleris, and L. A. Galea. 2017. 'Sex, hormones, and genotype interact to influence psychiatric disease, treatment, and behavioral research', *J Neurosci Res*, 95: 50-64.
- Gogos, A., A. M. Sbisa, J. Sun, A. Gibbons, M. Udawela, and B. Dean. 2015. 'A Role for Estrogen in Schizophrenia: Clinical and Preclinical Findings', *Int J Endocrinol*, 2015: 615356.
- Goldstein, M., K. Fuxe, and T. Hokfelt. 1972. 'Characterization and tissue localization of catecholamine synthesizing enzymes', *Pharmacol Rev*, 24: 293-309.
- Gonon, F. G. 1988. 'Nonlinear relationship between impulse flow and dopamine released by rat midbrain dopaminergic neurons as studied by in vivo electrochemistry', *Neuroscience*, 24: 19-28.
- Gordon, J. H., and J. Z. Fields. 1989. 'A permanent dopamine receptor up-regulation in the ovariectomized rat', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 33: 123-5.
- Grace, A. A., and B. S. Bunney. 1980. 'Nigral dopamine neurons: intracellular recording and identification with L-dopa injection and histofluorescence', *Science*, 210: 654-6.
- . 1984. 'The control of firing pattern in nigral dopamine neurons: burst firing', *J Neurosci*, 4: 2877-90.
- Grant, B. F., S. P. Chou, T. D. Saha, R. P. Pickering, B. T. Kerridge, W. J. Ruan, B. Huang, J. Jung, H. Zhang, A. Fan, and D. S. Hasin. 2017. 'Prevalence of 12-Month Alcohol Use, High-Risk Drinking, and DSM-IV Alcohol Use Disorder in the United States, 2001-2002 to 2012-2013: Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions', *JAMA Psychiatry*, 74: 911-23.
- Grenhoff, J., G. Aston-Jones, and T. H. Svensson. 1986. 'Nicotinic effects on the firing pattern of midbrain dopamine neurons', *Acta Physiol Scand*, 128: 351-8.
- Griffin, M. L., N. K. Mello, J. H. Mendelson, and B. W. Lex. 1987. 'Alcohol use across the menstrual cycle among marihuana users', *Alcohol*, 4: 457-62.
- Griffin, M. L., R. D. Weiss, S. M. Mirin, and U. Lange. 1989. 'A comparison of male and female cocaine abusers', *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 46: 122-6.
- Grove-Strawser, D., M. I. Boulware, and P. G. Mermelstein. 2010. 'Membrane estrogen receptors activate the metabotropic glutamate receptors mGluR5 and mGluR3 to bidirectionally regulate CREB phosphorylation in female rat striatal neurons', *Neuroscience*, 170: 1045-55.
- Guan, Y., C. Xiao, K. Krnjevic, G. Xie, W. Zuo, and J. H. Ye. 2012. 'GABAergic actions mediate opposite ethanol effects on dopaminergic neurons in the anterior and posterior ventral tegmental area', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 341: 33-42.
- Guiramand, J., J. P. Montmayeur, J. Ceraline, M. Bhatia, and E. Borrelli. 1995. 'Alternative splicing of the dopamine D2 receptor directs specificity of coupling to G-proteins', *J Biol Chem*, 270: 7354-8.
- Guivarc'h, D., J. D. Vincent, and P. Vernier. 1998. 'Alternative splicing of the D2 dopamine receptor messenger ribonucleic acid is modulated by activated sex steroid receptors in the MMQ prolactin cell line', *Endocrinology*, 139: 4213-21.

- Harris, B. R., M. A. Prendergast, D. A. Gibson, D. T. Rogers, J. A. Blanchard, R. C. Holley, M. C. Fu, S. R. Hart, N. W. Pedigo, and J. M. Littleton. 2002. 'Acamprosate inhibits the binding and neurotoxic effects of trans-ACPD, suggesting a novel site of action at metabotropic glutamate receptors', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 26: 1779-93.
- Harvey, S. M., and L. J. Beckman. 1985. 'Cyclic fluctuation in alcohol consumption among female social drinkers', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 9: 465-7.
- Hawkins, S. M., and M. M. Matzuk. 2008. 'The menstrual cycle: basic biology', *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1135: 10-8.
- Hazell, G. G., S. T. Yao, J. A. Roper, E. R. Prossnitz, A. M. O'Carroll, and S. J. Lolait. 2009. 'Localisation of GPR30, a novel G protein-coupled oestrogen receptor, suggests multiple functions in rodent brain and peripheral tissues', *J Endocrinol*, 202: 223-36.
- He, C., F. Chen, B. Li, and Z. Hu. 2014. 'Neurophysiology of HCN channels: from cellular functions to multiple regulations', *Prog Neurobiol*, 112: 1-23.
- Hecht, G. S., N. E. Spear, and L. P. Spear. 1999. 'Changes in progressive ratio responding for intravenous cocaine throughout the reproductive process in female rats', *Dev Psychobiol*, 35: 136-45.
- Henry, N. L., A. Conlon, K. M. Kidwell, K. Griffith, J. B. Smerage, A. F. Schott, D. F. Hayes, D. A. Williams, D. J. Clauw, and S. E. Harte. 2014. 'Effect of estrogen depletion on pain sensitivity in aromatase inhibitor-treated women with early-stage breast cancer', *J Pain*, 15: 468-75.
- Herman, M. A., H. Sidhu, D. G. Stouffer, M. Kreifeldt, D. Le, C. Cates-Gatto, M. B. Munoz, A. J. Roberts, L. H. Parsons, M. Roberto, K. Wickman, P. A. Slesinger, and C. Contet. 2015. 'GIRK3 gates activation of the mesolimbic dopaminergic pathway by ethanol', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112: 7091-6.
- Hietala, J., C. West, E. Syvalahti, K. Nagren, P. Lehikoinen, P. Sonninen, and U. Ruotsalainen. 1994. 'Striatal D2 dopamine receptor binding characteristics in vivo in patients with alcohol dependence', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 116: 285-90.
- Hilderbrand, E. R., and A. W. Lasek. 2018. 'Estradiol enhances ethanol reward in female mice through activation of ERalpha and ERbeta', *Horm Behav*, 98: 159-64.
- Hodge, C. W., M. Haraguchi, H. Erickson, and H. H. Samson. 1993. 'Ventral tegmental microinjections of quinpirole decrease ethanol and sucrose-reinforced responding', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 17: 370-5.
- Hogle, J. M., and J. J. Curtin. 2006. 'Sex differences in negative affective response during nicotine withdrawal', *Psychophysiology*, 43: 344-56.
- Holdstock, L., and H. de Wit. 2000. 'Effects of ethanol at four phases of the menstrual cycle', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 150: 374-82.
- Holmila, M., and K. Raitasalo. 2005. 'Gender differences in drinking: why do they still exist?', *Addiction*, 100: 1763-9.
- Howell, A., C. K. Osborne, C. Morris, and A. E. Wakeling. 2000. 'ICI 182,780 (Faslodex): development of a novel, "pure" antiestrogen', *Cancer*, 89: 817-25.
- Hu, M., and J. B. Becker. 2008. 'Acquisition of cocaine self-administration in ovariectomized female rats: effect of estradiol dose or chronic estradiol administration', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 94: 56-62.
- Hu, M., H. S. Crombag, T. E. Robinson, and J. B. Becker. 2004. 'Biological basis of sex differences in the propensity to self-administer cocaine', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29: 81-5.

- Huang, G. Z., and C. S. Woolley. 2012. 'Estradiol acutely suppresses inhibition in the hippocampus through a sex-specific endocannabinoid and mGluR-dependent mechanism', *Neuron*, 74: 801-8.
- Hudson, A., and J. A. Stamp. 2011. 'Ovarian hormones and propensity to drug relapse: a review', *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 35: 427-36.
- Hunt, W. A., and E. Majchrowicz. 1974. 'Alterations in the turnover of brain norepinephrine and dopamine in alcohol-dependent rats', *J Neurochem*, 23: 549-52.
- Huston, J. P., M. A. Silva, B. Topic, and C. P. Muller. 2013. 'What's conditioned in conditioned place preference?', *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 34: 162-6.
- Hwa, L. S., A. Chu, S. A. Levinson, T. M. Kayyali, J. F. DeBold, and K. A. Miczek. 2011. 'Persistent escalation of alcohol drinking in C57BL/6J mice with intermittent access to 20% ethanol', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 35: 1938-47.
- Hyland, B. I., J. N. Reynolds, J. Hay, C. G. Perk, and R. Miller. 2002. 'Firing modes of midbrain dopamine cells in the freely moving rat', *Neuroscience*, 114: 475-92.
- Ikemoto, S. 2007. 'Dopamine reward circuitry: two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens-olfactory tubercle complex', *Brain Res Rev*, 56: 27-78.
- Jackson, L. R., T. E. Robinson, and J. B. Becker. 2006. 'Sex differences and hormonal influences on acquisition of cocaine self-administration in rats', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 31: 129-38.
- Ji, X., S. Saha, J. Kolpakova, M. Guildford, A. R. Tapper, and G. E. Martin. 2017. 'Dopamine Receptors Differentially Control Binge Alcohol Drinking-Mediated Synaptic Plasticity of the Core Nucleus Accumbens Direct and Indirect Pathways', *J Neurosci*, 37: 5463-74.
- Jiang, Z. L., and J. H. Ye. 2003. 'Protein kinase C epsilon is involved in ethanol potentiation of glycine-gated Cl(-) current in rat neurons of ventral tegmental area', *Neuropharmacology*, 44: 493-502.
- Jones, S., and A. Bonci. 2005. 'Synaptic plasticity and drug addiction', *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 5: 20-5.
- Joyce, J. N., R. L. Smith, and C. van Hartesveldt. 1982. 'Estradiol suppresses then enhances intracaudate dopamine-induced contralateral deviation', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 81: 117-22.
- Jury, N. J., J. F. DiBerto, T. L. Kash, and A. Holmes. 2017. 'Sex differences in the behavioral sequelae of chronic ethanol exposure', *Alcohol*, 58: 53-60.
- Kaasinen, V., K. Nagren, J. Hietala, L. Farde, and J. O. Rinne. 2001. 'Sex differences in extrastriatal dopamine d(2)-like receptors in the human brain', *Am J Psychiatry*, 158: 308-11.
- Karsch, F. J., R. F. Weick, W. R. Butler, D. J. Dierschke, L. C. Krey, G. Weiss, J. Hotchkiss, T. Yamaji, and E. Knobil. 1973. 'Induced LH surges in the rhesus monkey: strength-duration characteristics of the estrogen stimulus', *Endocrinology*, 92: 1740-7.
- Kawano, M., A. Kawasaki, H. Sakata-Haga, Y. Fukui, H. Kawano, H. Nogami, and S. Hisano. 2006. 'Particular subpopulations of midbrain and hypothalamic dopamine neurons express vesicular glutamate transporter 2 in the rat brain', *J Comp Neurol*, 498: 581-92.
- Keyes, K. M., B. F. Grant, and D. S. Hasin. 2008. 'Evidence for a closing gender gap in alcohol use, abuse, and dependence in the United States population', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 93: 21-9.
- Kim, K. M., Y. Nakajima, and S. Nakajima. 1995. 'G protein-coupled inward rectifier modulated by dopamine agonists in cultured substantia nigra neurons', *Neuroscience*, 69: 1145-58.

- Kita, J. M., B. M. Kile, L. E. Parker, and R. M. Wightman. 2009. 'In vivo measurement of somatodendritic release of dopamine in the ventral tegmental area', *Synapse*, 63: 951-60.
- Knight, J. W. 1994. 'Aspects of placental estrogen synthesis in the pig', *Exp Clin Endocrinol*, 102: 175-84.
- Kobayashi, T., K. Ikeda, H. Kojima, H. Niki, R. Yano, T. Yoshioka, and T. Kumanishi. 1999. 'Ethanol opens G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying K+ channels', *Nat Neurosci*, 2: 1091-7.
- Konradi, C., J. Kornhuber, E. Sofic, S. Heckers, P. Riederer, and H. Beckmann. 1992. 'Variations of monoamines and their metabolites in the human brain putamen', *Brain Res*, 579: 285-90.
- Koob, G. F. 2003. 'Alcoholism: allostasis and beyond', Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 27: 232-43.
 - . 2008. 'A role for brain stress systems in addiction', *Neuron*, 59: 11-34.
- Koob, G. F., and M. Le Moal. 1997. 'Drug abuse: hedonic homeostatic dysregulation', *Science*, 278: 52-8.
- Koob, G. F., and N. D. Volkow. 2010. 'Neurocircuitry of addiction', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35: 217-38.
- Koob, G., and M. J. Kreek. 2007. 'Stress, dysregulation of drug reward pathways, and the transition to drug dependence', *Am J Psychiatry*, 164: 1149-59.
- Kosten, T. A., F. H. Gawin, T. R. Kosten, and B. J. Rounsaville. 1993. 'Gender differences in cocaine use and treatment response', *J Subst Abuse Treat*, 10: 63-6.
- Koyama, S., M. S. Brodie, and S. B. Appel. 2007. 'Ethanol inhibition of m-current and ethanolinduced direct excitation of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons', *J Neurophysiol*, 97: 1977-85.
- Kritzer, M. F. 1997. 'Selective colocalization of immunoreactivity for intracellular gonadal hormone receptors and tyrosine hydroxylase in the ventral tegmental area, substantia nigra, and retrorubral fields in the rat', *J Comp Neurol*, 379: 247-60.
- Kritzer, M. F., and L. M. Creutz. 2008. 'Region and sex differences in constituent dopamine neurons and immunoreactivity for intracellular estrogen and androgen receptors in mesocortical projections in rats', *J Neurosci*, 28: 9525-35.
- Kuhar, M. J., M. C. Ritz, and J. W. Boja. 1991. 'The dopamine hypothesis of the reinforcing properties of cocaine', *Trends Neurosci*, 14: 299-302.
- Kuhn, C. 2015. 'Emergence of sex differences in the development of substance use and abuse during adolescence', *Pharmacol Ther*, 153: 55-78.
- Kuntz, M. A., and D. J. Shapiro. 1997. 'Dimerizing the estrogen receptor DNA binding domain enhances binding to estrogen response elements', *J Biol Chem*, 272: 27949-56.
- Laakso, A., H. Vilkman, J. Bergman, M. Haaparanta, O. Solin, E. Syvalahti, R. K. Salokangas, and J. Hietala. 2002. 'Sex differences in striatal presynaptic dopamine synthesis capacity in healthy subjects', *Biol Psychiatry*, 52: 759-63.
- Labouebe, G., M. Lomazzi, H. G. Cruz, C. Creton, R. Lujan, M. Li, Y. Yanagawa, K. Obata, M. Watanabe, K. Wickman, S. B. Boyer, P. A. Slesinger, and C. Luscher. 2007. 'RGS2 modulates coupling between GABAB receptors and GIRK channels in dopamine neurons of the ventral tegmental area', *Nat Neurosci*, 10: 1559-68.
- Lacey, M. G., N. B. Mercuri, and R. A. North. 1987. 'Dopamine acts on D2 receptors to increase potassium conductance in neurones of the rat substantia nigra zona compacta', *J Physiol*, 392: 397-416.

- Lammel, S., A. Hetzel, O. Hackel, I. Jones, B. Liss, and J. Roeper. 2008. 'Unique properties of mesoprefrontal neurons within a dual mesocorticolimbic dopamine system', *Neuron*, 57: 760-73.
- Lammel, S., B. K. Lim, and R. C. Malenka. 2014. 'Reward and aversion in a heterogeneous midbrain dopamine system', *Neuropharmacology*, 76 Pt B: 351-9.
- Lammers, C. H., U. D'Souza, Z. H. Qin, S. H. Lee, S. Yajima, and M. M. Mouradian. 1999. 'Regulation of striatal dopamine receptors by estrogen', *Synapse*, 34: 222-7.
- Lancaster, F. E., T. D. Brown, K. L. Coker, J. A. Elliott, and S. B. Wren. 1996. 'Sex differences in alcohol preference and drinking patterns emerge during the early postpubertal period', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 20: 1043-9.
- Lasek, A. W., J. Gesch, F. Giorgetti, V. Kharazia, and U. Heberlein. 2011. 'Alk is a transcriptional target of LMO4 and ERalpha that promotes cocaine sensitization and reward', *J Neurosci*, 31: 14134-41.
- Lavalaye, J., J. Booij, L. Reneman, J. B. Habraken, and E. A. van Royen. 2000. 'Effect of age and gender on dopamine transporter imaging with [123I]FP-CIT SPET in healthy volunteers', *Eur J Nucl Med*, 27: 867-9.
- Le Saux, M., M. Morissette, and T. Di Paolo. 2006. 'ERbeta mediates the estradiol increase of D2 receptors in rat striatum and nucleus accumbens', *Neuropharmacology*, 50: 451-7.
- Levy, A. D., J. M. Murphy, W. J. McBride, L. Lumeng, and T. K. Li. 1991. 'Microinjection of sulpiride into the nucleus accumbens increases ethanol drinking in alcohol-preferring (P) rats', *Alcohol Alcohol Suppl*, 1: 417-20.
- Lewohl, J. M., W. R. Wilson, R. D. Mayfield, S. J. Brozowski, R. A. Morrisett, and R. A. Harris. 1999. 'G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels are targets of alcohol action', *Nat Neurosci*, 2: 1084-90.
- Li, Q., P. Cui, Y. Miao, F. Gao, X. Y. Li, W. J. Qian, S. X. Jiang, N. Wu, X. H. Sun, and Z. Wang. 2017. 'Activation of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors regulates the excitability of rat retinal ganglion cells by suppressing Kir and I h', *Brain Struct Funct*, 222: 813-30.
- Liaw, J. J., J. R. He, R. D. Hartman, and C. A. Barraclough. 1992. 'Changes in tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA levels in medullary A1 and A2 neurons and locus coeruleus following castration and estrogen replacement in rats', *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 13: 231-8.
- Lin, A. H., R. W. Li, E. Y. Ho, G. P. Leung, S. W. Leung, P. M. Vanhoutte, and R. Y. Man. 2013. 'Differential ligand binding affinities of human estrogen receptor-alpha isoforms', *PLoS One*, 8: e63199.
- Liu, Z. H., and W. Q. Jin. 2004. 'Decrease of ventral tegmental area dopamine neuronal activity in nicotine withdrawal rats', *Neuroreport*, 15: 1479-81.
- Locci, A., P. Porcu, G. Talani, F. Santoru, R. Berretti, E. Giunti, V. Licheri, E. Sanna, and A. Concas. 2017. 'Neonatal estradiol exposure to female rats changes GABAA receptor expression and function, and spatial learning during adulthood', *Horm Behav*, 87: 35-46.
- Lodge, D. J., and A. A. Grace. 2006. 'The laterodorsal tegmentum is essential for burst firing of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103: 5167-72.
- Logue, P. E., M. Linnoila, L. Wallman, and C. W. Erwin. 1981. 'Effects of ethanol and psychomotor tests on state anxiety: interaction with menstrual cycle in women', *Percept Mot Skills*, 52: 643-8.
- Lominac, K. D., Z. Kapasova, R. A. Hannun, C. Patterson, L. D. Middaugh, and K. K. Szumlinski. 2006. 'Behavioral and neurochemical interactions between Group 1 mGluR antagonists and

ethanol: potential insight into their anti-addictive properties', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 85: 142-56.

- Long, N., B. Long, A. Mana, D. Le, L. Nguyen, S. Chokr, and K. Sinchak. 2017. 'Tamoxifen and ICI 182,780 activate hypothalamic G protein-coupled estrogen receptor 1 to rapidly facilitate lordosis in female rats', *Horm Behav*, 89: 98-103.
- Luine, V. N. 2014. 'Estradiol and cognitive function: past, present and future', *Horm Behav*, 66: 602-18.
- Lynch, W. J., and M. E. Carroll. 1999. 'Sex differences in the acquisition of intravenously selfadministered cocaine and heroin in rats', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 144: 77-82.
- Lynch, W. J., M. E. Roth, J. L. Mickelberg, and M. E. Carroll. 2001. 'Role of estrogen in the acquisition of intravenously self-administered cocaine in female rats', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 68: 641-6.
- Mack, K. J., R. D. Todd, and K. L. O'Malley. 1991. 'The mouse dopamine D2A receptor gene: sequence homology with the rat and human genes and expression of alternative transcripts', *J Neurochem*, 57: 795-801.
- MacLusky, N. J., M. J. Walters, A. S. Clark, and C. D. Toran-Allerand. 1994. 'Aromatase in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, and mid-brain: ontogeny and developmental implications', *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 5: 691-8.
- Madhavan, A., E. Argilli, A. Bonci, and J. L. Whistler. 2013. 'Loss of D2 dopamine receptor function modulates cocaine-induced glutamatergic synaptic potentiation in the ventral tegmental area', *J Neurosci*, 33: 12329-36.
- Madularu, D., P. Kulkarni, J. R. Yee, W. M. Kenkel, W. M. Shams, C. F. Ferris, and W. G. Brake. 2016. 'High estrogen and chronic haloperidol lead to greater amphetamine-induced BOLD activation in awake, amphetamine-sensitized female rats', *Horm Behav*, 82: 56-63.
- Madularu, D., J. R. Yee, W. M. Kenkel, K. A. Moore, P. Kulkarni, W. M. Shams, C. F. Ferris, and W. G. Brake. 2015. 'Integration of neural networks activated by amphetamine in females with different estrogen levels: a functional imaging study in awake rats', *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 56: 200-12.
- Maeda, K., S. Ohkura, Y. Uenoyama, Y. Wakabayashi, Y. Oka, H. Tsukamura, and H. Okamura. 2010. 'Neurobiological mechanisms underlying GnRH pulse generation by the hypothalamus', *Brain Res*, 1364: 103-15.
- Mann, K., A. Batra, A. Gunthner, and G. Schroth. 1992. 'Do women develop alcoholic brain damage more readily than men?', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 16: 1052-6.
- Margolis, E. B., A. R. Coker, J. R. Driscoll, A. I. Lemaitre, and H. L. Fields. 2010. 'Reliability in the identification of midbrain dopamine neurons', *PLoS One*, 5: e15222.
- Margolis, E. B., H. L. Fields, G. O. Hjelmstad, and J. M. Mitchell. 2008. 'Delta-opioid receptor expression in the ventral tegmental area protects against elevated alcohol consumption', *J Neurosci*, 28: 12672-81.
- Margolis, E. B., H. Lock, G. O. Hjelmstad, and H. L. Fields. 2006. 'The ventral tegmental area revisited: is there an electrophysiological marker for dopaminergic neurons?', *J Physiol*, 577: 907-24.
- Margolis, E. B., J. M. Mitchell, J. Ishikawa, G. O. Hjelmstad, and H. L. Fields. 2008. 'Midbrain dopamine neurons: projection target determines action potential duration and dopamine D(2) receptor inhibition', *J Neurosci*, 28: 8908-13.
- Margolis, E. B., B. Toy, P. Himmels, M. Morales, and H. L. Fields. 2012. 'Identification of rat ventral tegmental area GABAergic neurons', *PLoS One*, 7: e42365.

- Marinelli, P. W., R. Quirion, and C. Gianoulakis. 2003. 'Estradiol valerate and alcohol intake: a comparison between Wistar and Lewis rats and the putative role of endorphins', *Behav Brain Res*, 139: 59-67.
- Marino, M., P. Galluzzo, and P. Ascenzi. 2006. 'Estrogen signaling multiple pathways to impact gene transcription', *Curr Genomics*, 7: 497-508.
- Marks, J. L., C. S. Hair, S. C. Klock, B. E. Ginsburg, and C. S. Pomerleau. 1994. 'Effects of menstrual phase on intake of nicotine, caffeine, and alcohol and nonprescribed drugs in women with late luteal phase dysphoric disorder', *J Subst Abuse*, 6: 235-43.
- Martinez, D., A. Broft, R. W. Foltin, M. Slifstein, D. R. Hwang, Y. Huang, A. Perez, W. G. Frankle, T. Cooper, H. D. Kleber, M. W. Fischman, and M. Laruelle. 2004. 'Cocaine dependence and d2 receptor availability in the functional subdivisions of the striatum: relationship with cocaine-seeking behavior', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29: 1190-202.
- Martinez, L. A., K. S. Gross, B. T. Himmler, N. L. Emmitt, B. M. Peterson, N. E. Zlebnik, M. Foster Olive, M. E. Carroll, R. L. Meisel, and P. G. Mermelstein. 2016. 'Estradiol Facilitation of Cocaine Self-Administration in Female Rats Requires Activation of mGluR5', *eNeuro*, 3.
- Martinez, L. A., B. M. Peterson, R. L. Meisel, and P. G. Mermelstein. 2014. 'Estradiol facilitation of cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization in female rats requires activation of mGluR5', *Behav Brain Res*, 271: 39-42.
- Mason, B. J. 2001. 'Treatment of alcohol-dependent outpatients with acamprosate: a clinical review', *J Clin Psychiatry*, 62 Suppl 20: 42-8.
- Mazot, P., A. Cazes, F. Dingli, J. Degoutin, T. Irinopoulou, M. C. Boutterin, B. Lombard, D. Loew,
 B. Hallberg, R. H. Palmer, O. Delattre, I. Janoueix-Lerosey, and M. Vigny. 2012.
 'Internalization and down-regulation of the ALK receptor in neuroblastoma cell lines upon monoclonal antibodies treatment', *PLoS One*, 7: e33581.
- McArthur, S., E. McHale, and G. E. Gillies. 2007. 'The size and distribution of midbrain dopaminergic populations are permanently altered by perinatal glucocorticoid exposure in a sex- region- and time-specific manner', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32: 1462-76.
- McLeod, D. R., G. V. Foster, R. Hoehn-Saric, D. S. Svikis, and P. A. Hipsley. 1994. 'Family history of alcoholism in women with generalized anxiety disorder who have premenstrual syndrome: patient reports of premenstrual alcohol consumption and symptoms of anxiety', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 18: 664-70.
- McRitchie, D. A., C. D. Hardman, and G. M. Halliday. 1996. 'Cytoarchitectural distribution of calcium binding proteins in midbrain dopaminergic regions of rats and humans', *J Comp Neurol*, 364: 121-50.
- Meiser, J., D. Weindl, and K. Hiller. 2013. 'Complexity of dopamine metabolism', *Cell Commun Signal*, 11: 34.
- Meitzen, J., and P. G. Mermelstein. 2011. 'Estrogen receptors stimulate brain region specific metabotropic glutamate receptors to rapidly initiate signal transduction pathways', *J Chem Neuroanat*, 42: 236-41.
- Melis, M., M. Pistis, S. Perra, A. L. Muntoni, G. Pillolla, and G. L. Gessa. 2004. 'Endocannabinoids mediate presynaptic inhibition of glutamatergic transmission in rat ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons through activation of CB1 receptors', *J Neurosci*, 24: 53-62.
- Mello, N. K., J. H. Mendelson, and B. W. Lex. 1990. 'Alcohol use and premenstrual symptoms in social drinkers', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 101: 448-55.

- Merrill, C. B., L. N. Friend, S. T. Newton, Z. H. Hopkins, and J. G. Edwards. 2015. 'Ventral tegmental area dopamine and GABA neurons: Physiological properties and expression of mRNA for endocannabinoid biosynthetic elements', *Sci Rep*, 5: 16176.
- Middaugh, L. D., B. M. Kelley, A. L. Bandy, and K. K. McGroarty. 1999. 'Ethanol consumption by C57BL/6 mice: influence of gender and procedural variables', *Alcohol*, 17: 175-83.
- Mills, R. H., R. K. Sohn, and P. E. Micevych. 2004. 'Estrogen-induced mu-opioid receptor internalization in the medial preoptic nucleus is mediated via neuropeptide Y-Y1 receptor activation in the arcuate nucleus of female rats', *J Neurosci*, 24: 947-55.
- Milner, T. A., L. I. Thompson, G. Wang, J. A. Kievits, E. Martin, P. Zhou, B. S. McEwen, D. W. Pfaff, and E. M. Waters. 2010. 'Distribution of estrogen receptor beta containing cells in the brains of bacterial artificial chromosome transgenic mice', *Brain Res*, 1351: 74-96.
- Minami, T., Y. Oomura, J. Nabekura, and A. Fukuda. 1990. '17 beta-estradiol depolarization of hypothalamic neurons is mediated by cyclic AMP', *Brain Res*, 519: 301-7.
- Missale, C., S. R. Nash, S. W. Robinson, M. Jaber, and M. G. Caron. 1998. 'Dopamine receptors: from structure to function', *Physiol Rev*, 78: 189-225.
- Mitra, S. W., E. Hoskin, J. Yudkovitz, L. Pear, H. A. Wilkinson, S. Hayashi, D. W. Pfaff, S. Ogawa, S. P. Rohrer, J. M. Schaeffer, B. S. McEwen, and S. E. Alves. 2003. 'Immunolocalization of estrogen receptor beta in the mouse brain: comparison with estrogen receptor alpha', *Endocrinology*, 144: 2055-67.
- Mobbs, C. V., M. Kaplitt, L. M. Kow, and D. W. Pfaff. 1991. 'PLC-alpha: a common mediator of the action of estrogen and other hormones?', *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 80: C187-91.
- Molinoff, P. B., and J. Axelrod. 1971. 'Biochemistry of catecholamines', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 40: 465-500.
- Montmayeur, J. P., P. Bausero, N. Amlaiky, L. Maroteaux, R. Hen, and E. Borrelli. 1991. 'Differential expression of the mouse D2 dopamine receptor isoforms', *FEBS Lett*, 278: 239-43.
- Moran-Santa Maria, M. M., J. Flanagan, and K. Brady. 2014. 'Ovarian hormones and drug abuse', *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 16: 511.
- Mueller, A. L., and M. S. Brodie. 1989. 'Intracellular recording from putative dopamine-containing neurons in the ventral tegmental area of Tsai in a brain slice preparation', *J Neurosci Methods*, 28: 15-22.
- Muti, P., M. Trevisan, A. Micheli, V. Krogh, G. Bolelli, R. Sciajno, H. J. Schunemann, and F. Berrino. 1998. 'Alcohol consumption and total estradiol in premenopausal women', *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 7: 189-93.
- Myers, R. D., and D. E. Robinson. 1999. 'Mmu and D2 receptor antisense oligonucleotides injected in nucleus accumbens suppress high alcohol intake in genetic drinking HEP rats', *Alcohol*, 18: 225-33.
- Nabekura, J., Y. Oomura, T. Minami, Y. Mizuno, and A. Fukuda. 1986. 'Mechanism of the rapid effect of 17 beta-estradiol on medial amygdala neurons', *Science*, 233: 226-8.
- Naftolin, F., K. J. Ryan, and Z. Petro. 1971a. 'Aromatization of androstenedione by limbic system tissue from human foetuses', *J Endocrinol*, 51: 795-6.
 - ———. 1971b. 'Aromatization of androstenedione by the diencephalon', *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 33: 368-70.
- Namkung, Y., C. Dipace, J. A. Javitch, and D. R. Sibley. 2009. 'G protein-coupled receptor kinasemediated phosphorylation regulates post-endocytic trafficking of the D2 dopamine receptor', *J Biol Chem*, 284: 15038-51.

- Namkung, Y., and D. R. Sibley. 2004. 'Protein kinase C mediates phosphorylation, desensitization, and trafficking of the D2 dopamine receptor', *J Biol Chem*, 279: 49533-41.
- Nelson, J. F., L. S. Felicio, P. K. Randall, C. Sims, and C. E. Finch. 1982. 'A longitudinal study of estrous cyclicity in aging C57BL/6J mice: I. Cycle frequency, length and vaginal cytology', *Biol Reprod*, 27: 327-39.
- Neve, K. A., R. L. Neve, S. Fidel, A. Janowsky, and G. A. Higgins. 1991. 'Increased abundance of alternatively spliced forms of D2 dopamine receptor mRNA after denervation', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88: 2802-6.
- Nilsson, M. E., L. Vandenput, A. Tivesten, A. K. Norlen, M. K. Lagerquist, S. H. Windahl, A. E. Borjesson, H. H. Farman, M. Poutanen, A. Benrick, M. Maliqueo, E. Stener-Victorin, H. Ryberg, and C. Ohlsson. 2015. 'Measurement of a Comprehensive Sex Steroid Profile in Rodent Serum by High-Sensitive Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry', *Endocrinology*, 156: 2492-502.
- Nimitvilai, S., D. S. Arora, and M. S. Brodie. 2012. 'Reversal of dopamine inhibition of dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area is mediated by protein kinase C', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37: 543-56.
- Nimitvilai, S., D. S. Arora, M. A. McElvain, and M. S. Brodie. 2012. 'Ethanol blocks the reversal of prolonged dopamine inhibition of dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 36: 1913-21.
 - ——. 2013. 'Suppression of Gq Function Using Intra-Pipette Delivery of shRNA during Extracellular Recording in the Ventral Tegmental Area', *Front Cell Neurosci*, 7: 7.
- Nimitvilai, S., and M. S. Brodie. 2010. 'Reversal of prolonged dopamine inhibition of dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 333: 555-63.
- Nimitvilai, S., M. A. McElvain, D. S. Arora, and M. S. Brodie. 2012. 'Reversal of quinpirole inhibition of ventral tegmental area neurons is linked to the phosphatidylinositol system and is induced by agonists linked to G(q)', *J Neurophysiol*, 108: 263-74.
- Nimitvilai, S., M. A. McElvain, and M. S. Brodie. 2013. 'Reversal of dopamine D2 agonistinduced inhibition of ventral tegmental area neurons by Gq-linked neurotransmitters is dependent on protein kinase C, G protein-coupled receptor kinase, and dynamin', J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 344: 253-63.
- Nimitvilai, S., C. You, D. S. Arora, M. A. McElvain, B. J. Vandegrift, M. S. Brodie, and J. J. Woodward. 2016. 'Differential Effects of Toluene and Ethanol on Dopaminergic Neurons of the Ventral Tegmental Area', *Front Neurosci*, 10: 434.
- Niswender, C. M., and P. J. Conn. 2010. 'Metabotropic glutamate receptors: physiology, pharmacology, and disease', *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, 50: 295-322.
- Nixon, S. J., R. Tivis, and O. A. Parsons. 1995. 'Behavioral dysfunction and cognitive efficiency in male and female alcoholics', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 19: 577-81.
- O'Lone, R., M. C. Frith, E. K. Karlsson, and U. Hansen. 2004. 'Genomic targets of nuclear estrogen receptors', *Mol Endocrinol*, 18: 1859-75.
- Oades, R. D., and G. M. Halliday. 1987. 'Ventral tegmental (A10) system: neurobiology. 1. Anatomy and connectivity', *Brain Res*, 434: 117-65.
- Oberlander, J. G., and C. S. Woolley. 2016. '17beta-Estradiol Acutely Potentiates Glutamatergic Synaptic Transmission in the Hippocampus through Distinct Mechanisms in Males and Females', *J Neurosci*, 36: 2677-90.

- Okamoto, T., M. T. Harnett, and H. Morikawa. 2006. 'Hyperpolarization-activated cation current (Ih) is an ethanol target in midbrain dopamine neurons of mice', *J Neurophysiol*, 95: 619-26.
- Oldenburger, W. P., B. J. Everitt, and F. H. de Jonge. 1992. 'Conditioned place preference induced by sexual interaction in female rats', *Horm Behav*, 26: 214-28.
- Oliva, I., and M. J. Wanat. 2016. 'Ventral Tegmental Area Afferents and Drug-Dependent Behaviors', *Front Psychiatry*, 7: 30.
- Oomizu, S., N. Boyadjieva, and D. K. Sarkar. 2003. 'Ethanol and estradiol modulate alternative splicing of dopamine D2 receptor messenger RNA and abolish the inhibitory action of bromocriptine on prolactin release from the pituitary gland', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 27: 975-80.
- Osz, J., Y. Brelivet, C. Peluso-Iltis, V. Cura, S. Eiler, M. Ruff, W. Bourguet, N. Rochel, and D. Moras. 2012. 'Structural basis for a molecular allosteric control mechanism of cofactor binding to nuclear receptors', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109: E588-94.
- Overton, P. G., and D. Clark. 1997. 'Burst firing in midbrain dopaminergic neurons', *Brain Res Brain Res Rev*, 25: 312-34.
- Parker, M. G. 1993. 'Action of "pure" antiestrogens in inhibiting estrogen receptor action', *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 26: 131-7.
- Paspalas, C. D., P. Rakic, and P. S. Goldman-Rakic. 2006. 'Internalization of D2 dopamine receptors is clathrin-dependent and select to dendro-axonic appositions in primate prefrontal cortex', *Eur J Neurosci*, 24: 1395-403.
- Pasqualini, C., F. Bojda, and B. Kerdelhue. 1986. 'Direct effect of estradiol on the number of dopamine receptors in the anterior pituitary of ovariectomized rats', *Endocrinology*, 119: 2484-9.
- Pasqualini, C., V. Olivier, B. Guibert, O. Frain, and V. Leviel. 1995. 'Acute stimulatory effect of estradiol on striatal dopamine synthesis', *J Neurochem*, 65: 1651-7.
- ———. 1996. 'Rapid stimulation of striatal dopamine synthesis by estradiol', *Cell Mol Neurobiol*, 16: 411-5.
- Pau, K. Y., D. L. Hess, S. Kohama, J. Bao, C. Y. Pau, and H. G. Spies. 2000. 'Oestrogen upregulates noradrenaline release in the mediobasal hypothalamus and tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression in the brainstem of ovariectomized rhesus macaques', J Neuroendocrinol, 12: 899-909.
- Paulmurugan, R., A. Tamrazi, T. F. Massoud, J. A. Katzenellenbogen, and S. S. Gambhir. 2011. 'In vitro and in vivo molecular imaging of estrogen receptor alpha and beta homo- and heterodimerization: exploration of new modes of receptor regulation', *Mol Endocrinol*, 25: 2029-40.
- Perra, S., G. Pillolla, M. Melis, A. L. Muntoni, G. L. Gessa, and M. Pistis. 2005. 'Involvement of the endogenous cannabinoid system in the effects of alcohol in the mesolimbic reward circuit: electrophysiological evidence in vivo', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 183: 368-77.
- Phillips, P. E., P. J. Hancock, and J. A. Stamford. 2002. 'Time window of autoreceptor-mediated inhibition of limbic and striatal dopamine release', *Synapse*, 44: 15-22.
- Phillips, P. E., G. D. Stuber, M. L. Heien, R. M. Wightman, and R. M. Carelli. 2003. 'Subsecond dopamine release promotes cocaine seeking', *Nature*, 422: 614-8.
- Pignatelli, M., and A. Bonci. 2015. 'Role of Dopamine Neurons in Reward and Aversion: A Synaptic Plasticity Perspective', *Neuron*, 86: 1145-57.

- Pina, M. M., and C. L. Cunningham. 2016. 'Involvement of ventral tegmental area ionotropic glutamate receptors in the expression of ethanol-induced conditioned place preference', *Behav Brain Res*, 313: 23-29.
- Polter, A. M., and J. A. Kauer. 2014. 'Stress and VTA synapses: implications for addiction and depression', *Eur J Neurosci*, 39: 1179-88.
- Pomerleau, C. S., P. A. Cole, M. A. Lumley, J. L. Marks, and O. F. Pomerleau. 1994. 'Effects of menstrual phase on nicotine, alcohol, and caffeine intake in smokers', *J Subst Abuse*, 6: 227-34.
- Priddy, B. M., S. A. Carmack, L. C. Thomas, J. C. Vendruscolo, G. F. Koob, and L. F. Vendruscolo. 2017. 'Sex, strain, and estrous cycle influences on alcohol drinking in rats', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 152: 61-67.
- Prus, A. J., J. R. James, and J. A. Rosecrans. 2009. 'Conditioned Place Preference.' in nd and J. J. Buccafusco (eds.), *Methods of Behavior Analysis in Neuroscience* (Boca Raton (FL)).
- Qiu, J., M. A. Bosch, S. C. Tobias, D. K. Grandy, T. S. Scanlan, O. K. Ronnekleiv, and M. J. Kelly. 2003. 'Rapid signaling of estrogen in hypothalamic neurons involves a novel G-protein-coupled estrogen receptor that activates protein kinase C', *J Neurosci*, 23: 9529-40.
- Quirarte, G. L., L. D. Reid, I. S. de la Teja, M. L. Reid, M. A. Sanchez, A. Diaz-Trujillo, A. Aguilar-Vazquez, and R. A. Prado-Alcala. 2007. 'Estradiol valerate and alcohol intake: dose-response assessments', *BMC Pharmacol*, 7: 3.
- Rachdaoui, N., and D. K. Sarkar. 2013. 'Effects of alcohol on the endocrine system', *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 42: 593-615.
- Radl, D., M. Chiacchiaretta, R. G. Lewis, K. Brami-Cherrier, L. Arcuri, and E. Borrelli. 2018. 'Differential regulation of striatal motor behavior and related cellular responses by dopamine D2L and D2S isoforms', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 115: 198-203.
- Rajasingh, J., E. Bord, G. Qin, M. Ii, M. Silver, H. Hamada, D. Ahluwalia, D. Goukassian, Y. Zhu, D. W. Losordo, and R. Kishore. 2007. 'Enhanced voluntary alcohol consumption after estrogen supplementation negates estrogen-mediated vascular repair in ovariectomized mice', *Endocrinology*, 148: 3618-24.
- Ranaldi, R. 2014. 'Dopamine and reward seeking: the role of ventral tegmental area', *Rev Neurosci*, 25: 621-30.
- Rassnick, S., L. Pulvirenti, and G. F. Koob. 1992. 'Oral ethanol self-administration in rats is reduced by the administration of dopamine and glutamate receptor antagonists into the nucleus accumbens', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 109: 92-8.
- Reed, B. G., and B. R. Carr. 2000. 'The Normal Menstrual Cycle and the Control of Ovulation.' in
 K. R. Feingold, B. Anawalt, A. Boyce, G. Chrousos, K. Dungan, A. Grossman, J. M. Hershman, G. Kaltsas, C. Koch, P. Kopp, M. Korbonits, R. McLachlan, J. E. Morley, M. New, L. Perreault, J. Purnell, R. Rebar, F. Singer, D. L. Trence, A. Vinik and D. P. Wilson (eds.), *Endotext* (South Dartmouth (MA)).
- Rehm, J., B. Taylor, S. Mohapatra, H. Irving, D. Baliunas, J. Patra, and M. Roerecke. 2010. 'Alcohol as a risk factor for liver cirrhosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *Drug Alcohol Rev*, 29: 437-45.
- Reid, L. D., P. W. Marinelli, S. M. Bennett, L. T. Fiscale, S. P. Narciso, C. J. Oparowski, M. L. Reid, B. A. Merrigan, J. Moricone, C. L. Hubbell, and C. Gianoulakis. 2002. 'One injection of estradiol valerate induces dramatic changes in rats' intake of alcoholic beverages', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 72: 601-16.

- Reid, M. L., C. L. Hubbell, and L. D. Reid. 2003. 'A pharmacological dose of estradiol can enhance appetites for alcoholic beverages', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 74: 381-8.
- Rhodes, J. S., M. M. Ford, C. H. Yu, L. L. Brown, D. A. Finn, T. Garland, Jr., and J. C. Crabbe. 2007. 'Mouse inbred strain differences in ethanol drinking to intoxication', *Genes Brain Behav*, 6: 1-18.
- Riccardi, P., S. Park, S. Anderson, M. Doop, M. S. Ansari, D. Schmidt, and R. Baldwin. 2011. 'Sex differences in the relationship of regional dopamine release to affect and cognitive function in striatal and extrastriatal regions using positron emission tomography and [(1)(8)F]fallypride', *Synapse*, 65: 99-102.
- Riccardi, P., D. Zald, R. Li, S. Park, M. S. Ansari, B. Dawant, S. Anderson, N. Woodward, D. Schmidt, R. Baldwin, and R. Kessler. 2006. 'Sex differences in amphetamine-induced displacement of [(18)F]fallypride in striatal and extrastriatal regions: a PET study', Am J Psychiatry, 163: 1639-41.
- Robbins, S. J., R. N. Ehrman, A. R. Childress, and C. P. O'Brien. 1999. 'Comparing levels of cocaine cue reactivity in male and female outpatients', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 53: 223-30.
- Roberts, A. J., A. D. Smith, F. Weiss, C. Rivier, and G. F. Koob. 1998. 'Estrous cycle effects on operant responding for ethanol in female rats', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 22: 1564-9.
- Robic, A., K. Feve, I. Louveau, J. Riquet, and A. Prunier. 2016. 'Exploration of steroidogenesisrelated genes in testes, ovaries, adrenals, liver and adipose tissue in pigs', *Anim Sci J*, 87: 1041-7.
- Rodd, Z. A., R. L. Bell, Y. Zhang, J. M. Murphy, A. Goldstein, A. Zaffaroni, T. K. Li, and W. J. McBride. 2005. 'Regional heterogeneity for the intracranial self-administration of ethanol and acetaldehyde within the ventral tegmental area of alcohol-preferring (P) rats: involvement of dopamine and serotonin', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30: 330-8.
- Rodd, Z. A., R. I. Melendez, R. L. Bell, K. A. Kuc, Y. Zhang, J. M. Murphy, and W. J. McBride. 2004. 'Intracranial self-administration of ethanol within the ventral tegmental area of male Wistar rats: evidence for involvement of dopamine neurons', *J Neurosci*, 24: 1050-7.
- Rodd-Henricks, Z. A., D. L. McKinzie, R. S. Crile, J. M. Murphy, and W. J. McBride. 2000. 'Regional heterogeneity for the intracranial self-administration of ethanol within the ventral tegmental area of female Wistar rats', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 149: 217-24.
- Roepke, T. A. 2009. 'Oestrogen modulates hypothalamic control of energy homeostasis through multiple mechanisms', *J Neuroendocrinol*, 21: 141-50.
- Romo, R., and W. Schultz. 1990. 'Dopamine neurons of the monkey midbrain: contingencies of responses to active touch during self-initiated arm movements', *J Neurophysiol*, 63: 592-606.
- Root, D. H., C. A. Mejias-Aponte, S. Zhang, H. L. Wang, A. F. Hoffman, C. R. Lupica, and M. Morales. 2014. 'Single rodent mesohabenular axons release glutamate and GABA', *Nat Neurosci*, 17: 1543-51.
- Roselli, C. E., and J. A. Resko. 2001. 'Cytochrome P450 aromatase (CYP19) in the non-human primate brain: distribution, regulation, and functional significance', *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 79: 247-53.
- Roy, E. J., D. R. Buyer, and V. A. Licari. 1990. 'Estradiol in the striatum: effects on behavior and dopamine receptors but no evidence for membrane steroid receptors', *Brain Res Bull*, 25: 221-7.
- Russo, S. J., S. Jenab, S. J. Fabian, E. D. Festa, L. M. Kemen, and V. Quinones-Jenab. 2003. 'Sex differences in the conditioned rewarding effects of cocaine', *Brain Res*, 970: 214-20.

- Russo, S. J., and E. J. Nestler. 2013. 'The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders', *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 14: 609-25.
- Sacks, J. J., K. R. Gonzales, E. E. Bouchery, L. E. Tomedi, and R. D. Brewer. 2015. '2010 National and State Costs of Excessive Alcohol Consumption', *Am J Prev Med*, 49: e73-e79.
- Samson, H. H., C. W. Hodge, G. A. Tolliver, and M. Haraguchi. 1993. 'Effect of dopamine agonists and antagonists on ethanol-reinforced behavior: the involvement of the nucleus accumbens', *Brain Res Bull*, 30: 133-41.
- Sandberg, D., S. David, and J. Stewart. 1982. 'Effects of estradiol benzoate on the pattern of eating and ethanol consumption', *Physiol Behav*, 29: 61-5.
- Satta, R., B. Certa, D. He, and A. W. Lasek. 2018. 'Estrogen Receptor beta in the Nucleus Accumbens Regulates the Rewarding Properties of Cocaine in Female Mice', *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 21: 382-92.
- Satta, R., E. R. Hilderbrand, and A. W. Lasek. 2018. 'Ovarian Hormones Contribute to High Levels of Binge-Like Drinking by Female Mice', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 42: 286-94.
- Schroeder, J. P., D. H. Overstreet, and C. W. Hodge. 2005. 'The mGluR5 antagonist MPEP decreases operant ethanol self-administration during maintenance and after repeated alcohol deprivations in alcohol-preferring (P) rats', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 179: 262-70.
- Schroeder, J. P., M. Spanos, J. R. Stevenson, J. Besheer, M. Salling, and C. W. Hodge. 2008. 'Cueinduced reinstatement of alcohol-seeking behavior is associated with increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation in specific limbic brain regions: blockade by the mGluR5 antagonist MPEP', *Neuropharmacology*, 55: 546-54.
- Schultz, K. N., S. A. von Esenwein, M. Hu, A. L. Bennett, R. T. Kennedy, S. Musatov, C. D. Toran-Allerand, M. G. Kaplitt, L. J. Young, and J. B. Becker. 2009. 'Viral vector-mediated overexpression of estrogen receptor-alpha in striatum enhances the estradiol-induced motor activity in female rats and estradiol-modulated GABA release', *J Neurosci*, 29: 1897-903.
- Schultz, W. 2002. 'Getting formal with dopamine and reward', Neuron, 36: 241-63.
- Schultz, W., P. Apicella, and T. Ljungberg. 1993. 'Responses of monkey dopamine neurons to reward and conditioned stimuli during successive steps of learning a delayed response task', *J Neurosci*, 13: 900-13.
- Schwindt, P. C., W. J. Spain, and W. E. Crill. 1992. 'Effects of intracellular calcium chelation on voltage-dependent and calcium-dependent currents in cat neocortical neurons', *Neuroscience*, 47: 571-8.
- Segarra, A. C., J. L. Agosto-Rivera, M. Febo, N. Lugo-Escobar, R. Menendez-Delmestre, A. Puig-Ramos, and Y. M. Torres-Diaz. 2010. 'Estradiol: a key biological substrate mediating the response to cocaine in female rats', *Horm Behav*, 58: 33-43.
- Segarra, A. C., Y. M. Torres-Diaz, R. D. Silva, A. Puig-Ramos, R. Menendez-Delmestre, J. G. Rivera-Bermudez, W. Amadeo, and J. L. Agosto-Rivera. 2014. 'Estrogen receptors mediate estradiol's effect on sensitization and CPP to cocaine in female rats: role of contextual cues', *Horm Behav*, 65: 77-87.
- Senogles, S. E. 1994. 'The D2 dopamine receptor isoforms signal through distinct Gi alpha proteins to inhibit adenylyl cyclase. A study with site-directed mutant Gi alpha proteins', *J Biol Chem*, 269: 23120-7.
- Sepehr, E., M. Lebl-Rinnova, M. K. Mann, S. L. Pisani, M. I. Churchwell, D. L. Korol, J. A. Katzenellenbogen, and D. R. Doerge. 2012. 'Pharmacokinetics of the estrogen receptor

subtype-selective ligands, PPT and DPN: quantification using UPLC-ES/MS/MS', J Pharm Biomed Anal, 71: 119-26.

- Seredynski, A. L., J. Balthazart, G. F. Ball, and C. A. Cornil. 2015. 'Estrogen Receptor beta Activation Rapidly Modulates Male Sexual Motivation through the Transactivation of Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor 1a', *J Neurosci*, 35: 13110-23.
- Serova, L., M. Rivkin, A. Nakashima, and E. L. Sabban. 2002. 'Estradiol stimulates gene expression of norepinephrine biosynthetic enzymes in rat locus coeruleus', *Neuroendocrinology*, 75: 193-200.
- Shaham, Y., and J. Stewart. 1996. 'Effects of opioid and dopamine receptor antagonists on relapse induced by stress and re-exposure to heroin in rats', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 125: 385-91.
- Shen, R. Y. 2003. 'Ethanol withdrawal reduces the number of spontaneously active ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons in conscious animals', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 307: 566-72.
- Shughrue, P. J., M. V. Lane, and I. Merchenthaler. 1997. 'Comparative distribution of estrogen receptor-alpha and -beta mRNA in the rat central nervous system', *J Comp Neurol*, 388: 507-25.
- Silverman, J. L., and J. I. Koenig. 2007. 'Evidence for the involvement of ERbeta and RGS9-2 in 17-beta estradiol enhancement of amphetamine-induced place preference behavior', *Horm Behav*, 52: 146-55.
- Simpson, E. R., Y. Zhao, V. R. Agarwal, M. D. Michael, S. E. Bulun, M. M. Hinshelwood, S. Graham-Lorence, T. Sun, C. R. Fisher, K. Qin, and C. R. Mendelson. 1997. 'Aromatase expression in health and disease', *Recent Prog Horm Res*, 52: 185-213; discussion 13-4.
- Song, Z., H. Yang, E. M. Peckham, and J. B. Becker. 2019. 'Estradiol-Induced Potentiation of Dopamine Release in Dorsal Striatum Following Amphetamine Administration Requires Estradiol Receptors and mGlu5', *eNeuro*, 6.
- Staley, J. K., S. Krishnan-Sarin, S. Zoghbi, G. Tamagnan, M. Fujita, J. P. Seibyl, P. K. Maciejewski, S. O'Malley, and R. B. Innis. 2001. 'Sex differences in [123I]beta-CIT SPECT measures of dopamine and serotonin transporter availability in healthy smokers and nonsmokers', *Synapse*, 41: 275-84.
- Stauffer, S. R., C. J. Coletta, R. Tedesco, G. Nishiguchi, K. Carlson, J. Sun, B. S. Katzenellenbogen, and J. A. Katzenellenbogen. 2000. 'Pyrazole ligands: structure-affinity/activity relationships and estrogen receptor-alpha-selective agonists', *J Med Chem*, 43: 4934-47.
- Stobbs, S. H., A. J. Ohran, M. B. Lassen, D. W. Allison, J. E. Brown, and S. C. Steffensen. 2004. 'Ethanol suppression of ventral tegmental area GABA neuron electrical transmission involves N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 311: 282-9.
- Sutker, P. B., K. C. Goist, Jr., A. N. Allain, and F. Bugg. 1987. 'Acute alcohol intoxication: sex comparisons on pharmacokinetic and mood measures', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 11: 507-12.
- Svikis, D. S., D. R. Miles, N. A. Haug, B. Perry, R. Hoehn-Saric, and D. McLeod. 2006. 'Premenstrual symptomatology, alcohol consumption, and family history of alcoholism in women with premenstrual syndrome', *J Stud Alcohol*, 67: 833-6.
- Swanson, L. W. 1982. 'The projections of the ventral tegmental area and adjacent regions: a combined fluorescent retrograde tracer and immunofluorescence study in the rat', *Brain Res Bull*, 9: 321-53.
- Szabo, G. 2018. 'Women and alcoholic liver disease warning of a silent danger', *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 15: 253-54.
- Tabor, A., D. Moller, H. Hubner, J. Kornhuber, and P. Gmeiner. 2017. 'Visualization of ligandinduced dopamine D2S and D2L receptor internalization by TIRF microscopy', *Sci Rep*, 7: 10894.
- Tacelosky, D. M., D. N. Alexander, M. Morse, A. Hajnal, A. Berg, R. Levenson, and P. S. Grigson. 2015. 'Low expression of D2R and Wntless correlates with high motivation for heroin', *Behav Neurosci*, 129: 744-55.
- Tao, L., and J. H. Ye. 2002. 'Protein kinase C modulation of ethanol inhibition of glycine-activated current in dissociated neurons of rat ventral tegmental area', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 300: 967-75.
- Tate, D. L., and L. Charette. 1991. 'Personality, alcohol consumption, and menstrual distress in young women', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 15: 647-52.
- Theile, J. W., H. Morikawa, R. A. Gonzales, and R. A. Morrisett. 2009. 'Role of 5hydroxytryptamine2C receptors in Ca2+-dependent ethanol potentiation of GABA release onto ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 329: 625-33.
- ———. 2011. 'GABAergic transmission modulates ethanol excitation of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons', *Neuroscience*, 172: 94-103.
- Thomas, P., Y. Pang, E. J. Filardo, and J. Dong. 2005. 'Identity of an estrogen membrane receptor coupled to a G protein in human breast cancer cells', *Endocrinology*, 146: 624-32.
- Thompson, T. L., S. R. Bridges, and W. J. Weirs. 2001. 'Alteration of dopamine transport in the striatum and nucleus accumbens of ovariectomized and estrogen-primed rats following N-(p-isothiocyanatophenethyl) spiperone (NIPS) treatment', *Brain Res Bull*, 54: 631-8.
- Thompson, T. L., and R. L. Moss. 1994. 'Estrogen regulation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens: genomic- and nongenomic-mediated effects', *J Neurochem*, 62: 1750-6.
- Titolo, D., C. M. Mayer, S. S. Dhillon, F. Cai, and D. D. Belsham. 2008. 'Estrogen facilitates both phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt and ERK1/2 mitogen-activated protein kinase membrane signaling required for long-term neuropeptide Y transcriptional regulation in clonal, immortalized neurons', *J Neurosci*, 28: 6473-82.
- Tizabi, Y., R. L. Copeland, Jr., V. A. Louis, and R. E. Taylor. 2002. 'Effects of combined systemic alcohol and central nicotine administration into ventral tegmental area on dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 26: 394-9.
- Tobiansky, D. J., R. G. Will, K. D. Lominac, J. M. Turner, T. Hattori, K. Krishnan, J. R. Martz, V. L. Nutsch, and J. M. Dominguez. 2016. 'Estradiol in the Preoptic Area Regulates the Dopaminergic Response to Cocaine in the Nucleus Accumbens', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41: 1897-906.
- Tonn Eisinger, K. R., E. B. Larson, M. I. Boulware, M. J. Thomas, and P. G. Mermelstein. 2018. 'Membrane estrogen receptor signaling impacts the reward circuitry of the female brain to influence motivated behaviors', *Steroids*, 133: 53-59.
- Torres, O. V., E. M. Walker, B. S. Beas, and L. E. O'Dell. 2014. 'Female rats display enhanced rewarding effects of ethanol that are hormone dependent', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 38: 108-15.
- Treloar, A. E., R. E. Boynton, B. G. Behn, and B. W. Brown. 1967. 'Variation of the human menstrual cycle through reproductive life', *Int J Fertil*, 12: 77-126.

- Tremblay, G. B., A. Tremblay, N. G. Copeland, D. J. Gilbert, N. A. Jenkins, F. Labrie, and V. Giguere. 1997. 'Cloning, chromosomal localization, and functional analysis of the murine estrogen receptor beta', *Mol Endocrinol*, 11: 353-65.
- Trifunovic, R. D., and M. S. Brodie. 1996. 'The effects of clomipramine on the excitatory action of ethanol on dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area in vitro', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 276: 34-40.
- Tsai, M. J., and B. W. O'Malley. 1994. 'Molecular mechanisms of action of steroid/thyroid receptor superfamily members', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 63: 451-86.
- Ungless, M. A., X. Gasull, and E. T. Walters. 2002. 'Long-term alteration of S-type potassium current and passive membrane properties in aplysia sensory neurons following axotomy', *J Neurophysiol*, 87: 2408-20.
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. "World drug report." In.
- Van Bockstaele, E. J., and V. M. Pickel. 1995. 'GABA-containing neurons in the ventral tegmental area project to the nucleus accumbens in rat brain', *Brain Res*, 682: 215-21.
- Vandegrift, B. J., C. You, R. Satta, M. S. Brodie, and A. W. Lasek. 2017. 'Estradiol increases the sensitivity of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons to dopamine and ethanol', *PLoS One*, 12: e0187698.
- Vigil, P., J. P. Del Rio, B. Carrera, F. C. ArAnguiz, H. Rioseco, and M. E. Cortes. 2016. 'Influence of sex steroid hormones on the adolescent brain and behavior: An update', *Linacre Q*, 83: 308-29.
- Vivian, J. A., H. L. Green, J. E. Young, L. S. Majerksy, B. W. Thomas, C. A. Shively, J. R. Tobin, M. A. Nader, and K. A. Grant. 2001. 'Induction and maintenance of ethanol selfadministration in cynomolgus monkeys (Macaca fascicularis): long-term characterization of sex and individual differences', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 25: 1087-97.
- Volkow, N. D., J. S. Fowler, A. P. Wolf, D. Schlyer, C. Y. Shiue, R. Alpert, S. L. Dewey, J. Logan,
 B. Bendriem, D. Christman, and et al. 1990. 'Effects of chronic cocaine abuse on postsynaptic dopamine receptors', *Am J Psychiatry*, 147: 719-24.
- Volkow, N. D., G. J. Wang, J. S. Fowler, J. Logan, S. J. Gatley, R. Hitzemann, A. D. Chen, S. L. Dewey, and N. Pappas. 1997. 'Decreased striatal dopaminergic responsiveness in detoxified cocaine-dependent subjects', *Nature*, 386: 830-3.
- Vollman, R. F. 1977. 'The menstrual cycle', Major Probl Obstet Gynecol, 7: 1-193.
- Volman, S. F., S. Lammel, E. B. Margolis, Y. Kim, J. M. Richard, M. F. Roitman, and M. K. Lobo. 2013. 'New insights into the specificity and plasticity of reward and aversion encoding in the mesolimbic system', *J Neurosci*, 33: 17569-76.
- Vrtacnik, P., B. Ostanek, S. Mencej-Bedrac, and J. Marc. 2014. 'The many faces of estrogen signaling', *Biochem Med (Zagreb)*, 24: 329-42.
- Wade, C. B., S. Robinson, R. A. Shapiro, and D. M. Dorsa. 2001. 'Estrogen receptor (ER)alpha and ERbeta exhibit unique pharmacologic properties when coupled to activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway', *Endocrinology*, 142: 2336-42.
- Watson, C. S., R. A. Alyea, K. A. Cunningham, and Y. J. Jeng. 2010. 'Estrogens of multiple classes and their role in mental health disease mechanisms', *Int J Womens Health*, 2: 153-66.
- Watson, C. S., R. A. Alyea, B. E. Hawkins, M. L. Thomas, K. A. Cunningham, and A. A. Jakubas. 2006. 'Estradiol effects on the dopamine transporter - protein levels, subcellular location, and function', *J Mol Signal*, 1: 5.
- Watters, J. J., J. S. Campbell, M. J. Cunningham, E. G. Krebs, and D. M. Dorsa. 1997. 'Rapid membrane effects of steroids in neuroblastoma cells: effects of estrogen on mitogen

activated protein kinase signalling cascade and c-fos immediate early gene transcription', *Endocrinology*, 138: 4030-3.

- Weiss, F., M. T. Lorang, F. E. Bloom, and G. F. Koob. 1993. 'Oral alcohol self-administration stimulates dopamine release in the rat nucleus accumbens: genetic and motivational determinants', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 267: 250-8.
- Weiss, F., L. H. Parsons, G. Schulteis, P. Hyytia, M. T. Lorang, F. E. Bloom, and G. F. Koob. 1996. 'Ethanol self-administration restores withdrawal-associated deficiencies in accumbal dopamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine release in dependent rats', *J Neurosci*, 16: 3474-85.
- Wen, X. J., D. Kanny, W. W. Thompson, C. A. Okoro, M. Town, and L. S. Balluz. 2012. 'Binge drinking intensity and health-related quality of life among US adult binge drinkers', *Prev Chronic Dis*, 9: E86.
- Werkman, T. R., J. C. Glennon, W. J. Wadman, and A. C. McCreary. 2006. 'Dopamine receptor pharmacology: interactions with serotonin receptors and significance for the aetiology and treatment of schizophrenia', *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets*, 5: 3-23.
- Wharton, W., C. E. Gleason, S. R. Olson, C. M. Carlsson, and S. Asthana. 2012. 'Neurobiological Underpinnings of the Estrogen Mood Relationship', *Curr Psychiatry Rev*, 8: 247-56.
- White, A., I. J. Castle, C. M. Chen, M. Shirley, D. Roach, and R. Hingson. 2015. 'Converging Patterns of Alcohol Use and Related Outcomes Among Females and Males in the United States, 2002 to 2012', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 39: 1712-26.
- White, F. J., and R. Y. Wang. 1984. 'A10 dopamine neurons: role of autoreceptors in determining firing rate and sensitivity to dopamine agonists', *Life Sci*, 34: 1161-70.
- White, T. L., A. J. Justice, and H. de Wit. 2002. 'Differential subjective effects of D-amphetamine by gender, hormone levels and menstrual cycle phase', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 73: 729-41.
- Wise, R. A. 1987. 'The role of reward pathways in the development of drug dependence', *Pharmacol Ther*, 35: 227-63.
- Wise, R. A., and G. F. Koob. 2014. 'The development and maintenance of drug addiction', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39: 254-62.
- Wolf, M. E., and R. H. Roth. 1990. 'Autoreceptor regulation of dopamine synthesis', *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 604: 323-43.
- World Health Organization. Management of Substance Abuse Team. "Global status report on alcohol and health." In, volumes. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Wu, T. W., S. Chen, and R. D. Brinton. 2011. 'Membrane estrogen receptors mediate calcium signaling and MAP kinase activation in individual hippocampal neurons', *Brain Res*, 1379: 34-43.
- Wu, Z. B., C. Z. Li, X. Y. Zong, Z. P. Su, Y. J. Zeng, and Y. Z. Zhang. 2009. 'Correlation of alternative splicing of the D2 dopamine receptor mRNA and estrogen receptor mRNA in the prolactinomas and gonadotrope tumors', *J Neurooncol*, 94: 135-9.
- Xiao, C., X. M. Shao, M. F. Olive, W. C. Griffin, 3rd, K. Y. Li, K. Krnjevic, C. Zhou, and J. H. Ye. 2009. 'Ethanol facilitates glutamatergic transmission to dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34: 307-18.
- Xiao, C., J. Zhang, K. Krnjevic, and J. H. Ye. 2007. 'Effects of ethanol on midbrain neurons: role of opioid receptors', *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 31: 1106-13.
- Xiao, L., and J. B. Becker. 1994. 'Quantitative microdialysis determination of extracellular striatal dopamine concentration in male and female rats: effects of estrous cycle and gonadectomy', *Neurosci Lett*, 180: 155-8.

—. 1998. 'Effects of estrogen agonists on amphetamine-stimulated striatal dopamine release', *Synapse*, 29: 379-91.

- Xiao, L., L. R. Jackson, and J. B. Becker. 2003. 'The effect of estradiol in the striatum is blocked by ICI 182,780 but not tamoxifen: pharmacological and behavioral evidence', *Neuroendocrinology*, 77: 239-45.
- Yamaguchi, T., W. Sheen, and M. Morales. 2007. 'Glutamatergic neurons are present in the rat ventral tegmental area', *Eur J Neurosci*, 25: 106-18.
- Yamaguchi, T., H. L. Wang, X. Li, T. H. Ng, and M. Morales. 2011. 'Mesocorticolimbic glutamatergic pathway', *J Neurosci*, 31: 8476-90.
- Ye, J. H., L. Tao, J. Ren, R. Schaefer, K. Krnjevic, P. L. Liu, D. A. Schiller, and J. J. McArdle. 2001. 'Ethanol potentiation of glycine-induced responses in dissociated neurons of rat ventral tegmental area', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 296: 77-83.
- Yoest, K. E., J. A. Cummings, and J. B. Becker. 2014. 'Estradiol, dopamine and motivation', *Cent Nerv Syst Agents Med Chem*, 14: 83-9.
 - ——. 2018. 'Oestradiol influences on dopamine release from the nucleus accumbens shell: sex differences and the role of selective oestradiol receptor subtypes', *Br J Pharmacol*.
- You, C., A. Savarese, B. J. Vandegrift, D. He, S. C. Pandey, A. W. Lasek, and M. S. Brodie. 2019. 'Ethanol acts on KCNK13 potassium channels in the ventral tegmental area to increase firing rate and modulate binge-like drinking', *Neuropharmacology*, 144: 29-36.
- Yu, F., P. Zhong, X. Liu, D. Sun, H. Q. Gao, and Q. S. Liu. 2013. 'Metabotropic glutamate receptor I (mGluR1) antagonism impairs cocaine-induced conditioned place preference via inhibition of protein synthesis', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38: 1308-21.
- Zagni, E., L. Simoni, and D. Colombo. 2016. 'Sex and Gender Differences in Central Nervous System-Related Disorders', *Neurosci J*, 2016: 2827090.
- Zakharova, E., D. Wade, and S. Izenwasser. 2009. 'Sensitivity to cocaine conditioned reward depends on sex and age', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 92: 131-4.
- Zhang, D., S. Yang, C. Yang, G. Jin, and X. Zhen. 2008. 'Estrogen regulates responses of dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area to cocaine', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 199: 625-35.
- Zhang, H., and D. Sulzer. 2012. 'Regulation of striatal dopamine release by presynaptic auto- and heteroreceptors', *Basal Ganglia*, 2: 5-13.
- Zhang, S., J. Qi, X. Li, H. L. Wang, J. P. Britt, A. F. Hoffman, A. Bonci, C. R. Lupica, and M. Morales. 2015. 'Dopaminergic and glutamatergic microdomains in a subset of rodent mesoaccumbens axons', *Nat Neurosci*, 18: 386-92.
- Zhang, T. A., A. N. Placzek, and J. A. Dani. 2010. 'In vitro identification and electrophysiological characterization of dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area', *Neuropharmacology*, 59: 431-6.
- Zhao, L., S. Chen, J. Ming Wang, and R. D. Brinton. 2005. '17beta-estradiol induces Ca2+ influx, dendritic and nuclear Ca2+ rise and subsequent cyclic AMP response element-binding protein activation in hippocampal neurons: a potential initiation mechanism for estrogen neurotrophism', *Neuroscience*, 132: 299-311.
- Zhou, W., K. A. Cunningham, and M. L. Thomas. 2002. 'Estrogen regulation of gene expression in the brain: a possible mechanism altering the response to psychostimulants in female rats', *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 100: 75-83.

APPENDICES



Office of Animal Care and Institutional Biosafety Committee (OACIB) (M/C 672) Office of the Vice Chancellor for Research 206 Administrative Office Building 1737 West Polk Street Chicago, Illinois 60612

5/16/2018

Amy Lasek Psychiatry M/C 912

Dear Dr. Lasek:

The protocol indicated below was reviewed in accordance with the Animal Care Policies and Procedures of the University of Illinois at Chicago and renewed on 5/16/2018.

Title of Application:	Hormonal Regulation of Ethanol Binge Drinking and Reward
ACC NO:	17-081
Original Protocol Approval:	5/26/2017 (3 year approval with annual continuation required).
Current Approval Period:	5/16/2018 to 5/16/2019

Funding: Portions of this protocol are supported by the funding sources indicated in the table below.

Number of funding sources: 3					
Funding Agency	Funding Title			Portion of Funding Matched	
NIH	Involvement of brain estrogen receptors in alcohol			All matched	
	consumption and reward (Inst # 00339614)				
Funding Number	Current Status	UIC PAF NO.	Performance Site	Funding PI	
R01 AA026300	Pending		UIC	Amy Lasek	
Funding Agency	Funding Title			Portion of Funding Matched	
NIH	The role of estrogen receptors in the ventral tegmental area			All matched	
Funding Number	Current Status	UIC PAF NO.	Performance Site	Funding PI	
F31 AA026168	Pending		UIC	Bertha Vandegrift	
Funding Agency	Funding Title			Portion of Funding Matched	
NIH	The Role of Amygdalar Estrogen Receptors in Ethanol Reward			All matched	
	and Binge Drinking (Inst # 00016554)				
Funding Number	Current Status	UIC PAF NO.	Performance Site	Funding PI	
F31 AA024344 (A1 v.)	Funded		UIC	Elisa Hilderbrand	

This institution has Animal Welfare Assurance Number A3460.01 on file with the Office of Laboratory Animal Welfare, NIH. This letter may only be provided as proof of IACUC approval for those specific funding sources listed above in which all portions of the grant are matched to this ACC protocol.

Thank you for complying with the Animal Care Policies and Procedures of the UIC.

Sincerely,

Sall

Timothy J. Koh, PhD Chair, Animal Care Committee TJK/kg cc: BRL, ACC File, Elisa Hilderbrand, Bertha Vandegrift

Phone (312) 996-1972 • Fax (312) 996-9088

5/8/2019

Licenses and Copyright

The following policy applies to all PLOS journals, unless otherwise noted.

What Can Others Do with My Original Article Content?

PLOS applies the <u>Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license</u> to articles and other works we publish. If you submit your paper for publication by PLOS, you agree to have the CC BY license applied to your work. Under this Open Access license, you as the author agree that anyone can reuse your article in whole or part for any purpose, for free, even for commercial purposes. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited. This facilitates freedom in re-use and also ensures that PLOS content can be mined without barriers for the needs of research.

May I Use Content Owned by Someone Else in My Article?

If you have written permission to do so, yes. If your manuscript contains content such as photos, images, figures, tables, audio files, videos, etc., that you or your co-authors do not own, we will require you to provide us with proof that the owner of that content (a) has given you written permission to use it, and (b) has approved of the CC BY license being applied to their content. We provide a form you can use to ask for and obtain permission from the owner. <u>Download the form (PDF)</u>.

👔 If you do not have owner permission, we will ask you to remove that content and/or replace it with other content that you own or have such permission to use.

Don't assume that you can use any content you find on the internet, or that the content is fair game just because it isn't clear who the owner is or what license applies. It's up to you to ascertain what rights you have—if any—to use that content.

May I Use Article Content I Previously Published in Another Journal?

Many authors assume that if they previously published a paper through another publisher, they own the rights to that content and they can freely use that content in their PLOS paper, but that's not necessarily the case – it depends on the license that covers the other paper. Some publishers allow free and unrestricted re-use of article content they own, such as under the CC BY license. Other publishers use licenses that allow re-use only if the same license is applied by the person or publisher re-using the content.

If the paper was published under a CC BY license or another license that allows free and unrestricted use, you may use the content in your PLOS paper provided that you give proper attribution, as explained above.

If the content was published under a more restrictive license, you must ascertain what rights you have under that license. At a minimum, review the license to make sure you can use the content. Contact that publisher if you have any questions about the license terms – PLOS staff cannot give you legal advice about your rights to use third-party content. If the license does not permit you to use the content in a paper that will be covered by an unrestricted license, you must obtain written permission from the publisher to use the content in your PLOS paper. Please do not include any content in your PLOS paper which you do not have rights to use, and always <u>give groper</u> attribution.

What Are Acceptable Licenses for Data Repositories?

If any relevant accompanying data is submitted to repositories with stated licensing policies, the policies should not be more restrictive than CC BY.

Removal of Content Used Without Clear Rights

PLOS reserves the right to remove any photos, captures, images, figures, tables, illustrations, audio and video files, and the like, from any paper, whether before or after publication, if we have reason to believe that the content was included in your paper without permission from the owner of the content.

How Does One Give Proper Attribution for Use of Content?

When citing a PLOS research article, use the "Vancouver style", as outlined in our Submission Guidelines. For example:

Kallanbach LS et al. (2007) Huntingtin Interacting Proteins Are Genetic Modifiers of Neurodegeneration. PLOS Genet3(5): e82. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0030082.

When citing non-article content from a PLOS website (e.g., blog content), provide a link to the content, and cite the title and author(s) of that content.

For examples of proper attribution to other types of content, see websites such as Open.Michigan.

Give Feedback

https://journals.plos.org/plosone/s/licenses-and-copyright

5/8/2019





This is a human-readable summary of (and not a substitute for) the license.

You are free to:

Share - copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format

Adapt - remix, transform, and build upon the material

for any purpose, even commercially.

The licensor cannot revoke these freedoms as long as you follow the license terms.

Under the following terms:

Attribution — You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.

No additional restrictions — You may not apply legal terms or technological measures that legally restrict others from doing anything the license permits.

Notices:

You do not have to comply with the license for elements of the material in the public domain or where your use is permitted by an applicable exception or limitation.

No warranties are given. The license may not give you all of the permissions necessary for your intended use. For example, other rights such as publicity, privacy, or moral rights may limit how you use the material.

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

VITA

NAME:	Bertha Jane Vandegrift
EDUCATION:	B.S., Molecular Biochemistry and Biophysics, Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, Illinois, 2011
	Ph.D. Physiology & Biophysics, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, Illinois, 2019
HONORS:	Dean's List, Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, Illinois, 2011
	Kate Barany Award, University of Illinois at Chicago, Illinois, 2016
	Student Presenter Award, Graduate College, University of Illinois at Chicago, 2016
	Mark R. Lambrecht Award for Scholarship and Commitment, University of Illinois at Chicaog, Illinois, 2017
	Pre-doctoral Education for Clinical & Translational Scientists Supplemental Program Award, Center for Clinical and Translational Science at University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, Illinois, 2017
PUBLICATIONS:	Nimitvilai, S., You, C., Arora D.S., McElvain M.A., Vandegrift, B.J. , Brodie, M.S., Woodward, J.J., Differential effects of toluene and ethanol on dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area. <i>Frontiers in</i> <i>Neuroscience</i> ;10: 434, Sep 22, 2016. PMID: 27713687
	Vandegrift, B.J. , You, C., Satta, R. Brodie, M.S., Lasek, A.W., Estradiol increases the sensitivity of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons to dopamine and ethanol, <i>PLoS One</i> : 2017 Nov 6;12(11):e0187698. PMID: 29107956.
	You, C., Vandegrift, B.J ., and Brodie, M.S., Ethanol actions on the ventral tegmental area: Novel potential targets on reward pathway neurons, <i>Psychopharmacology</i> , 235(6): 1711-1726, 2018. PMID: 29549390.
	You, C., Vandegrift, B.J. , Zhang, H., Lasek, A.W., Pandey, S.C. and Brodie, M.S., Histone deacetylase inhibitor suberanilohydroxamic acid (SAHA) treatment reverses hyposensitivity to γ -aminobutyric acid in the ventral tegmental area during ethanol withdrawal, <i>Alcoholism: Clinical</i> <i>and Experimental Research</i> , 42(11):2160-2171, 2018. PMID: 30103280.

	You, C., Savarese, A., Vandegrift, B.J., He, D., Pandey, S.C., Lasek, A.W., Brodie, M.S., Ethanol acts on KCNK13 potassium channels in the ventral tegmental area to increase firing rate and modulate binge–like drinking, <i>Neuropharmacology</i> 144: 29-36, 2018. PMID: 30332606
SELECTED ABSTRACTS:	Vandegrift, B.J. , You, C., Satta,R., Brodie, M.S., Lasek, A.W., High estrogen states increase ethanol and dopamine effects in ventral tegmental area neurons from free-cycling and ovariectomized female mice, <i>Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 40 (S1)</i> :17A, 2016.
	Vandegrift, B.J. , You, C., Satta, R., Brodie, M.S., Lasek, A.W., Estrogen receptors in the ventral tegmental area affect neuronal responses to ethanol and dopamine. <i>Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 41</i> (<i>S1</i>):abstract 32, 2017.
	B.J. Vandegrift , M.S. Brodie, A.W. Lasek, Activation of estrogen receptor alpha enhances ethanol excitation of ventral tegmental area neurons in female mice, <i>Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 42 (S1)</i> :abstract 531, 2018.
	BJ Vandegrift , MS Brodie & AW Lasek, Activation of estrogen receptor alpha enhances ethanol excitation of ventral tegmental area neurons in female mice, , Program No. 199.30, 2018 Neuroscience Meeting Planner, Washington, D.C., Society for Neuroscience, 2018. Online. Selected as a <i>Hot Topic</i> for the conference
TEACHING:	Physiology & Biophysics, University of Illinois at Chicago College, Training of high school student volunteer, 2016
	Graduate Education in Medical Sciences, University of Illinois at Chicago College of Medicine, Teaching Assistant for Integrative Biology, 2016
	Urban Health Summer Prematriculation Program (SPP), University of Illinois at Chicago Medical School, Chicago, Illinois; Muscle Physiology & Neurophysiology, 2017-2019
	Graduate Education in Medical Sciences, University of Illinois at Chicago College of Medicine, Teaching Assistant for Physiology, 2017
	Graduate Education in Medical Sciences, University of Illinois at Chicago College of Medicine, Teaching Assistant for Cell Biology, 2017

INVITED COLLOQUIA:

	Seminar at the Department of Psychiatry, Neuroscience Seminar Series, University of Illinois at Chicago, Seminar title: "High estrogen states increase ethanol and dopamine effects in ventral tegmental area neurons from freely-cycling and ovariectomized female mice". Chicago, IL, 7/11/2016
	Seminar at the Department of Physiology & Biophysics, University of Illinois at Chicago, Seminar title: "Estrogen Receptor Function in the Ventral Tegmental Area". Chicago, IL, 11/4/2016
	Seminar at the Department of Psychiatry, Neuroscience Seminar Series, University of Illinois at Chicago, Seminar title: "Estradiol increases the sensitivity of the ventral tegmental area to dopamine and ethanol". Chicago, IL, 9 /11/2017
	Seminar at the Department of Psychiatry, Neuroscience Seminar Series, University of Illinois at Chicago, Seminar title: "Estradiol enhances ethanol sensitivity of VTA DA neurons through a mGLUR1 dependent mechanism in female mice". Chicago, IL, 12/10/2018
PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIP:	Society for Neuroscience 2015, 2018
	Research Society for Alcoholism 2017